From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Banning cougar trapping is a public safety concern
Date: Wednesday, September 11, 2019 12:14:47 PM

From: kaThavn e [

Sent: Wednesday, September 4, 2019 6:21 PM
To: Lopez, Tirzio, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Banning cougar trapping is a public safety concern

Banning this is a public safety concern

Please consider my stance on trapping cougar, they have no natural predators other than humans should there
numbers remain unchecked you will begin to see an unbalance which increases the risk of cougar attacks on
humans this has been scientifically proven in places like Culp Creek Oregan.

CULP CREEK, Ore. (AP) -- Cougar numbers continue to increase since voters approved a 1994 measure that
banned the use of dogs to hunt the big cats, and their encroaching population is creating problems.
Washington voters approved the same ban last year and state Department of Fish and Wildlife officials fear the
same overpopulation problem may occur in this state. But because Oregon's law was passed two years earlier,
the population changes there have been easier to measure.

The number of cougars taken by hunters has fallen from a high of 187 in 1992 to 47 in 1996, according to the
Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife.

Pete Janelli, 80, who farms 150 acres near this town east of Cottage Grove, says he lost four goats to cougars last
year, and he lost his quarterhorse in January.

"She was down, just about dead when we found her," Janelli said. "We had to shoot her because she was in such
misery."

The federal Animal Damage Control officer, Jack Spencer, examined the dead mare and confirmed it had been
attacked by a cougar. He wrote in his report that, based on the size of the cougar's tracks, it is one of the largest
cats he's encountered.

Since then, Janelli has had hunters and dogs on his property, which is allowed after livestock damage. But they
had no success.

He believes farmers ought to be able to call in the hounds when they spot a cougar, and not have to wait until they
lose livestock.

"I'm not saying go out and butcher them all, you know," he said. "It's their country, you really can't blame them. But
we've got to get some control on them."

In Lane County, the number of people calling with damage complaints or alleged cougar sightings has risen from
perhaps four a year in the 1980s to an average of 115 per year between 1994 and 1996, said Bill Castillo, a district
wildlife biologist.

"We get calls every week, sometimes more than one a day," Castillo said.

People opposed to hunting cougars say statistics on cougar sightings are seldom verified and claim some cases
may be manufactured by hunting organizations.
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"We think the numbers and the paperwork are being shuffled in a way that makes it look much worse than it is,"
said Brooks Fahy, executive director of the Predator Defense Institute in Eugene.

"We don't think much has changed. Cougars don't reproduce that fast."

No one has ever been killed by a cougar in Oregon and Castillo said he can verify only one attack on a human.
But the Fish and Wildlife Department office in Springfield has received calls of cougars lying in people's driveways
in the middle of the day, climbing on decks and peering into windows.

"It's behavior we never heard of in the past,” Castillo said.

Castillo believes the population increase is such that some parts of the state have reached the animal's "carrying
capacity." With territorial adult cougars occupying forested habitat, younger cats have been forced to the
Willamette Valley floor.

"Now we have cougars and people trying to live in the same area, and that has created lots of conflict," Castillo
said. "These cats are having kittens, and those kittens are growing up with the sights, sounds and smells of
humans."

Please consider my opposition to the ban on cougar trapping. We need to keep a balance. Those who forget the
past are doomed to repeat it.

Banning this is a public safety concern.

Cougars have attacked over 125 people in North America and there numbers are on the rise due to hunting &
trapping restrictions. Cougars have killed over 2 dozen people in the last century. Banning trapping will result in
greater numbers of cougars increasing the risk of predation on humans and you will have blood on your hands.
Wild animals do not discriminate by banning your putting all of us at greater risk of attack simply by increasing
their numbers. Statistics show overpopulation of cougars has resulted in them moving closer to big cities such as
downtown Chicago for instance, when there are too many no one will be safe if the public doesn't have a right to
defend themselves because people like you protected the wild animal and not them. Tell that to the 8 year old
Colorado boy attacked and bit on the head just a few weeks ago, by banning you are telling all the people that
have been attacked you care more about the animal than a human life. Think carefully a trapper could save your
life.
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Bear and Cougar meeting.
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 7:19:47 AM

Please see comments below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Monday, July 29, 2019 7:54 AM

To: Jameson Peschel

Subject: Re: [EXT] Bear and Cougar meeting.

Mr. Peschel:

Thank you for your input. Hearing from all constituents is exactly why we "open" the rules for
public comment. Your preference to keep the bear and cougar rules unchanged and in
particular to retain (without further restriction) the use of dogs is duly noted. (Of note, we
used to own a blue tick, so | have a special appreciation for hounds.)

| hope you continue to enjoy your hunting and trapping experiences in New Mexico.

V/R,
David Soules

From: Jameson pesche

Sent: Monday, July 29, 2019 7:07 AM

To: Joanna.Prokop@state.nm.us; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail,
DGF; Lopez, Tirzio, DGF; Soules, David, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Bear and Cougar meeting.

| am a nonresident hunter and cannot attend the meeting on bear and cougar rule changes. |
hunt NM 6-8 times a year. | am opposed to any changes to bear and cougar hunting and
trapping. | am especially opposed to any changes that would eliminate or restrict the use

of dogs. Thank you for your time.

Jameson Peschel
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Bear and Cougar meeting.
Date: Wednesday, August 07, 2019 1:42:07 PM

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

Subject: Fw: [EXT] Bear comments from Sierra Club, Animal Protection of NM, WildEarth Guardians
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 6:04:23 AM

Attachments: Bear rules comment letter SC WEG APNM final.docx

From: Mary Katherine Ray_

Sent: Monday, September 9, 2019 3:38 PM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Bear comments from Sierra Club, Animal Protection of NM, WildEarth Guardians

Hello Commissioner Bates,

Please accept these comments about Black Bear management from the Rio Grande Chapter
Sierra Club, Animal Protection of NM and WildEarth Guardians. On their behalf, | would love to
have a conversation about the bear situation after you've had a chance to look these over. |
would not be surprised if your reading assignments are getting backlogged, but if you'd like to
set a time to speak on the phone, that would be wonderful and appreciated.

Sincerely,
Mary Katherine Ray
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Re: NM Game and Fish Bear rule review

September 9, 2019

Dear Commissioners and New Mexico Department of Game and Fish staff,

Please consider these comments about New Mexico Bear Management submitted on behalf of the Rio Grande Chapter of the Sierra Club, WildEarth Guardians, Animal Protection of New Mexico and our combined memberships of 19,800. The Black bear is an iconic species, the New Mexico state mammal and is featured in the logo of the NM Department of Game and Fish. The Black bear reproduces very slowly and populations are difficult to count and to monitor. The word "cryptic" is often used to describe the difficulty of gathering data on their populations. Hunting black bears is largely not done for sustenance, nor for science-based wildlife management purposes. It is trophy hunting and as such really should not be part of New Mexico's wildlife policy at all. Nevertheless, Because of uncertainty about how the bear population is trending in NM after recent years of high take especially of females, we are urging that the quotas be lowered and female black bears be better protected.

Background on how NM determines the number of bears in our state 

1. Figuring out bear density: 

A.  To calculate bear density in some NM Bear Management Zones, NMG&F relies in part on an 8-year study commenced in 1992. The results authored by Costello et al. were published in 2001.[footnoteRef:1] It comprised 2 study areas, one in Northern NM east of Eagle's Nest of 310 km2 and the other in Southern NM south of Reserve consisting of 423 km,2 both in what was considered prime bear habitat. [1:  http://www.wildlife.state.nm.us/download/hunting/species/bear/publications/New-Mexico-Black-Bear-Study-Costello-et-al-2001%20.pdf] 


                             [image: ]

During the study, bears were captured, fitted with radio transmitters, and reproductive data were obtained from den investigations. The study found that the average age for a female to produce her first litter is 5.7 years old.  Often, the first litter is only one cub but in subsequent litters it is usually two though it can be up to three. A female of reproductive age will only breed at most every other year. Failure of mast production, acorns, juniper and other berries but especially acorns, in the fall was found to be highly associated with reproductive failure even if the 2-year interval was up. 

Acorn and other mast failure can occur because of drought or late frost. We note that both of these are more likely more often as the climate warms and weather becomes more erratic. In fact, the Costello study beginning in 1992 occurred during modestly wet years. Years subsequent to the decade of the 90's during which the Costello study was conducted have been drier as the graph below shows which examined precipitation in the Southwest up to 2015.[footnoteRef:2]  This will unarguably have had an effect on mast production and thus bear reproduction and population numbers since the study. Bear food availability and the bear population will not be static through time and will be negatively impacted by the drier conditions brought on by climate change. [2:  https://www.epa.gov/climate-indicators/southwest#] 


 (
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The Costello study also attempted to estimate bear density but did not have the data for the traditional way this is done by capture and recapture. A subsequent study in New Mexico by Gould, et al. described some of the potential sources of error in the method used in the Costello study including the lack of a statistically based sample size which precluded the calculation of confidence levels, concluding that, " While Costello et al. (2001) was a progressive and highly informative study on New Mexico black bears, the capabilities of the technology at that time limited their ability to estimate abundance and density."[footnoteRef:3] [3:  http://www.wildlife.state.nm.us/download/hunting/species/bear/publications/Estimating-Black-Bear-Density-in-New-Mexico-Gould-etal-2016.pdf page 5] 


[bookmark: _GoBack]Nevertheless, the density estimates from this 2001 study of a combined area of only 733 km2 are what NMG&F uses for the entirety of Bear Management Zone 10 (where the southern study area was located), partially for Zone 3, and for Zones 1 and 2 though no density study exists at all for these zones.  The Density estimate of Zone 9 was extrapolated by averaging the Costello density results between the northern and southern study areas assuming that the density of zone 9 would lie in between the two. No study results exist for this zone either. Taking an average value for bear density in this zone is pure speculation. (See Appendix 1 for the locations of Bear Management Zones).

B.  The 2016 Gould, et al project provides for more recent and statistically significant bear density measurements using the snagging of bear hair samples at spatial intervals which were then analyzed to determine individual bear identities. This study sampled 7 areas as shown in this map lifted from the study as figure 1:[footnoteRef:4] [4:  http://www.wildlife.state.nm.us/download/hunting/species/bear/publications/Estimating-Black-Bear-Density-in-New-Mexico-Gould-etal-2016.pdf page 25] 
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NM Game and Fish assigns the results of this study to zones 4, 5, 7, 8, 11, 12, 13 and 14. Note that zone 7 was not part of this density study but the results of that study are applied to it. It is not clear how the density value for zone 6 is derived but worth noting that NMG&F does assign this zone the lowest bear density in the state.

To summarize, the density estimates for zones 1,2, 9, 10 and part of 3 (roughly half of the bear habitat area in the state) come from the findings of the nearly 20-year-old 2001 Costello study which was not designed to calculate bear density. (please refer back to the map of this study to see how small the two study areas were). The density estimates for zones 4, 5, 7, 8, 11, 12, 13 and 14 come from the 2016 Gould study. It is not clear from where the value for zone 6 comes.

Additionally, the Gould study results for density were reported as a range of values where statistically, the actual density has a 95% probability of lying. NMG&F has chosen to assign the mean density value in this 95% confidence range to each bear zone to which it applies the Gould, et al study results. Using the minimum would be just as valid. Using the mean could introduce a bias toward a higher density than is present. 

Importantly, density is not a measure of how the bear population is trending. It is a snapshot of a moment in time. Gould, et al specifically notes that, "unless populations are extremely stable, we would expect density of a population to vary across space and with time."[footnoteRef:5]  [5:  http://www.wildlife.state.nm.us/download/hunting/species/bear/publications/Estimating-Black-Bear-Density-in-New-Mexico-Gould-etal-2016.pdf page 12] 


2. Calculating the area of habitat that would have these densities of bears.  

The 2001 Costello study used habitat modeling in conjunction with information gathered from 316 radio-collared bears across its 2 study areas along with mast production potential (production of acorns and berries) by habitat type, to predict primary, secondary, and edge bear habitat classifications across New Mexico. It found that 42,250 km2 qualified as primary bear habitat. From this, it calculated that the statewide bear population was approximately 5200-6000 bears. 

In 2015, different mapping methodology was used to create a new map of primary bear habitat. This method tapped into the LANDIFIRE habitat models produced by a collaboration of the Forest Service and BLM. The LANDFIRE database was generated to better predict vegetation and fuels over the wide landscape in response to the increasing frequency and severity of wildfire.[footnoteRef:6]   The land area of primary bear habitat was extrapolated from the LANDFIRE data based on canopy closure. A new habitat map was generated.[footnoteRef:7] It found that 60,298 km2 qualified as primary bear habitat- an increase of over 40% over the Costello study (Figure 2. below). [6:  https://www.landfire.gov/about.php]  [7:  http://www.wildlife.state.nm.us/download/hunting/species/bear/publications/New-Mexico-Bear-Habitat-Model.pdf] 


In comparing the two maps, the increase in the amount of primary bear habitat of the latter version appears to have come around the perimeter edges of that determined by Costello, et al and also from isolated and fragmented areas not previously considered primary bear habitat. It is a model. Whether these new areas actually have bears at the densities found in previous mapping has not been tested. Yet as a result of this mapping, the estimate of the number of bears in NM went up significantly from previous estimates. 

This new methodology for mapping of primary bear habitat in New Mexico and the resulting habitat map do not appear to have been peer reviewed or published in the scientific literature. 
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As an example of uncertainty, the new map created in 2015 used LANDFIRE data for the years 2008, 2010 and 2012. New Mexico had some extremely large wildfires just prior to and after the latest dataset in 2012, including the Las Conchas fire of 2011, the Little Bear Fire of 2012, The Whitewater-Baldy fire of 2012 and the Silver Fire of 2013. While low intensity wildfire is beneficial for wildlife in general including bears, a significant proportion of these fires burned at such high intensity that the forest may never return. Yet it appears that the areas where these large fires occurred are still considered primary bear habitat. The photo below shows just such an area of high intensity burn from the Las Conchas fire in 2017, 6 years after the blaze. It no longer appears to have the characteristics of primary bear habitat but looks to be still counted that way on the 2015 map.
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3. Determining how many bears can be killed, the harvest limits:

A.  Assuming NMG&F correctly estimates bear density over the correct area of bear habitat, an assumption that is based on modeling and extrapolation and guesswork, it then works out the number of bears that may be killed by hunters so as not to harm the estimated bear population. For this figure, it relies on a study by Miller (1990)[footnoteRef:8] that uses more modeling to estimate sustainable harvest levels. This study found that maximal sustainable annual hunting mortality for black bears was 14.2% in optimal temperate/boreal forest conditions. Given that NM has more arid and fluctuating conditions, the agency chose a lower figure that is nonetheless still a guess of 10% as its allowable sustainable harvest of the bear population. In Bear Zone 3, however it the quota is set at 12% presumably to intentionally shrink the bear population. This is of grave concern given that Miller notes in his study abstract that the consequence of error in population management is high as bears reproduce slowly and reduced populations will require many years to recover. (Specifically stating in the paper abstract that, "Simulation results where reproductive rates were generous, natural mortality rates were low, and harvests were 75% of maximum sustainable rates indicated that black bear populations reduced by half will still require more than 17 years to recover.") In zones 8 and 14 (the Sandias and Manzanos), the sustainable harvest rate is set at 8% to allow for bears lost to other causes such as road kill and depredation. Nevertheless, this percentage is also just a guess.  [8:  Miller, S.D. 1990a. Population management of bears in North America. International Conference on Bear Research and Management 8:357-373. https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/61a1/44ab9275089ef38e89aef4f30e641f826a39.pdf] 


As yet unpublished research[footnoteRef:9] conducted in Washington state found a sustainable harvest rate for bears could be as low as only 6% of the population. So even what appears to be a conservative offtake by NMG&F may, in fact be too high. [9:  Welfelt, Lindsay S. 2018. BLACK BEAR POPULATION DYNAMICS IN THE NORTH CASCADES. Washington State University, School of the Environment] 


B.  The female sub-limits of the total quota for each zone are set at 40% of the total harvest. However, some research (Beecham and Rollman, 1994) indicates that for a stable population 35% or lower is more appropriate.[footnoteRef:10] The female sublimit is a very important parameter because females reproduce so slowly. Also, females tend to remain in the vicinity where they were born. If the females are lost, it is difficult for the population to replace them in that vicinity. Males roam widely. This is not to say that male bears are unimportant for population dynamics. They are the source of genetic diversity because their roaming prevents local inbreeding which is essential to population health. [10:  Beecham, J.J. and J. Rohlman. 1994. A shadow in the forest: Idaho’s black bear. The University of Idaho Press, Idaho, 245pp] 


Nevertheless, it is important to note that a 40% female harvest limit is also based on population assumptions. A much lower sublimit is likely warranted. 

4. Examining the results. Are current bear quotas demonstrably sustainable?

A.  NMG&F compiles and reports on Hunter Catch per unit Effort or how many days on average are required for a hunter to kill a bear. Successful bear hunters must provide the Department with information about how many days they hunted. Hypothetically, this can show a population decline if hunter effort increases while the catch does not. However, only successful hunters are required to report how many days they hunted. In the last 4 years only between 9.5% and 9.9% of hunters have been successful (see following table) leaving a dataset of unsuccessful hunters comprising over 90% of license buyers out of the report.

                                         Bear Hunter Success vs. Number of Bear Licenses Sold 2011-2019

                [image: ]

This introduces a significant bias into how easy it is to hunt and kill a bear. Moreover, the hunter catch per unit effort will be markedly different depending on whether the hunter uses dogs or not, so much so that it is difficult to imagine the two being part of the same dataset much less using the results to attempt to quantify anything about bear density or population.

Starting in 2010, the bear quota was drastically raised to almost double the previous four years. It was raised again in 2012 to the current limit of 804 bears. This happened three Department directors ago, prior to the hair snare study and prior to re-evaluation of the area of primary bear habitat. The justifications back then seemed to center on the perception that because bear-human conflict was rising, the bear population was also rising. Research does not align with this perception. Conflict rates do not necessarily reflect numerical changes in populations.[footnoteRef:11] [footnoteRef:12]  It is telling that in this time frame, despite a significant increase in the number of bear hunters, the percentage of successful hunters has dropped even though the high quotas are not being met. This is a disturbing trend that speaks to the over hunting of bears potentially happening now. [11:  Treves, A., Kapp, K.J., MacFarland, D.M., 2010. American black bear nuisance complaints and hunter take. Ursus 21, 30–42.]  [12:  Obbard, M.E., Howe, E.J., Wall, L.L., Allison, B., Black, R., Davis, P., Dix-Gibson, L., Gatt, M., Hall, M.N., 2014. Relationships among food availability, harvest, and human-bear conflict at landscape scales in Ontario, Canada. Ursus 25, 98–110.] 


B.  Strangely, the number of bears killed for depredation and road kill are not counted against the quotas. Bears killed on highways or in response to nuisance or depredation are nonetheless part of the overall population. They should be included in any kill limit. Not doing so has no basis in biology.

C.  No estimate is made for the number of bears killed illegally. Costello, et al. found that 4% of their collared bears were illegally killed in areas closed to hunting or outside of hunting season during the course of the study. New Mexico is a large state and it is not possible for law enforcement to be everywhere. Nevertheless, illegal kills may be an important source of black bear mortality in addition to road kill and depredation.

D.  NM Game and Fish also uses harvest data to estimate hunting sustainability. By pulling a tooth from the remains of hunted bears, the bear's age can be determined. Gender is also noted. Researchers have suggested that the average age of females killed can represent a measure of population status and stability as can the gender ratio of killed bears. However, inferences from harvest data can be misleading because confoundingly, both an increasing and a decreasing population can have the same age structure[footnoteRef:13] or sex ratio.[footnoteRef:14] Trends of these indices may not be consistent with the true population trajectory,[footnoteRef:15] [footnoteRef:16] or they will lag behind the true population trajectory[footnoteRef:17] [footnoteRef:18] allowing population damage to go undetected and thus become exacerbated over time. In fact, Costello et.al, (2001) acknowledges in the first paragraph that "increasing, stable, and decreasing population trend were all plausible explanations for observed changes in harvest data" as a significant motivation to examine bears in the field.[footnoteRef:19] Sterling Miller said it very well in his  conference report on bear research and management, "Detection of bear population trend from the sex and/or age structure of harvested bears is more often attempted than achieved,...the utility of (this data) is more frequently assumed than demonstrated."[footnoteRef:20] [13:  Clark, J. D. 1999. Black bear population dynamics in the Southeast: some new perspectives on some old problems. Eastern Black Bear Workshop Proceedings 15:97–115.]  [14:  Garshelis, D. L. 1991. Monitoring effects of harvest on black bear populations in North America: a review and evaluation of techniques. Eastern Workshop of Black Bear Research and Management 10:102–144.]  [15:  Noyce, K. V, and D. L. Garshelis. 1997. Influence of natural food abundance on black bear harvests in Minnesota. Journal of Wildlife Management 61:1067–1074.]  [16:  McLellan, B. N., G. Mowat, T. Hamilton, and I. Hatter. 2017. Sustainability of the grizzly bear hunt in British Columbia, Canada. Journal of Wildlife Management 81:218–229.]  [17:  Harris, R. B., and L. H. Metzgar. 1987. Harvest age structures as indicators of decline in small populations of grizzly bears. Bears: Their Biology and Management 7:109–116.]  [18:  Beston, J. A., and R. D. Mace. 2012. What can harvest data tell us about Montana’s black bears? Ursus 23:30–41.]  [19:  Costello, C.M., D.E. Jones, K.A. Green-Hammond, R.M. Inman, K.H. Inman, B.C. Thompson, R.A. Deitner, and H.B. Quigley. 2001. A study of black bear ecology in New Mexico with models for population dynamics and habitat suitability. Final Report, Federal Aid in Wildlife Restoration Project W-131-R, New Mexico Department of Game and Fish, Santa Fe, New Mexico, USA. http://www.wildlife.state.nm.us/download/hunting/species/bear/publications/New-Mexico-Black-Bear-Study-Costello-et-al-2001%20.pdf p ii.]  [20:  Miller, S.D. Population management of bears in North America. 1990. International Conf. Bear Research and Manage. 8:35–-373.] 


By way of example of the unreliability of harvest data to show bear population trend, a recent study[footnoteRef:21] of Black Bears in an area surrounding Durango, Colorado captured and collared female bears and monitored their survival and reproduction by checking their dens for cubs during the 6-year study length. The study also integrated 4 years of DNA hair snare data in the same area. The purpose was to evaluate the combined effects of human development and food shortage on the abundance, population growth rate, and spatial distribution of female black bears- the females being crucial determinants of the status of the bear population. [footnoteRef:22] [footnoteRef:23]  The availability of natural bear food was also monitored by evaluating mast production during August and September of each year.[footnoteRef:24]  During the study, in 2012, a natural food shortage was caused by a late spring freeze. As a result of this natural food shortage, bears sought out human food placing them at higher risk for depredation removal, road kill and human hunting. The end result was that the population of female bears in the study area declined by 57%. The severe population decline detected in this study would have gone unnoticed from harvest data that are commonly collected and used to manage bears in Colorado (as well as in New Mexico), and was only detected due to monitoring efforts associated with this intense research project. [21:  Laufenberg, J., Johnson, H.E., Doherty, P.F., Breck, S.W., 2018. Compounding effects of human development and a natural food shortage on a large carnivore population along a human development-wildland interface. Biol. Conserv. 224, 188–198.]  [22:  Freedman, A.H., Portier, K.M., Sunquist, M.E., 2003. Life history analysis for black bears (Ursus americanus) in a changing demographic landscape. Ecol. Model. 167, 47–64.]  [23:  Beston, J.A., 2011. Variation in life history and demography of the American black bear. J. Wildl. Manag. 75, 1588–1596]  [24:  Johnson, H.E., Lewis, D.L., Verzuh, T.L., Wallace, C.F., Much, R.M., Willmarth, L.K., Breck, S.W., 2017. Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implication for human-carnivore conflicts. J. Appl. Ecol. 55, 663–672] 


Black bears do not need to be killed at the maximum sustainable level, even if we knew what the bear population was and could determine that level. Black bears are a self-limiting species: they kill each other. Numerous researchers have documented adult males killing sub-adult males as they disperse.[footnoteRef:25] [footnoteRef:26] [footnoteRef:27] [footnoteRef:28] [footnoteRef:29] [footnoteRef:30] Intra-specific predation has also been found to be a significant mortality source for adult females[footnoteRef:31] [footnoteRef:32]  In a study in Arizona, adult male bears were found to be a significant source of mortality to young cubs.[footnoteRef:33] [25:  Swenson, J. E. 2003. Implication of sexually selected infanticide for hunting of large carnivores. In M. Festa-Bianchet and M. Apollonio, eds. Animal behavior and wildlife management. Island Press, Covelo, CA, USA.]  [26:  Swenson, J. E., Sandegren, A. Soderberg, A. Bjarvall, R. Franzen, and P. Wabakken, 1997. Infanticide caused by hunting of male bears. Nature. 386 (3) 450-451.]  [27:  Jonkel, C. J., and I. M. Cowan. 1971. The black bear in Spruce-Fir forest. Wildl. Monogr. 27. 57 pp.]  [28:  Poelker, R. J. and H. D. Hartwell. 1973. Black Bear of Washington. Wash. State Game Dept. Biol. Bull. 14. 180 pp.]  [29:  Kemp, G. A. 1976. The dynamics and regulation of black bear, Ursus americanus, population in Northern Alberta. Int. Conf. Bear Res. and Manage. 3:191-197]  [30:  Rogers, L. L. 1987. Effects of food supply and kinship on social behavior, movements, and population growth of black bears in northeastern Minnesota. Wildl. Monogr. 97:72 pp.]  [31:  Garshelis, D. L. 1994. Density-dependant population regulation of black bears. Pages 3-14 in M. Taylor, Ed. Density-dependent population regulation of black, brown, and polar bears. Int. Conf. Bear Res. and Manage. Monogr. Series No. 3. 43 pp.]  [32:  Stafford, R. 1995. Preliminary observations on den selection by female and subadult black bears in Northwestern California. Trans. West. Sec. Wild. Soc. 31:63-67.]  [33:  LeCount, A. 1986. Causes of black bear mortality. Arizona Game and Fish Department, Phoenix, AZ. Pp. 75-82.] 


Additionally, the hunting of black bears does not necessarily reduce conflict with humans.  More bears in town and an increase in nuisance behavior in poor wild food years, does not mean the population has grown.[footnoteRef:34]  An analysis in several different Eastern states showed that increased bear hunting in response to conflict was perversely followed by increased complaints about bears. Alternatively, simply securing garbage in bear proof containers even in the absence of bear hunting, reduced complaints and nuisance removals to zero or nearly so.[footnoteRef:35]  The Durango, Colorado study found that bears are primarily drawn to development during periods of poor natural food availability.[footnoteRef:36] In poor natural food years, bears move greater distances in search of food and are attracted to towns for that reason. Roadkill goes up, hunter mortality goes up and nuisance behavior goes up, not because there are more bears, but because the same number of bears are roaming in search of food and are more vulnerable to harm. Moreover, bears using urban areas in poor food years, reversed this behavior and used wildland areas in subsequent good food years. In general, bears prefer wild food if available. Hunting more bears in a poor food year has the potential to harm an already stressed population. [34:  Baruch-Mordo, S., Wilson, K.R., Lewis, D.L., Broderick, J., Mao, J.S., Breck, S.W., 2014. Stochasticity in natural forage production affects use of urban areas by black bears: implications to management of human-bear conflicts. PLoS One 9, e85122.]  [35:  Tavss, E. A., 2007. Correlation of reduction in nuisance black bear complaints with implementation of (a) a hunt vs. (b) a non-violent program. New Jersey Public Meeting on Black Bear Management. http://www.bearsmart.com/docs/Tavss-v4.pdf]  [36:  Laufenberg, J., Johnson, H.E., Doherty, P.F., Breck, S.W., 2018. Compounding effects of human development and a natural food shortage on a large carnivore population along a human development-wildland interface. Biol. Conserv. 224, 188–198.] 


The Precautionary Principle declares that when an activity potentially threatens the environment, the proponent of the activity, rather than the public, should bear the burden of proof as to the harmlessness of the activity. Where there are threats of serious or irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing measures to prevent degradation. The state of New Mexico holds all wildlife, including bears, in trust for the people of the state.  It has an obligation to ensure that bear populations remain viable and sustainable for future generations. 

Given that NM does not really know what the actual bear population is and that bear density results or harvest data indices don't necessarily reflect the actual bear population trend, great caution should be applied especially in light of extremes in weather and bear food availability, bear habitat loss to development, fragmentation and degradation and especially to the vulnerability of the black bear to over-exploitation because of its naturally low reproductive rate.                  More resources need to be invested into monitoring bear population trends which means embarking on studies that follow female survival and cub production through time. We urge that if bears continue to be hunted: 

· That the current bear quota be returned to 2010 levels of 400 bears statewide.

· That consequently the number of female bears killed should also be reduced to no more than 100 until better trend data is available. We cannot be more emphatic that the females hold the key to bear population sustainability

· That  all known bear deaths be included in the quotas: hunting, depredation and road kill

· That consideration of the unknowable level of illegal take also supports the reduction of quotas. 

The state of New Mexico does not need to worry that not enough bears will be killed by hunters. On the other hand, the risk of hunters killing too many in the absence of better population monitoring is reckless. 

Sincerely,

Mary Katherine Ray

Wildlife Chair, Rio Grande Chapter Sierra Club

HC 30 Box 244

Winston, NM 87943

575-537-1095



Chris Smith

Southern Rockies Wildlife Advocate

WildEarth Guardians

301 N Guadalupe St Suite #201

Santa Fe, NM 87501

505-395-6177



Jessica Johnson

Animal Protection of New Mexico

1111 Paseo de Peralta

Santa Fe, NM 87501

505- 220-6656 (cell)















































Appendix 1:
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Figure 1. Acrial imagery of black bear habitat in New Mexico highlighting the study areas
located within the Sangre de Cristo Mountains, Sandia Mountains, and Sacramento Mountains.
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Figure 2. Predicted black bear habitat in New Mexico 2015,
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Year Hunter Success (Total Number of Licenses Sold)

2011-12 14.8%(3248)
2012-13 24.3%(2342)
2013-14 14.2%(3844)
2014-15 11.6%(4124)
2015-16 9.7% (4252)
2016-17 9.7% (4483)
2017-18 9.9% (4895)
2018-19 9.5% (4283)
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fw: [EXT] Bear comments from Sierra Club, Animal Protection of NM, WildEarth Guardians
Date: Monday, September 16, 2019 10:17:21 AM

Attachments: Bear rules comment letter SC WEG APNM final.docx

From: Mary Katherine Ray_

Sent: Monday, September 9, 2019 3:37 PM
To: Lopez, Tirzio, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Bear comments from Sierra Club, Animal Protection of NM, WildEarth Guardians

Hello Commissioner Lopez,

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


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us
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
Costello Study
)                             [image: ] 

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
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Bear killings
Date: Saturday, August 31, 2019 3:14:55 PM

From: Laura Fradette

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 1:00 PM
To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Bear killings

Dear Ms. Prukop, I am concerned that too many bear sows are being killed statewide in the hunt. The sow limit is
now set at 318, yet, for the last four years, the actual harvest averages about 180 not counting depredation deaths.
The Game department is proposing no changes for bear for the next four years. This will be a great loss to our state.
Please consider changing the limit to 100 sows including depredation.

Thank you,

Laura Fradette

Sent from my iPad


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Bear limits
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:44:43 AM

From: Laura Fradette

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 1:04 PM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Bear limits

Dear Mr. Bates,

Too many bear sows are being killed statewide in the hunt. The sow limit is now set at 318, yet, for the last four
years, the actual harvest averages about 180 not counting depredation deaths. The Game department is proposing no
changes for bear for the next four years. Please limit the kill to 100 including depredation . This would be a terrible
loss for the bear population and our state.

Thank you,

Laura Fradette

Sent from my iPad


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: FW: [EXT] Bear limits
Date: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 11:46:11 AM

Stewart Liley,

Conserving New Mexico’s Wildlife for Future Generations

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail, including all attachments is for the sole use of the intended
recipient[s] and may contain confidential and/or privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, copying,
disclosure or distribution is prohibited, unless specifically provided under the New Mexico Inspection of Public
Records Act. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender at once and destroy all copies of this
message.

From: Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 3:54 PM
To: Liley, Stewart, DGF

Subject: Fw: [EXT] Bear limits

From: Laura Fradette _>
Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 1:02 PM

To: Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Bear limits

Dear Commissioner,

Too many bear sows are being killed statewide in the hunt. The sow limit is now set at 318, yet, for the last four
years, the actual harvest averages about 180 not counting depredation deaths. The Game department is proposing no
changes for bear for the next four years. Please limit the kills to 100 including depredation. His would be a terrible
loss for the bears and our state.

Thank you,

Laura Fradette

Sent from my iPad


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Bear Quotas and Cougar Trapping Ban
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:47:10 AM

From: Adam 520, I

Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 10:39 PM

To: Soules, David, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Prukop,
Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Lopez, Tirzio, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Bear Quotas and Cougar Trapping Ban

Ladies and Gentlemen of the State Game Commission,

I"d like to start by thanking you for your service in protecting and managing the wildlife and
wild places of New Mexico on behalf of its residents, and continuing to support sustainable
and ethical use of its wildlife resources.

Now to the point.

First, | would like to express my opposition to the proposed ban on cougar trapping, as | feel it
is not motivated from a scientific basis or management scheme, but instead motivated by a
short sighted emotional argument that fails to maturely address the issue of cougar
management as a part of wildlife management as a whole. The only purpose that | can see for
this ban is to chip at the rights of NM hunters and trappers for the sake of political
correctness?

Second | would like to express my opposition to a similar proposal from the New Mexico Bear
Watch group members to lower the Sow mortality quota based on their distrust of the
science based management plan put forth by the game and fish department regarding black
bears. As a bear hunter | count on this hunt as an ethical source of food for me my family,
especially in years when I’'m not fortunate enough to draw, or harvest other big game. |
support reasonable harvest quotas based on sound scientific population estimation
techniques - not based on the emotional burden of people who either don’t understand
where food comes from or think they are justified in enforcing their values on others.

Thank you for your time and your consideration of my concerns.

Sincerely,
Adam Sapp


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Bear Quotas and Cougar Trapping Ban
Date: Friday, September 20, 2019 12:54:19 PM

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
Subject: Fw: [EXT] bear sow protection
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:45:26 AM

From: pat manaster [

Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 8:42 AM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] bear sow protection

Please your your power to make sure not too many bear sows are killed. | am not
against hunting but am concerned that too many may be killed. Perhaps under 100
would be reasonable. | once saw a huge cinnamon-colored black bear cross the road
at the Sandia ski lift area when driving through. That was exciting!! So | don't want to
lose the species in the future. How our children will love seeing a bear as | did!!

Thanks for listening to my concern. Ms. Pat Manaster_


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] bear sow protection
Date: Thursday, August 29, 2019 7:59:53 AM

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
Subject: Fw: [EXT] bears need protection
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:59:48 AM

From: Richard Desjardins ||| G

Sent: Sunday, September 15, 2019 5:29 PM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] bears need protection

Good afternoon. Although 2019 has been a relatively good year for moisture, we have had a
number of dry seasons in the recent past that have resulted in large numbers of bears being
removed and destroyed. This was, of course, under an old administration. | live in the East
Mountains, and am very concerned that the wild creatures be allowed to co-exist with the
human inhabitants. | feel strongly that female bears in particular need protection so that the
population can be restored and thrive. Nobody eats bear meat; there really is no rational or
good reason at present to hunt them down and kill them. Please do your utmost to protect
the bears moving forward, and reduce the hunting numbers currently allowed. | know | have
observed far fewer signs this year and last of bear activity, though this used to be common.
Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,
Jill Desjardins


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] bears need your help please
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:27:25 AM

Please see email thread below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Monday, September 30, 2019 9:11 PM
To: Richard Desjardins

Subject: Re: [EXT] bears need your help please

Hello Jill:

Thank you for your input. | wholeheartedly agree that wild creatures need to be allowed to
co-exist with human inhabitants. | would disagree with one of your comments. Some people
very definitely do eat bear meat. | would also point out that very few bears have been taken
by hunters in the Sandias over the last decade. There are far more (700%) that have died due
to depredation and "hit by car" incidents.

V/R,
David Soules

From: Richard Desjardins_

Sent: Sunday, September 15, 2019 5:31 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT] bears need your help please

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
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Bears!
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:45:23 AM

Please see comments below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Monday, September 2, 2019 2:32 PM
To: Bing LeRoy

Subject: Re: [EXT] Bears!

Dear Mr. Bing:

Thank you for your email and your concern regarding bears. | appreciate the many things that
Sandia Mountain Bear Watch is doing on behalf of bears, in particular their efforts to educate
the public about proper trash containers and other means to limit bear and human encounter
that could result in depredation losses. With regard to the Sandias, you might be interested to
know that in the last 8 years there have been 3 bears killed by hunters, while 7 have been
removed (meaning loss of life) for depredation, and 14 have died as a result of being hit by
cars or "other" causes.

Thanks again for your interest and concern,
David

From: i Lercy

Sent: Monday, September 2, 2019 11:00 AM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Bears!

Welcome to your position as a member of the Game Commission!

Please support lowering the limit of sows to be killed (including predation) to less than 100.

| feel the figures of Sandia Mountain Bear Watch are the most reliable. They are gathered
from those who have resided in the area for many years, and have close contact with the
wildlife. They have the opportunity to make very accurate observations, and can make
observations in daily real life.

They have nothing to gain except the best practices, protection and control of the bears and
other wildlife.

Sincerely.


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Bears
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:44:23 AM

From: Guven Peterson [

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 7:53 PM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Bears

Dear Mr. Bates,

The bears are such an important part of the Sandia/Manzano ecology. Please do everything possible to
help them recover and rebound. Thank you .

Gwen Peterson_


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Bears
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:42:18 AM

From: ging Leroy I

Sent: Monday, September 2, 2019 10:58 AM
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
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:46:00 AM

Please see comments below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Friday, August 30, 2019 6:54 AM
To: Gwen Peterson

Subject: Re: [EXT] Bears

Hello Ms. Peterson:

Thank you for your concern. | will certainly strive to ensure that the bear population in the
Sandias remains healthy.

Best regards,
David

From: Guven Peterson [

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 7:55 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Bears

Dear Mr. Soules,

The bears are such an important part of the Sandia/Manzano ecology. Please do everything possible to
help them recover and rebound.

Thank you. Gwen Peterson, ||| Gz


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: FW: [EXT] Bears
Date: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 11:46:02 AM

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

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 10:04 PM
To: Liley, Stewart, DGF

Subject: FW: [EXT] Bears

From: Gwen Peterson

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 7:52 PM
To: Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Bears

Dear Mr. Salazar,

The bears are an important part of the Sandia/Manzano ecology. Please do everything possible to help preserve
them and help them to rebound. Thank you.

Gwen Peterson, _


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Bears
Date: Saturday, August 31, 2019 3:13:08 PM

From: Guven Peterson [

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 7:50 PM
To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Bears

Dear Ms. Prukop,

The bears are an important part of the Sandia/Manzano ecology. Please do everything possible to
preserve them and help them to reobund. Thank you.

Gwen Peterson_


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: ]
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fw: [EXT] Cougar trapping

Date: Monday, September 09, 2019 9:01:57 PM

From: kaThavn e [

Sent: Wednesday, September 4, 2019 5:58 PM
To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Cougar trapping

Please consider my stance on trapping cougar, they have no natural predators other than
humans should there numbers remain unchecked you will begin to see an unbalance which
increases the risk of cougar attacks on humans this has been scientifically proven in places like
Culp Creek Oregan.

CULP CREEK, Ore. (AP) -- Cougar numbers continue to increase since voters
approved a 1994 measure that banned the use of dogs to hunt the big cats, and their
encroaching population is creating problems.

Washington voters approved the same ban last year and state Department of Fish
and Wildlife officials fear the same overpopulation problem may occur in this state.
But because Oregon's law was passed two years earlier, the population changes
there have been easier to measure.

The number of cougars taken by hunters has fallen from a high of 187 in 1992 to 47
in 1996, according to the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife.

Pete Janelli, 80, who farms 150 acres near this town east of Cottage Grove, says he
lost four goats to cougars last year, and he lost his quarterhorse in January.

"She was down, just about dead when we found her," Janelli said. "We had to shoot
her because she was in such misery."

The federal Animal Damage Control officer, Jack Spencer, examined the dead mare
and confirmed it had been attacked by a cougar. He wrote in his report that, based on
the size of the cougar's tracks, it is one of the largest cats he's encountered.

Since then, Janelli has had hunters and dogs on his property, which is allowed after
livestock damage. But they had no success.

He believes farmers ought to be able to call in the hounds when they spot a cougar,
and not have to wait until they lose livestock.

"I'm not saying go out and butcher them all, you know," he said. "It's their country, you
really can't blame them. But we've got to get some control on them."

In Lane County, the number of people calling with damage complaints or alleged
cougar sightings has risen from perhaps four a year in the 1980s to an average of


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

115 per year between 1994 and 1996, said Bill Castillo, a district wildlife biologist.
"We get calls every week, sometimes more than one a day," Castillo said.

People opposed to hunting cougars say statistics on cougar sightings are seldom
verified and claim some cases may be manufactured by hunting organizations.

"We think the numbers and the paperwork are being shuffled in a way that makes it
look much worse than it is," said Brooks Fahy, executive director of the Predator
Defense Institute in Eugene.

"We don't think much has changed. Cougars don't reproduce that fast."

No one has ever been killed by a cougar in Oregon and Castillo said he can verify
only one attack on a human. But the Fish and Wildlife Department office in Springfield
has received calls of cougars lying in people's driveways in the middle of the day,
climbing on decks and peering into windows.

"It's behavior we never heard of in the past," Castillo said.

Castillo believes the population increase is such that some parts of the state have

reached the animal's "carrying capacity." With territorial adult cougars occupying
forested habitat, younger cats have been forced to the Willamette Valley floor.

"Now we have cougars and people trying to live in the same area, and that has
created lots of conflict," Castillo said. "These cats are having kittens, and those
kittens are growing up with the sights, sounds and smells of humans."

Please consider my opposition to the ban on cougar trapping. We need to keep a
balance. Those who forget the past are doomed to repeat it.



From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Cougar trapping
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 6:05:47 AM

From: Mitchell Simpson ||| GG

Sent: Thursday, September 5, 2019 4:28 PM

To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez,
Tirzio, DGF; Soules, David, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Cougar trapping

Dear Commissioners,

Please base your decisions on sound scientific data. Please don't base it on political
pressure, much of this pressure comes from being uneducated in the area of wildlife
management. The cruelest thing that can be done to wildlife is to not manage it.
Thank you,

Mitchell Simpson


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Cougar trapping
Date: Thursday, September 05, 2019 4:52:55 PM

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
Subject: FW: [EXT] East Mountains and Bears......
Date: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 11:47:03 AM

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

Sent: Tuesday, August 27, 2019 5:46 PM

To: Liley, Stewart, DGF

Subject: FW: [EXT] East Mountains and Bears......

From: Caroline Jones

Sent: Tuesday, August 27,2019 5:13 PM

To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Gail.Cramer@state.nn.us;
Tirzio.Lopez@state.nmus; Soules, David, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF

Subject: [EXT] East Mountains and Bears......

Honorable Folk,

You are probably going to receive a few letters, so mine may not be much different. For several years I have
watched Jan Hayes help educate the public about the value of bears in our East Mountains. The eco-system up here
is both highly unique and fragile....especially due to our weather swings (one year productive food, next year early
freezes killing off acorn buds).

My husband and I both live up here, walk up here, watch the cycles of life going on around us. The value of having
enough bears is somewhat understood by people, and probably will never be fully understood as to the part every
living thing plays. My belief is that, much like hunting out big horn sheep, when you take away a member you
impact the health of this beautiful place. Every predator / prey / plant / micro-organism is adapted to this place, and
uniquely work together --- from keeping prey animals in check, to even the "output" fertilizing the forest.

I have seen the counts done with barb wire (basically) that yields perhaps the same bear walking around an area.
The counts are probably never exact from year to year......but if you overdo the hunting, lack of new cubs produced
along with the adults taken out will impact the overall health of the forest and mountains.
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If you will take some time to look at information about the animals who live here, I would like to think you may
come to agree.

Sincerely,

Caroline Jones




From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] East Mountains and Bears......
Date: Thursday, August 29, 2019 8:00:38 AM

From: Caroline Jones I

Sent: Tuesday, August 27, 2019 5:13 PM

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

You are probably going to receive a few letters, so mine may not be much different. For several years |
have watched Jan Hayes help educate the public about the value of bears in our East Mountains. The

eco-system up here is both highly unique and fragile....especially due to our weather swings (one year

productive food, next year early freezes killing off acorn buds).

My husband and | both live up here, walk up here, watch the cycles of life going on around us. The value
of having enough bears is somewhat understood by people, and probably will never be fully understood
as to the part every living thing plays. My belief is that, much like hunting out big horn sheep, when you
take away a member you impact the health of this beautiful place. Every predator / prey / plant / micro-
organism is adapted to this place, and uniquely work together --- from keeping prey animals in check, to
even the "output" fertilizing the forest.

| have seen the counts done with barb wire (basically) that yields perhaps the same bear walking around
an area. The counts are probably never exact from year to year......but if you overdo the hunting, lack of
new cubs produced along with the adults taken out will impact the overall health of the forest and
mountains.

If you will take some time to look at information about the animals who live here, | would like to think you
may come to agree.

Sincerely,

Caroline Jones
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: FW: [EXT] email concerning bear and cougar proposals
Date: Thursday, August 08, 2019 1:50:52 PM

Tristanna Bickford

Conserving New Mexico’s Wildlife for Future Generations

To report a wildlife-law violation, please call the toll-free Operation Game Thief hotline at (800) 432-GAME (4263)

or click in the logo here. Callers can remain anonymous and earn rewards for information leading to charges being
filed.

<http://www.wildlife.state.nm.us/enforcement/operation-game-thief-overview/>

<https://www.facebook.com/nmdgf>
<https://twitter.com/NMDGF>
<https://www.youtube.com/user/NMGameandFish>
<https://www.instagram.com/nmgameandfish/>

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

On 7/30/19, 4:10 PM, "Todd Tatum" ||| ot

This is Jeanne Tatum_ My husband and I are license vendors under the name of our business,

We received an email from the department with a list of the public meeting dates concerning proposed bear and
cougar changes.

The email refers the public to the dept website under"proposals under consideration". However, the website
currently only lists migratory bird proposals. Are the bear and cougar changes going to be posted with adequate
time for the public to review them prior to the public meeting dates?

Also, on the webcast of the July 24 meeting, the audio was lost at 7:34:09 and didn't come back until 7:39:57. 1
hope those comments will be in the minutes.

Thank you,
Jeanne Tatum
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https://twitter.com/NMDGF
https://www.youtube.com/user/NMGameandFish
https://www.instagram.com/nmgameandfish/

From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Even more to read about bears
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:32:30 AM

Please see discussion below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Friday, September 13, 2019 1:13 PM

To: Mary Katherine Ray

Subject: Re: [EXT] Even more to read about bears

No worries about being repetitive. | appreciate that it is often a very necessary approach to
actually effect change.

| have read a couple of Muir's books - really fun style, and amazing/fearless/some might say
reckless explorer. Hard to find someone more passionate about nature and the outdoors.

Best,
David

From: Mary Katherine Ray ||| G

Sent: Thursday, September 12, 2019 9:41 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: Re: [EXT] Even more to read about bears

Hi David,

Yes, John Muir was the founder of the Sierra Club. He's on the California quarter along with
the Yosemite half dome and a CA condor- a hero for the ages- and also a wonderful author,
right up there with Aldo Leopold.

I'm glad to hear the Dept has plans for ongoing bear study. Still prudence would require that
until the data is in, bear hunting should only proceed with great precaution. ( I'm being
repetitive | know- can't help it, was once a teacher)

Mary Katherine
On Wed, Sep 11, 2019 at 11:12 PM Soules, David, DGF ||| G v ote:
Hi Mary Katherine:
Thank you for the conversation as well. | have followed up with the department, expressing

your concern that the sow harvest should be reduced, as well as the need for continued
scientific population studies to properly inform management decisions. | believe the
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department intends to perform similar hair snare studies in the Jemez and the Gila in the
next year or two, and perhaps repeat the study in the Sacramento Mountains after that. |
believe the message there is that the department does not intend to rest on the laurels of
the Gould study. They will keep at it.

| also asked about the Colorado bear management approach since | believe both you and
the Sandia Bear Watch organizations have referenced their approach. | am not yet familiar
with Colorado's bear regulations.

| will take a look at the additional references soon. Thank you for providing them.

Thank you for providing the Sierra Club's position. | have been a past member of the Sierra
Club, but I am not sure if my membership is current. Was the Sierra Club founded by John
Muir? Nancy and | and our family have been fortunate to hike the John Muir Trail twice. |
just wanted you to know that my family enjoys the outdoors for much more than hunting,
and | appreciate the Sierra Club's contributions very much.

Best regards,
David

From: Mary Katherine Ray ||| G

Sent: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 9:00 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Even more to read about bears

Hello David,

Thank you so much for the conversation today. | did want to clarify, since it came up, that
in the Sierra Club, we have members who hunt, members who don't hunt, members who
think it's wrong to hunt and the entire spectrum of attitudes and beliefs in between. Just so
you'll know, this is our written policy about hunting: "Sport Hunting And Fishing --

Wildlife and native plant management should emphasize maintenance and
restoration of healthy, viable native plant and animal populations, their habitats, and
ecological processes. Acceptable management approaches include both regulated
periodic hunting and fishing when based on sufficient scientifically valid biological
data and when consistent with all other management purposes and when
necessary total protection of particular species or populations."

A key phrase, "...when based on sufficient scientifically valid biological data.." is what | think
we are lacking when it comes to bears. (the emphasis being mine)



I'm attaching two papers:
The first by Laufengerg, et al. reports the 57% decline of female bears during the study
which would have been completely missed in the absence of the study.

Welfelt, et al. is newly published and examined bear density in Washington state. She found
that density in bear habitat near human development was much lower than expected
though the area had excellent production of bear food.

The abstract has this quote which is highly relevant to NM bear management, "Our
findings underscore the importance that black bear density is not likely uniform and
management risk may be increased if an average density is applied at too large a scale".

(as an aside, co-author Rick Beausoleil at one time worked for NM G&F. | think in the 90's)

thank you for reading even more from me,
Mary Katherine



From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] FW: BearWatch on Bear Hunt Dates.
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:38:56 AM

Please see comments below.

From: Soules, David, DGF
Sent: Thursday, September 5, 2019 9:32 PM

o

Subject: Re: [EXT] FW: BearWatch on Bear Hunt Dates.
Hi Jan:

Thanks for the feedback. | hope you enjoy your vacation and don't encounter any Tsunamis.
It has been a pleasure working with you too.

Best,
David

From: Dennis Hayes <dennis@nmia.com> on behalf of jan@janhayes.com <jan@janhayes.com>
Sent: Thursday, September 5, 2019 4:03 PM

To: Soules, David, DGF

Subject: [EXT] FW: BearWatch on Bear Hunt Dates.

Dear Commissioner Soules,

Officer Cimbal recently called on behalf of Director Sloane to ask where BearWatch stood on the
bear hunt being changed with some southern zones closed in August and the hunt extended
through December. After some thought, here is where BearWatch stands on these bear hunt dates.

BearWatch has always believed that August is too hot to hunt bears in a southwestern state like NM,
both for the bears, hunters and their dogs.

e We believe it makes for an unfair hunt. In August, the acorns haven’t yet matured which
means the bears are being pursued by hunters/dogs when they are not in prime condition.
The bears that are pursued but not killed lose the little weight they’ve been able to gain
over the summer time.

e  Most important, closing only Southern Zones in August puts more strain on the rest of the
Zones and more strain on sows populations that BW believes are in trouble.
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e Pushing the hunt into December makes for an unfair and unethical hunt.

e Dogs disturb denned pregnant sows and sows with cubs. Some spooked sows will not return
to their cubs/den.

e |n December, the male bears that haven’t yet denned are in a walking-hibernation mode.
They have fecal plugs, are not eating or drinking and are slow to react to pursuing hunters
and/or dogs which makes it easier for the hunters to bag their bear.

o New Mexico has one of the longest bear hunts in the US. A Sept.-Nov. hunt gives generous
time for bear hunters and makes for a fair and ethical hunt.

We leave on our vacation to the Oregon coast on Saturday, Sept. 14t Hopefully we won’t
encounter a Tsunami with all the earthquakes that are shaking that coast right now. Kate Fry, an
able BW board member will represent us at the Cloudcroft meeting.

It's been a pleasure working with you.

Regards,
Jan



From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] FW: BearWatch on Bear Hunt Dates.
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 6:06:04 AM

From: Dennis Hayes I

Sent: Thursday, September 5, 2019 3:59 PM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] FW: BearWatch on Bear Hunt Dates.

Dear Commissioner Bates,

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

e Most important, closing only Southern Zones in August puts more strain on the rest of the
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

e In December, the male bears that haven’t yet denned are in a walking-hibernation mode.
They have fecal plugs, are not eating or drinking and are slow to react to pursuing hunters
and/or dogs which makes it easier for the hunters to bag their bear.

e New Mexico has one of the longest bear hunts in the US. A Sept.-Nov. hunt gives generous

time for bear hunters and makes for a fair and ethical hunt.

We leave on our vacation to the Oregon coast on Saturday, Sept. 14th, Hopefully we won’t
encounter a Tsunami with all the earthquakes that are shaking that coast right now. Kate Fry, an
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able BW board member will represent us at the Cloudcroft meeting.
It’s been a pleasure working with you.

Regards,
Jan



From: I

To: Forman, Nicholas, DGF
Subject: FW: [EXT] FW: BearWatch on Bear Hunt Dates.
Date: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 3:32:01 PM

More comments that you may or may not already have.

Elise Goldstein

CONSERVING NEW MEXICO’S WILDLIFE FOR FUTURE GENERATIONS

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail, including all attachments is for the sole use of the intended recipient[s] and
may contain confidential and/or privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, copying, disclosure or
distribution is prohibited, unless specifically provided under the New Mexico Inspection of Public Records Act. If you
are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender at once and destroy all copies of this message.

From: Sloane, Michael B., DGF

Sent: Thursday, September 05, 2019 10:08 PM

To: Goldstein, Elise J., DGF

Subject: Fwd: [EXT] FW: BearWatch on Bear Hunt Dates.

Please add to the bear/cougar comment emails. Thanks.

Michael B. Sloane
Director
New Mexico Department of Game and Fish

Conserving New Mexico’s Wildlife for Future Generations.

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail, including all attachments is for the sole use of
the intended recipient[s] and may contain confidential and/or privileged information. Any
unauthorized review, use, copying, disclosure or distribution is prohibited, unless specifically
provided under the New Mexico Inspection of Public Records Act. If you are not the intended
recipient, please contact the sender at once and destroy all copies of this message.

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF" [ A S
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Date: September 5, 2019 at 4:51:17 PM MDT
To:'

Cc: "Sloane, Michael B., DGE"
Subject: Re: [EXT] FW: BearWatch on Bear Hunt Dates.

Thank you for your input Jan. I appreciate you taking the time to give me your
thoughts on this. I believe that eliminating the 2 week August rifle hunt will
allow for fewer sows taken which is a goal of both of ours.

I hope you have a wonderful trip.

Roberta

From: Dennis Hayes <

Sent: Thursday, September 5, 2019 3:56 PM
To: Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF
Subject: [EXT] FW: BearWatch on Bear Hunt Dates.

Dear Roberta,

Officer Cimbal recently called on behalf of Director Sloane to ask where
BearWatch stood on the bear hunt being changed with some southern zones
closed in August and the hunt extended through December. After some thought,
here is where BearWatch stands on these bear hunt dates.

BearWatch has always believed that August is too hot to hunt bears in a
southwestern state like NM, both for the bears, hunters and their dogs.

We believe it makes for an unfair hunt. In August, the acorns haven’t yet

matured which means the bears are being pursued by hunters/dogs when they are
not in prime condition. The bears that are pursued but not killed lose the little
weight they’ve been able to gain over the summer time.

Most important, closing only Southern Zones in August puts more strain on the

rest of the Zones and more strain on sows populations that BW believes are in
trouble.

Pushing the hunt into December makes for an unfair and unethical hunt.

Dogs disturb denned pregnant sows and sows with cubs. Some spooked sows
will not return to their cubs/den.



In December, the male bears that haven’t yet denned are in a walking-hibernation

mode. They have fecal plugs, are not eating or drinking and are slow to react to
pursuing hunters and/or dogs which makes it easier for the hunters to bag their
bear.

New Mexico has one of the longest bear hunts in the US. A Sept.-Nov. hunt
gives generous time for bear hunters and makes for a fair and ethical hunt.

We leave on our vacation to the Oregon coast on Saturday, Sept. 14th, Hopefully
we won’t encounter a Tsunami with all the earthquakes that are shaking that coast
right now. Kate Fry, an able BW board member will represent us at the
Cloudcroft meeting.

It’s been a pleasure working with you.

Regards,
Jan



From: N

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fw: [EXT] Fwd: An open letter to the State of New Mexico Game Commissioners
Date: Monday, September 09, 2019 8:58:45 PM

Attachments: An open letter to the NM Game Commissioners Sept 5 2019.pdf

From: Stephan Helgesen _org>

Sent: Friday, September 6, 2019 5:55 PM

To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Fwd: An open letter to the State of New Mexico Game Commissioners

Please see the two-page attachment. If you have any questions, please
feel free to contact me.
Thank you for your service to our animals and their habitats.

Regards,

Stephan Helgesen

P.S. Remember me from the EDD?
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BlackBearsMatter

6565 America's Pkwy NE, Ste. 200 Albuquerque, NM 87110
www.blackbearsmatter.org

September 5, 2019

An open letter to the New Mexico Game Commissioners

We commend you for stepping up to be a Game Commissioner in our beautiful state. Yours is an
important job and sometimes a thankless one. We all should have an ongoing, strong commitment
to preserving our state's wildlife and to find a balance between 'harvesting' (killing) of our state
animal, the Black Bear, and protecting its habitat and feeding range for future generations.

There are conflicting opinions on what is the 'right' number of bears to be hunted and killed each
year. Some want more and others want less. One of the big problems is that we do not have
accurate numbers of the Black Bear population in the state. Right now, there are too many groups at
odds with each other, especially when it comes to the competing interests of ranchers, trappers,
hunters and conservationists.

Bears are actually pretty shy creatures, though some will always venture into residential areas to
look for food, and that's when the delicate balance between animals and people begins to break
down. When bears look for food outside the forest many homeowners call the New Mexico Game &
Fish Department (G&F) to intervene. Unfortunately, those interventions often end in the death of
the animal, because for some, bears are regarded as 'nuisance animals' like coyotes. Our Black
Bears live with a permanent death sentence hanging over their heads because the guidelines for
killing them (G&F Memorandum of March 27, 2012 from James S. Lane, Director) are too general
and give largely unchecked latitude to G&F when it comes to their destruction. They allow for the
potentially indiscriminate destruction of bears that are just exhibiting normal behavior, especially
during periods of meager food availability.

Several years ago, many bears were given the benefit of the doubt and a reprieve from execution.
Many were relocated and not killed as they are today. During the last four-to-five years, mature
female bears (sows) were being killed by hunters at lower rates, in the 30% range.

This year, however, G&F is allowing a marked increase in the number of sows that are allowed for
destruction. The sow limit is now set at 318, a totally unrealistically high number when considering
that for the past four years it was at 180 not counting depredation deaths (road Kills and

euthanization of 'bad bears.")

Those of us who believe that this will severely impact the bears' ability to sustain their numbers
and thrive in our forests plead with you to intervene. We really do. We ask that you use your
considerable influence to restrict and reduce the number of sow kills to 100 - a more reasonable
and defensible figure, especially since we do not have an accurate count of the entire population.
That said, we also ask that a new population study be undertaken to determine the real number of
Black Bears in New Mexico.

The Commissioners have the power to effect real change and help solve New Mexico's 'bear
problem.’





-2 -

There are systemic problems with our bear management in New Mexico, but there are also some
possible solutions to them. Consider these...

Problem: We kill too many bears and justify it by using faulty data.

Solution: Cooperate with other states and use their best practices to help craft a sound bear
management program for New Mexico (Colorado has one) AND implement it.

Problem: Lack of transparency. Communities and neighborhoods have no way of seeing, in real time
- on a daily basis - where specifically bears have been killed, for what reasons and how.

Solution: G&F can put up the data on these depredations (bear deaths other than hunting
kills) on their website, on a daily basis, so that everyone can see it, and we urge the Commissioners
to see that this is done.

Problem: We have bear destruction guidelines that don't favor relocation over destruction or
mandate a Kkill justification.

Solution: Re-draft the guidelines and make officers accountable for each and every bear kill.

Problem: We don't insist that homeowners electrify their chicken coops or bear-proof their refuse
containers.

Solution: Establish an outreach program of state-sponsored assistance through G&F to homeowners
wishing to bear-proof their surroundings and animal pens and teach them how to interact with
bears. (New Mexico Bear Watch has done much good work to inform homeowners about this issue,
and kudos to them.)

Problem: We have a 'bear as nuisance' culture in New Mexico instead of a 'bear as state treasure'
culture and it is reflected in the alarming number of depredation kills and the higher-than-
necessary hunting quotas.

Solution: Work to change the culture through more information, more compassionate bear
encounters by G&F personnel and more interaction with the public.

Finally, the real enemy of our bears is our reluctance to cooperate with each other or confront the
real issues facing our state's animal. By the simple act of saving, relocating or rehabilitating one
bear we not only show respect for the creatures we are pledged to protect, but we also honor our
commitment to ourselves as stewards of nature.

Stephan(elgesen

Black Bears Matter
info@blackbearsmatter.org
Tel. 505/239-0008






From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Fwd: Bear Hunting in New Mexico
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:40:59 AM

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Wednesday, September 4, 2019 11:41 AM

To: Drena Welty

Subject: Re: [EXT] Fwd: Bear Hunting in New Mexico

Hi Drena:

| am certain that you are correct, dogs do not know the difference. | understand your point is
a concern about using dogs to hunt bears at all. | looked through the proclamation, and noted
that "There is no "pursuit" or "training" season outside the regular open season". That doesn't
prevent a sow with cubs from being chased during open bear seasons, but | expect the cubs
are several months old by the time the season opens. | know that Spring bear hunting was
closed in all of NM a number of years ago, and perhaps that was part of the rationale.

Thanks again for your input,
David

From: Drena we'ty

Sent: Tuesday, September 3, 2019 8:37 AM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: Re: [EXT] Fwd: Bear Hunting in New Mexico

David,

Thank you for your response. | do appreciate the work done by the Game and Fish
Department. My question remains, “how does a radio collared dog know the difference
between a sow with cubs and a sow without cubs and what chance do cubs have when being
chased by dogs?” | would like to see the Department address the use of barbaric, inhuman
methods of hunting.

Drena Welty

Sent from my iPad

On Sep 2, 2019, at 2:59 PM, Soules, David, DGF ||| G ot
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Hi Drena:

Thank you for your email. | would like you to know that the NM Department of
Game and Fish did a very extensive study of the bear population in much of the
state, and they are using that information, which | believe is the "Best Available
Science" at this point in time, to set limits for bear harvest in 15 different
management zones.

You might also be interested to know that current game department regulations
protect sows with cubs, so the mother and cubs you describe should be okay.

Best regards,
David

From: Drena we'ty

Sent: Saturday, August 31, 2019 9:19 AM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Fwd: Bear Hunting in New Mexico

Sent from my iPad

Begin forwarded message:

From: Drena el [

Date: August 28, 2019 at 1:20:21 PM MDT

To S

Subject: Fwd: Bear Hunting in New Mexico

Sent from my iPad

Begin forwarded message:

From: Drena el [

Date: August 27, 2019 at 7:02:31 PM MDT

To: I



Subject: Bear Hunting in New Mexico

Please give every consideration to reducing the number
of bear sows to be hunted to no more than 100.

Additionally, we live in Taos Canyon and recently had a
sow and her 2 cubs visit our property. This is the first
bear siting in two years and we feel it is directly related
to hunters hunting with radio collared dogs. This is a
barbaric hunting practice | would hope the commission
would consider banning. | am not opposed to hunting as
long as it’s done fairly so a mother and cubs might have a
fighting chance.

Your attention to this matter is greatly appreciated.

Drena Welty, a Concerned NM citizen

Sent from my iPad



From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Fwd: Bear Hunting in New Mexico
Date: Saturday, August 31, 2019 3:27:52 PM

From: Drena ety

Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 1:20 PM
To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Fwd: Bear Hunting in New Mexico

Sent from my iPad

Begin forwarded message:

From: Drena ey I

Date: August 27, 2019 at 7:02:31 PM MDT

To: joanna.prukop@state.nm.us; r.salazar-henry@state.nm.us;
jimmy.bates@state.nm.us; gail.cramer@state.nm.us; trizio.lopez@state.nm.us;
david.soules@state.nm.us; jeremy.vesbach@state.nm.us

Subject: Bear Hunting in New Mexico

Please give every consideration to reducing the number of bear sows to be
hunted to no more than 100.

Additionally, we live in Taos Canyon and recently had a sow and her 2 cubs visit
our property. This is the first bear siting in two years and we feel it is directly
related to hunters hunting with radio collared dogs. This is a barbaric hunting
practice | would hope the commission would consider banning. | am not opposed
to hunting as long as it’s done fairly so a mother and cubs might have a fighting
chance.

Your attention to this matter is greatly appreciated.

Drena Welty, a Concerned NM citizen
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rule@state.nm.us; DGF-Furbearer-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Fwd: Cougar trapping

Date: Wednesday, September 11, 2019 11:38:13 AM
Attachments: Screenshot_20190910-174552.png
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From: robert hodshire_

Sent: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 6:29 PM
To: Lopez, Tirzio, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Fwd: Cougar trapping

—————————— Forwarded message ----—----

From: robert hodshire |

Date: Tue, Sep 10, 2019, 6:00 PM
Subject: Cougar trapping

Tor Chanc

Let me offer my congratulations on your new position.

I'm here to discuss lions and lion trapping. | have a great admiration for them as an Apex

predator.

In the past we were forced to do kill permit here. Most hunters drive through Eastern New

Mexico to lion hunt. The game and fish claims we don't have appropriate habitats

Now in past I've killed to lions trapping on kill permits. One trapping under the new rule.

Eastern New Mexico zone m never dents the kill quota. We need trapping as a tool.

Even Apex predator needs a predator to maintain balance. Let's don't get out of balance by

laws and rules like our neighbors
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From: I

To: |

Cc: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules; Sloane, Michael B., DGF; Comins Ill, James C., DGF; Liley, Stewart, DGF
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Fwd: Cougar trapping

Date: Wednesday, September 11, 2019 12:00:50 PM

Attachments: Screenshot 20190910-174552.png

Screenshot 20190910-174527.png
Screenshot 20190910-174430.png
Screenshot 20190910-174412.png
Screenshot 20190910-174536.png
Screenshot 20190910-174457.png

Hello, Mr. Hodshire,

Thank you for your email, comments and attachments. | will make sure they become part of
the official record for the bear and cougar rule making process, and | will discuss them with
Department staff working on the proposed rule.

Enjoy your day,

JOanna Prukop,-

From: robert hodshire_

Sent: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 6:25 PM
To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Fwd: Cougar trapping

—————————— Forwarded message ----—----

From: robert hodshire |

Date: Tue, Sep 10, 2019, 6:00 PM
Subject: Cougar trapping

Tor Chance [

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

Date: Monday, September 16, 2019 9:35:02 AM
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

From: robert hodshire ||| G
Date: Tue, Sep 10, 2019, 6:00 PM

Subject: Cougar trapping

Tor Chance

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
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Lion trapping concerns
Date: Wednesday, July 31, 2019 3:59:57 PM

FYI....email conversation with Casey Davis re: cougar trapping regulations

Joanna Prukop, Chair
NM State Game Commission

From: Casey Dovis I

Sent: Sunday, July 28, 2019 8:34:50 PM
To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF
Subject: Re: [EXT] Lion trapping concerns

Thanks Joanna,

I definitely do give your comments lots of consideration. As I hope you do mine. I do
understand it was not always a legal way of hunting. I just don't want this to be the gate way
on a total trapping ban.

Thanks for your time and consideration.

On Sun, Jul 28, 2019, 8:18 PM Prukop, Joanna, DGF_ wrote:

Hi, Casey,

I've said my piece; so all I'll add is that the 2019 State Legislature did ban coyote calling
contests in New Mexico because of citizen opposition to them. It is inappropriate and risky
to have the State Legislature writing our wildlife management rules, but they have the
power to do so. | do not want that path to become a routine way for citizen activists to
manage game animals. Sport trapping of mountain lion was not always allowed, probably
with good reason; especially since we have other ways of dealing with legitimate
depredation complaints. This is not an all or nothing proposition. Lions can be hunted via
other legal means. Again, | hope you'll give my comments consideration.....JPrukop

From: Casey Dovis I

Sent: Sunday, July 28, 2019 7:50 PM
To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF
Subject: Re: [EXT] Lion trapping concerns

Joanna,
| appreciate you getting back to me.


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

| do understand that you want to help with our hunting, fishing, and trapping privilege's.
But | do not think you are helping at all by eliminateing one to save the rest. Doing this you
are opening a door that you will not be able to close. A door where the rest of our hunting,
trapping, and fishing privilege's will follow and leave us with no privilege's. These laws and
out rulings start small, the quickly escalate with no return.

By eliminateing these practices you leave us with no way to teach our kids and our families
how we were once raised. No way to keep the tradition alive. The respect for nature and it's
creatures are strongest with those that participate in these practices. We are not all out in
the woods shooting every animal in our sites. That's why the game and fish management
requires tags, and mandatory checks on lion kills wether they are trapped or shot.

Eliminateing the trapping of lions is NOT saving anything. No matter what you believe.
There is still an enforcement on the number of lions killed in each individual unit.

It still seams very political to me. Your eliminateing lion trapping to please someone that
just either doesn't understand trapping or quite frankly doesn't like it. No science behind it.
No studies. If you were eliminateing it to help the population that's one thing but to
eliminate it cause you feel like it, that's political, and social and is not right in anyway form
or fashion.

Always remember hunting, fishing, and trapping might be a privilege but it's a way of life
that you are threatening to destroy. It's as much of a privilege as those trying to change it.

| appreciate all of your time,
As a conserned trapper, Hunter ,and Guide.

On Sun, Jul 28, 2019, 7:02 PM Prukop, Joanna, DGF < v ot

Hello Casey and Andre,

| received emails from both of you about the Game Department’s suggestion that the
Game Commission eliminate sport trapping of mountain lions. | thought | would respond
to both of you in one email to express my views. | understand that both of you are
opposed to such an action, but | would like to give you some of my thoughts, and ask you
to think about them before deciding to further oppose the Department’s
recommendation.

| am concerned about the overall future of trapping. | support regulated trapping of
furbearers and doing so under the best management practices that have been developed
by trappers working in conjunction with state wildlife agencies and the Association of Fish
and Wildlife Agencies. | also understand and applaud the “Public Trust Doctrine”, which
our country adopted when we became a nation, and which says that “wildlife belongs to



the people.” | want to point out that that means ALL people. | also want to state that as it
stands, hunting, fishing and trapping are privileges, not rights. And as such, they can be
taken away at any time with proper authority.

Therefore, | believe one of my responsibilities as a Game Commissioner is to protect the
privilege of hunting, fishing and trapping in today’s New Mexican society, culture and
political environment. | think sport trapping of mountain lions, considered an iconic
species by many, is very risky in today’s society. | feel whether or not we trap lions is more
a social issue than it is a political issue. However, it is one that could quickly turn political.

I’'m asking you, as one of the few individuals who ”sport” traps for lions, if you would
please think about what I've said. In the 2019 NM State Legislative Session there was a
bill introduced to severely limit trapping as a legitimate activity in our state. Some would
like to ban it entirely. We run the risk of that occurring if we as responsible sportsmen
and women aren’t aware of our vulnerabilities, and | suggest, we must act proactively to
keep our activities properly regulated to garner the support, or at least no opposition
from, those who could act against our interests (remembering that wildlife belongs to
everyone in New Mexico, including all those who vote).

Again, it is my sincere hope that you’ll think about the things I've said here. | believe we
really aren’t on opposite sides when it comes down to the bottom line. | hope you’ll see it
that way too.

As a professional wildlife biologist, | have access to a number of professional articles
written on these subjects buy scientists who are also hunters and trappers. Please let me
know if you’d like me to sent you any of these papers to read.

Thank you for expressing your concerns to the Commission. We are here to serve you.
We all care about your issues, and we all hope to make wise decisions about how our
wildlife management activities are handled going forward.

Sincerely,

Joanna Prukop-



Joanna Prukop,-

From: Casey Davis

Sent: Friday, July 26, 2019 9:48:38 PM

To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF;
Lopez, Tirzio, DGF; Soules, David, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Lion trapping concerns

| just wanted to email you all and tell you that y'all's lion trapping idea is discrimination
against new mexico trappers landowners and all sportsmen and is not acceptable.
Decisions should be science based not political. As yall even stated the decision has no
basis on science or wildlife management.

I've been lion hunting for about 10 years now and have never seen or even felt
like the population was affected by trapping.

If NM wants to better there game and fish management maybe yall should look

into the science side of it and stop worrying about the political crap that's ruining
are state and livelyhood.

Thanks your concerned lion Hunter.



From: I

To: DGE-Furbearer-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Lion trapping rule changes
Date: Monday, September 30, 2019 8:37:42 PM

Please see below.

From: shellythectord [

Sent: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 6:48 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Lion trapping rule changes

As a New Mexico Trapper | am offended by the very laxed use of the word recreational
trapping. | don’t trap as just a little thing to do. | trap to help my rancher protect his livestock.
You are making it where my rancher can’t call me to take a lion off his property. | have to tell
him how sorry | am, but | will need to release this lion and you will have to call an already over
loaded game and fish officer to take care of this, so let’s just watch this lion continue take your
cattle down until someone can get hear. The facts that you are missing, and mind you it’s very
important. As a trapper | purchase a lion tag to trap...and hear it is, the facts, read carefully!!
#1 | purchase the tag. #2 | can only take 2 lion per trapping season. Not 30, not 15, not 45. 2!!
#3 | can only take them on private and State Trust Land. | don’t have access to all public land
to use my lion tags like houndsman or hunter. #4 | can only trap from November to March.
You are taking away a tool for me and my rancher.

Thank You,
Shelly Thedford

Sent from Yahoo Mail for iPhone



mailto:DGF-Furbearer-Rules@state.nm.us
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/bbTmC9ryZxI3kmLToFLjd?domain=overview.mail.yahoo.com

From: I

To: DGE-Furbearer-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Lion Trapping
Date: Friday, September 20, 2019 12:52:49 PM

From: shellythectord [

Sent: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 1:33 PM

To: David Soules; Lopez, Tirzio, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF; R.Salizar-Henry; Prukop, Joanna, DGF;
Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Lion Trapping

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
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/HKKBCVOkG8H9Kl9iG2RQX?domain=overview.mail.yahoo.com

From: I

To: DGE-Furbearer-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Mountain lions
Date: Monday, September 30, 2019 9:19:48 PM

Please see comments below.

From: il Applegate

Sent: Monday, September 16, 2019 7:15 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Mountain lions

Dear Commissioner:

I have been harvesting mountain lions in Texas since 1992. Population estimates, based on genetic
diversification studies conducted in the Trans Pecos area (West part of the state) conclude that numbers
are stable. Stable enough that no further studies were deemed necessary and no attempts have been
made to interfere with harvest.

Since the State does not attempt to control the numbers, landowners and tenants have the option to
implement control measures, at no cost to the public, or to raise lions. This system has worked quite well,
as those who want lions have them and those who prefer to raise deer, elk, aoudad, antelope, bighorn
and other exotics may do so.

Revenue from hunting ungulates far exceeds any revenue that could be generated from a lion hunting
program. The rule of thumb of a lion killing one deer per week is low and unrealistic as females raising
kittens will clean up a carcass in one sitting. Further, during warm weather, kills will spoil quickly and lions
typically do not return for a second feeding. Even using the low estimate of 52 kills per year, lions are
significant competitors with humans for game and trophies.

Since lion numbers are held in check with this system, wildlife abounds and livestock attacks are
infrequent. Further, the only reported attacks on humans have been in the Big Bend National Park, where
they are completely protected.

Attempting to maintain lion numbers at a point that will give the public a rare opportunity to actually see
one will have adverse effects on many other wildlife species, livestock and people.

Sincerely,

Bill Applegate


mailto:DGF-Furbearer-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Mountain lions
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:53:07 AM

From: Bl Applegate I

Sent: Monday, September 16, 2019 7:13 PM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Mountain lions

Dear Commissioner:

| have been harvesting mountain lions in Texas since 1992. Population estimates, based on genetic
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
Subject: FW: [EXT] New Mexico Bears
Date: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 11:46:55 AM

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

Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 5:44 AM
To: Liley, Stewart, DGF

Subject: Fw: [EXT] New Mexico Bears

rrom N I

Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 5:24 AM

To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Gail.Cramer@state.nn.us;
Tirzio.Lopez@state.nmus; Soules, David, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF

Subject: [EXT] New Mexico Bears

Dear Commissioners: | am a native New Mexican and currently live in the Sandia Mountains. |
appreciate the work that you do preserving the mountain ecosystems and wildlife. | receive regular
information from BearWatch and there is now concern about the current hunting practices
regarding bears.

BearWatch now has a concern that too many bear sows are being killed statewide in the hunt. The
sow limit is now set at 318, yet, for the last four years, the actual harvest averages about 180 not
counting depredation deaths. The Game department is proposing no changes for bear for the next
four years.

Given that the average ages of the sows being killed statewide are now a low (6.5 years) and
dropping to the Red Line of age 6 (Hornocker bear study found NM’s sows were on average 5.7
years old before their first cub) BearWatch has met with 6 Game Commissioners in recent weeks to
address this concern. We proposed that no more than 100 sows, including depredation, be killed
statewide in future harvests until harvested sow ages show that they are rebounding to viable age
ranges.
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Thank you for your consideration of this issue.
Sincerely

S. Jane Allen



From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] New Mexico Bears
Date: Thursday, August 29, 2019 8:00:12 AM

rrom: I

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

Dear Commissioners: | am a native New Mexican and currently live in the Sandia Mountains. | appreciate
the work that you do preserving the mountain ecosystems and wildlife. | receive regular information from
BearWatch and there is now concern about the current hunting practices regarding bears.

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

Given that the average ages of the sows being killed statewide are now a low (6.5 years) and dropping to
the Red Line of age 6 (Hornocker bear study found NM’s sows were on average 5.7 years old before their
first cub) BearWatch has met with 6 Game Commissioners in recent weeks to address this concern. We
proposed that no more than 100 sows , including depredation, be killed statewide in future harvests until
harvested sow ages show that they are rebounding to viable age ranges.

Thank you for your consideration of this issue.
Sincerely

S. Jane Allen
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fw: [EXT] New Mexico Wild Sheep Foundation Comments on Cougar Rule
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:49:38 AM

Attachments: Cougar Rule Comments Ltr.pdf

From: eryan earte::

Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 2:31 PM

To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez,
Tirzio, DGF; Soules, David, DGF; Jeremy.Verbach@state.nm.us; David Heft;
lhoughton@sportsmensalliance.org; Clay Brewer

Subject: [EXT] New Mexico Wild Sheep Foundation Comments on Cougar Rule

Attached please find the NMWSF comments on the proposed cougar rule changes.(2 pages)

If you need to contact us, our address is:

Thank You Bryan Bartlett,_


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

"Putting and Keeping Sheep on the Mountain."

Sept 16, 2019

NM State Game Commission
PO Box 25112
Santa Fe, NM 87504

Joanna Prukop
Roberta Salazar-Henry
Jimmy Bates

Gail Cramer

Tirzio Lopez

Davis Soules

Jeremy Vesbach

Subject: New Mexico Wild Sheep Foundation comment on the proposed changes in the Cougar Rule,
19.31.11 NMAC

Dear NM Game Commissioners,

The New Mexico Wild Sheep Foundation is a 501-c-3 non-profit organization established in 1992,
dedicated to the restoration, preservation and conservation of wild bighorn sheep in New Mexico. We
are a chapter of the Wild Sheep Foundation headquartered in Bozeman, MT. We work closely with the
New Mexico Department of Game and Fish and other Wild Sheep Foundation chapters and affiliates to
promote bighorn sheep conservation, increase BHS numbers, establish/restore new herds, protect BHS
against disease and educate the public on BHS conservation.

The purpose of this letter is to express our opposition to the proposed cougar rule change. Specifically,
we do not agree with the proposal to “No longer allow traps or foot snares as a method of sport harvest
for cougar”.

e Cougar management is a key component in increasing and maintaining bighorn sheep
populations in New Mexico. This is especially important in Desert Bighorn Sheep (DBHS) areas.
The need to manage cougar populations in DBHS ranges was clearly demonstrated in the Fra
Cristobal Mountains between 1995-2000 and in a DBHS lamb mortality study conducted by
NMSU/NMDGF in 2012-2014 in the Peloncillo Mountains.

In the Fra Cristobals, it was not until cougar management was initiated in 2001 that the DBHS
population stabilized and started to increase. This included two significant transplants





"Putting and Keeping Sheep on the Mountain."

Therefore, we believe it is clear that cougar management is a key factor in successful DBHS
population management.

e In 2019 a total of 43 cougars were sport harvested in CMZ’s G, H, L and Q. These are zones that
DBHS inhabit. Even though the number of cougars taken by trapping may be low within this
total, this harvest represents an important part of the overall cougar management in those
zones. If sport trapping is banned in these zones, the NMDGF will be required to make up the
harvest shortfal, if it is to maintain the same level of DBHS/cougar management. This will
result in significant increased cost and oversight for the NMDGF.

e The latest NMDGF desert bighorn sheep census indicates the population in the Hatchet and
Peloncillos has decreased significantly. In the Hatchets the DBHS population has decreased by
35% over the last 4 years. This coincides with the increased observations of cougars both in the
field and with field cameras. The probable cause is predation by cougars. Any reduction in
sport harvested cougars in these two mountain ranges will only make the situation worse.

e Sport harvest of cougars includes a combination of bow/rifle hunting, hunting with dogs and
trapping/snaring. In typical DBHS terrain the use of dogs in place of trapping/snaring is not
practical. Dogs are not easily able to track and pursue cougars in our dry and, rocky mountain
areas. Also the use of dogs represents a significant risk to houndsmen. Many houndsmen will
not hunt cougars in the high-cliff areas for fear their dogs will be injured or killed. Therefore,
the only practical alternative to trapping/snaring is hunting with firearms or bows. Once again,
this highlights that any loss in sport harvesting of DBHS by trapping will require the NMDGF
makeup the difference through their cougar management program.

Based on past studies/experience, current data and field observations, it is clear that the management
of cougars, especially in desert bighorn habitat, is necessary to maintain or increase desert bighorn
sheep populations. If adequate cougar management is eliminated, the DBHS population will decrease
and will eventually be eliminated. Along with that loss of wild sheep will be the further deterioration of
our mule deer populations, which are already at very low levels in our desert mountain ranges.

Therefore, we see no technical or scientific justification for eliminating the sport trapping of cougars,
especially in desert bighorn sheep areas. The New Mexico Wild Sheep Foundation recommends the
Cougar Rule 19.31.11 proposal not be implemented.

Thank you, and if you have comments or questions please feel free to contact me.

w

Bryan Bartlett, Pres, NMWSF 575-635-3499






From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fw: [EXT] New Mexico Wild Sheep Foundation Comments on Cougar Rule
Date: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 4:32:03 PM

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

e

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
Subject: Fw: [EXT] New Mexico"s bear population and hunt
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:45:55 AM

From: Yolanda Garcia ||| G

Sent: Tuesday, August 27, 2019 4:24 PM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] New Mexico's bear population and hunt

Commissioner Jimmy Bates
New Mexico Game & Fish Commission

Dear Commissioner Bates:

Please accept this e-mail letter to you as my public input for the Commission’s deliberation on
statewide bear hunt.

First let me say, I do not campaign for nor support an anti-hunting posture. I am a life-long
resident of New Mexico. I come from a long family line of hunters and sportsman, who take
the view that all things (hunting) must be done in moderation and with sensibility.

I ask only for sensible and sound management to ensure a viable bear population. This can be
done with reasonable, conservative bear management and implementation of the BearWatch’s
Recommendation to the New Mexico Game Commission for Black Bear Management, August
2019.

Please, stop the damage that is befalling New Mexico’s bear population before it is too late
and these magnificent creatures no longer exist in our beautiful state.

Respectfully,

Yolanda Garcia


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] New Mexico"s bear population and hunt
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:50:11 AM

Please see comments below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 12:15 PM

To: Yolanda Garcia

Subject: Re: [EXT] New Mexico's bear population and hunt

Hello Yolanda:

Thank you for the input. | am also a life-long resident of New Mexico, and | am thrilled every
time | see a bear in the wild. Even for someone who spends as much time outdoors as | do, it
is a very special experience. | appreciate that you do not support an anti-hunting posture, and
| absolutely agree that we should adhere to the concepts of "moderation and sensibility". |
have spent considerable time visiting with leaders of the Sandia Bear Watch organization, and
| am confident that the department is listening and is striving to implement a sensible and
sound management approach for bears.

Thanks again,
David

From: Yolanda Garcia |||

Sent: Tuesday, August 27, 2019 4:24 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT] New Mexico's bear population and hunt

Commissioner David Soules
New Mexico Game & Fish Commission

Dear Commissioner Soules:

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
Subject: FW: [EXT] New Mexico"s bear population and hunt
Date: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 11:47:11 AM

Stewart Liley

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

Sent: Tuesday, August 27, 2019 4:51 PM

To: Liley, Stewart, DGF

Subject: Fwd: [EXT] New Mexico's bear population and hunt

———————— Original Message --------
Subject: [EXT] New Mexico's bear population and hunt

From: Yolanda Garcia_

Sent: Tuesday, August 27, 2019, 4:25 PM

To: "Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF"_

CC:

Commissioner Roberta Salazar-Henry, Vice-Chair
New Mexico Game & Fish Commission

Dear Commissioner Salazar-Henry:

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
Date: Thursday, August 29, 2019 8:00:53 AM

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
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From: I - b:ht of I

To: DGE-Furbearer-Rules

Subject: FW: [EXT] New Trapping and Cougar Rules
Date: Wednesday, October 02, 2019 9:15:45 AM
----- Original Message-----

From: chad stotts

Sent: Tuesday, October 1, 2019 10:35 PM

To: ISPA, DGF <dgfinformationspecia@state.nm.us>
Subject: [EXT] New Trapping and Cougar Rules

To whom it may concern, [ have read the new rules that are proposed for the fur bearers and cougars. For the
cougars I fail to understand why the bag limits for the cougars are not changing but we will no longer be able to trap
or foot snare them anymore. Is it inhumane or unsporting to trap a cougars? I think if you where to take a pole of the
men who have achieved this task they would show you how ridiculous these accusations are. It has been a dream of
mine to trap a cougar and every year [ buy tags to try and make it happen. I have also purchased specific traps just
for this. It would be very disappointing to see this dream and money go to waste.

As for the fur bearer and trapping changes are proposed. I feel that these changes are both unnecessary and a
violation of everything I hold dear. Many of us count on harvesting fur to supplement income for our families.
Adding regulations to trapping makes it harder for us to do this. It’s like asking someone to build a house but they
can only us a hand saw that is six inches long with fine grade teeth only. It makes no sense. These changes that you
propose will be doing exactly that. Another question is what are we supposed to do with the trapping equipment that
we have spent thousands of dollars on that will no longer meet the new standards? I fail to understand how the
methods and standards that we have been using for years are no longer except able. No cares and respects these
animals more than trappers. The rules that are currently in place are plenty humane for the animals that are being
trapped in the state of New Mexico. If anything they are to strict already. We would do good to take after a state like

became the first state to outlaw trapping all together. By allowing these changes into our state you are putting us one
giant leap closer to this for the state of New Mexico. Trapping and selling fur is one of the heritages that founded
this great country. Do we not respect the ancestors and heritage that founded this great nation? My son is 12 years
old and will probably use fur as a way to help support his family as well. Please don’t make me tell him that we
have failed him and future generations. Attached you will find a picture of him with his first load of fur he sold last
year. Don’t make it harder to achieve this!!!! I can’t make any of the meetings posted but I would like to have my
opinion heard by someone who is part of the decision making process. Please feel free to share this as many time
and with whom ever you see fit. Also please contact me if there is anything else I can do to help this cause. Thanks
for hearing me and God Bless-

Chad Stotts
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From: I

To: Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Cc: Liley, Stewart, DGF; Comins Ill, James C., DGF
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Opposed to all Trapping Restrictions & Bans
Date: Wednesday, September 11, 2019 11:40:11 AM

Hi, Roberta,

Just FYI....the email address for you in "reply all" for this email bounced back; as did the Bear &
Cougar address (which I've been having issues with all week). So just resending to both....jp

From: Prukop, Joanna, DGF

Sent: Wednesday, September 11, 2019 10:19 AM

To: shelly thedford; R.Salizar-Henry; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez, Tirzio, DGF; David
Soules; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF

Cc: Sloane, Michael B., DGF; Comins lll, James C., DGF; Liley, Stewart, DGF; DGF-Bear-Cougar-
Rule@state.nm.us; DGF-Furbearer-Rules

Subject: Re: [EXT] Opposed to all Trapping Restrictions & Bans

Good morning, Ms. Thedford,

Thank you for your comments. The other Commissioners and |, and Department staff, will
take them into account and make then part of the official record for both the furbearer rule
making and lion hunting rule making. | will also verify your comment that [sport] "Trappers
only took 13 this past season. Out of those 13, 9 were depredation."

Thank you again for your input,

Joanna Prukop, Chair
NM State Game Commission

From: shelly tealord

Sent: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 7:07 PM

To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF; R.Salizar-Henry; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez, Tirzio, DGF;
David Soules; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Opposed to all Trapping Restrictions & Bans

There are so many reasons for me to oppose the recommended bans on lion trapping and all
types of trapping in general. Now let’s get started.

To start with, as a trapper and an individual of New Mexico | feel very judged, very ran the
heck over, very bullied, very discriminated against because my way of life, my job, my living is
so disregarded by so many. All the people who judge what | do are the same people who take
and round up Ferrell cats and stray dogs, by live traps and catch poles, by the way, cut off and
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cut out their reproductive systems all in the name of supporting healthier animals and to
prevent over population. Now, think about what | just said...altering the population of wild
animals!! How is what | do any different than what they do. What | do creates healthier
animals all the way around. Not to mention the growth of other species and the safety of
livestock and the people in the areas | trap and no one pays me to do it. | pay our state to help
manage and conserve wildlife.

Now that | have pointed out theHypocrisy of the left, let’s talk about the facts. The
percentage of lions taken is conciderable small. The overall take of lions is well under the
allowed numbers across the state. Trappers only took 13 this past season. Out of those 13, 9
were depredation. Remember to do your research and read where all this “lettting the left”
and the “save all animals people” have gotten the great state of California. The California lion
is starving because the “save the whale people” are killing them. Run the Game Department
by scientific facts and not by your heart.

Now for the restrictions. If everyone stays in their lanes and follows the laws, like NM leash
laws for pets, and no one in their right mind let’s their child run the NM desert from
November 1st to March 15th barefooted, so that’s a crock that kids are going to break their
toes off from foothold traps. If this is happening, we don’t have a trapping problem, we have a
mental health problem in our state. If we as Trappers are 25 yards off marked trails and
mapped roads and tanks and the hikers, bird watchers, and day walkers leash their pets and
they don’t tamper with traps (against the law) then everyone should be fine. Enforce that all
nature and outdoors people buy permits and are required to take a safety class to identify
where and how traps are set to avoid mishaps. | believe this to be true even in the areas you
are concidering closing down to trapping all together.

Don’t bend to the LEFTIES!! Protect our wildlife! Conserve our wildlife!l Don’t be
CALIFORNIA!

Sent from Yahoo Mail for iPhone


https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/tV8nC0RmZlIQJjXTDR_aM?domain=overview.mail.yahoo.com

From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Please consider my stance on banning cougar trapping
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 6:06:48 AM

From: kaThavn e [

Sent: Wednesday, September 4, 2019 6:18 PM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Please consider my stance on banning cougar trapping

Please consider my stance on trapping cougar, they have no
natural predators other than humans should there numbers
remain unchecked you will begin to see an unbalance which
increases the risk of cougar attacks on humans this has been
scientifically proven in places like Culp Creek Oregan.

CULP CREEK, Ore. (AP) -- Cougar numbers
continue to increase since voters approved a
1994 measure that banned the use of dogs to
hunt the big cats, and their encroaching
population is creating problems.

Washington voters approved the same ban
last year and state Department of Fish and
Wildlife officials fear the same overpopulation
problem may occur in this state. But because
Oregon's law was passed two years earlier,
the population changes there have been
easier to measure.

The number of cougars taken by hunters has
fallen from a high of 187 in 1992 to 47 in
1996, according to the Oregon Department of
Fish and Wildlife.

Pete Janelli, 80, who farms 150 acres near
this town east of Cottage Grove, says he lost
four goats to cougars last year, and he lost his
quarterhorse in January.

"She was down, just about dead when we
found her," Janelli said. "We had to shoot her
because she was in such misery."

The federal Animal Damage Control officer,
Jack Spencer, examined the dead mare and
confirmed it had been attacked by a cougar.
He wrote in his report that, based on the size
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of the cougar's tracks, it is one of the largest
cats he's encountered.

Since then, Janelli has had hunters and dogs
on his property, which is allowed after
livestock damage. But they had no success.

He believes farmers ought to be able to call in
the hounds when they spot a cougar, and not
have to wait until they lose livestock.

"I'm not saying go out and butcher them all,
you know," he said. "It's their country, you
really can't blame them. But we've got to get
some control on them."

In Lane County, the number of people calling
with damage complaints or alleged cougar
sightings has risen from perhaps four a year
in the 1980s to an average of 115 per year
between 1994 and 1996, said Bill Castillo, a
district wildlife biologist.

"We get calls every week, sometimes more
than one a day," Castillo said.

People opposed to hunting cougars say
statistics on cougar sightings are seldom
verified and claim some cases may be
manufactured by hunting organizations.

"We think the numbers and the paperwork are
being shuffled in a way that makes it look
much worse than it is," said Brooks Fahy,
executive director of the Predator Defense
Institute in Eugene.

"We don't think much has changed. Cougars
don't reproduce that fast."

No one has ever been killed by a cougar in
Oregon and Castillo said he can verify only
one attack on a human. But the Fish and
Wildlife Department office in Springfield has
received calls of cougars lying in people's
driveways in the middle of the day, climbing
on decks and peering into windows.

"It's behavior we never heard of in the past,”
Castillo said.



Castillo believes the population increase is
such that some parts of the state have
reached the animal's "carrying capacity." With
territorial adult cougars occupying forested
habitat, younger cats have been forced to the
Willamette Valley floor.

"Now we have cougars and people trying to
live in the same area, and that has created
lots of conflict," Castillo said. "These cats are
having kittens, and those kittens are growing
up with the sights, sounds and smells of
humans."

Please consider my opposition to the ban on
cougar trapping. We need to keep a balance.
Those who forget the past are doomed to
repeat it.

Banning this is a public safety concern.

Cougars have attacked over 125 people in North America
and there numbers are on the rise due to hunting & trapping
restrictions. Cougars have killed over 2 dozen people in the
last century. Banning trapping will result in greater numbers
of cougars increasing the risk of predation on humans and
you will have blood on your hands. Wild animals do not
discriminate by banning your putting all of us at greater risk of
attack simply by increasing their numbers. Statistics show
overpopulation of cougars has resulted in them moving closer
to big cities such as downtown Chicago for instance, when
there are too many no one will be safe if the public doesn't
have a right to defend themselves because people like you
protected the wild animal and not them. Tell that to the 8 year
old Colorado boy attacked and bit on the head just a few
weeks ago, by banning you are telling all the people that
have been attacked you care more about the animal than a
human life. Think carefully a trapper could save your life.



From: I

To: DGF-Furbearer-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Please consider my stance on cougar trapping stopping this is a public safety concern
Date: Thursday, September 05, 2019 12:54:50 PM

See email below.

From: kaThavn e [

Sent: Wednesday, September 4, 2019 6:22 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Please consider my stance on cougar trapping stopping this is a public safety concern

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

CULP CREEK, Ore. (AP) -- Cougar numbers continue to increase since voters approved a 1994
measure that banned the use of dogs to hunt the big cats, and their encroaching population is
creating problems.

Washington voters approved the same ban last year and state Department of Fish and Wildlife
officials fear the same overpopulation problem may occur in this state. But because Oregon's
law was passed two years earlier, the population changes there have been easier to measure.

The number of cougars taken by hunters has fallen from a high of 187 in 1992 to 47 in 1996,
according to the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife.

Pete Janelli, 80, who farms 150 acres near this town east of Cottage Grove, says he lost four
goats to cougars last year, and he lost his quarterhorse in January.

"She was down, just about dead when we found her," Janelli said. "We had to shoot her
because she was in such misery."

The federal Animal Damage Control officer, Jack Spencer, examined the dead mare and
confirmed it had been attacked by a cougar. He wrote in his report that, based on the size of
the cougar's tracks, it is one of the largest cats he's encountered.

Since then, Janelli has had hunters and dogs on his property, which is allowed after livestock
damage. But they had no success.

He believes farmers ought to be able to call in the hounds when they spot a cougar, and not
have to wait until they lose livestock.


mailto:DGF-Furbearer-Rules@state.nm.us

"I'm not saying go out and butcher them all, you know," he said. "It's their country, you really
can't blame them. But we've got to get some control on them."

In Lane County, the number of people calling with damage complaints or alleged cougar
sightings has risen from perhaps four a year in the 1980s to an average of 115 per year
between 1994 and 1996, said Bill Castillo, a district wildlife biologist.

"We get calls every week, sometimes more than one a day," Castillo said.

People opposed to hunting cougars say statistics on cougar sightings are seldom verified and
claim some cases may be manufactured by hunting organizations.

"We think the numbers and the paperwork are being shuffled in a way that makes it look
much worse than it is," said Brooks Fahy, executive director of the Predator Defense Institute
in Eugene.

"We don't think much has changed. Cougars don't reproduce that fast."

No one has ever been killed by a cougar in Oregon and Castillo said he can verify only one
attack on a human. But the Fish and Wildlife Department office in Springfield has received
calls of cougars lying in people's driveways in the middle of the day, climbing on decks and
peering into windows.

"It's behavior we never heard of in the past," Castillo said.

Castillo believes the population increase is such that some parts of the state have reached the

animal's "carrying capacity." With territorial adult cougars occupying forested habitat, younger
cats have been forced to the Willamette Valley floor.

"Now we have cougars and people trying to live in the same area, and that has created lots of

conflict," Castillo said. "These cats are having kittens, and those kittens are growing up with
the sights, sounds and smells of humans."

Please consider my opposition to the ban on cougar trapping. We need to keep a balance.
Those who forget the past are doomed to repeat it.

Banning this is a public safety concern.

Cougars have attacked over 125 people in North America and there numbers are on the rise



due to hunting & trapping restrictions. Cougars have killed over 2 dozen people in the last
century. Banning trapping will result in greater numbers of cougars increasing the risk of
predation on humans and you will have blood on your hands. Wild animals do not discriminate
by banning your putting all of us at greater risk of attack simply by increasing their numbers.
Statistics show overpopulation of cougars has resulted in them moving closer to big cities such
as downtown Chicago for instance, when there are too many no one will be safe if the public
doesn't have a right to defend themselves because people like you protected the wild animal
and not them. Tell that to the 8 year old Colorado boy attacked and bit on the head just a few
weeks ago, by banning you are telling all the people that have been attacked you care more
about the animal than a human life. Think carefully a trapper could save your life.



From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Please support the proposals of the Sandia Mountain BearWatch organization. Thank you.
Date: Thursday, August 29, 2019 7:58:04 AM

From: Alan Zingle [

Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 3:14 PM

To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Please support the proposals of the Sandia Mountain BearWatch organization. Thank
you.


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: Forman, Nicholas, DGF
Subject: FW: [EXT] RE: BearWatch on Bear Hunt Dates
Date: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 2:13:57 PM

Don’t know if you received this one or not, but here it is for the Record.

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

Sent: Saturday, September 07, 2019 5:29 PM

To: Liley, Stewart, DGF; Goldstein, Elise J., DGF
Subject: Fwd: [EXT] RE: BearWatch on Bear Hunt Dates

Comment for beat and cougar rule

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
recipient[s] and may contain confidential and/or privileged information. Any unauthorized review,
use, copying, disclosure or distribution is prohibited, unless specifically provided under the New
Mexico Inspection of Public Records Act. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the
sender at once and destroy all copies of this message.

Begin forwarded message:


mailto:Nicholas.Forman@state.nm.us

rrom: I

Date: September 7, 2019 at 5:18:17 PM MDT

To: <Michael.Sloane@state.nm.us>
Subject: [EXT] RE: BearWatch on Bear Hunt Dates

Dear Director Sloane,

Officer Cimbal recently called on behalf of you to ask where BearWatch stood on the
bear hunt being changed with some southern zones closed in August and the hunt
extended through December. After some thought, here is where BearWatch stands on
these bear hunt dates.

BearWatch has always believed that August is too hot to hunt bears in a southwestern
state like NM, both for the bears, hunters and their dogs.

e We believe it makes for an unfair hunt. In August, the acorns haven’t yet
matured which means the bears are being pursued by hunters/dogs when they
are not in prime condition. The bears that are pursued but not killed lose the
little weight they’ve been able to gain over the summer time.

e Most important, closing only Southern Zones in August puts more strain on the
rest of the Zones and more strain on sows populations that BW believes are in
trouble.

e Pushing the hunt into December makes for an unfair and unethical hunt.

e Dogs disturb denned pregnant sows and sows with cubs. Some spooked sows
will not return to their cubs/den.

e In December, the male bears that haven’t yet denned are in a walking-
hibernation mode. They have fecal plugs, are not eating or drinking and are
slow to react to pursuing hunters and/or dogs which makes it easier for the
hunters to bag their bear.

e New Mexico now has one of the longest bear hunts in the US. A Sept.-Nov.
hunt gives generous time for bear hunters and makes for a fair and ethical
hunt.

| won’t be able to be at the Cloudcroft Commission meeting but our BearWatch Board
Member Kate Fry will be there to state BearWatch’s concerns and recommendation for
the 2020 bear hunt. After seeing NMG&F stats in regard to harvested sows ages, we
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hope the Commission and the Department will come together to institute more
conservative management to stop the troubling downward age trend of New Mexico’s
harvested sows. Good bear biology tells us that we must protect the sow population if
we are to have an overall viable bear population.

With regard,
Jan Hayes



From: I

To: Forman, Nicholas. DGF; Liley. Stewart, DGF

Subject: FW: [EXT] Re: seeking comment on proposed bear season dates
Date: Thursday, September 05, 2019 5:03:47 PM

FYI

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

From: Mary Katherine Ray

Sent: Saturday, August 31, 2019 9:41 AM

To: Goldstein, Elise J., DGF; DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules; Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta,
DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez, Tirzio, DGF; Soules, David, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy,
DGF

Subject: [EXT] Re: seeking comment on proposed bear season dates

Hello Elise,

Thank you for letting us know about this proposed change to the bear hunting season. Given
the heat in August, using dogs to run bears seems harsh on both bears and dogs. I wonder why
BMZ's 11,14, 8 and 9 aren't also included in this season shift. Temperatures are only going to
be rising. [ am postulating that this proposed shift is being made for the more southern zones
because of this as you did not offer a reason. But the latitude of zone 11 is equal to or south of
the latitude of portions of zone 10. The same is mostly true of Zone 14. Zones 8 and 9 along
with the other two have experienced temperatures in the past couple of weeks hovering close
to or over 90 degrees. Perhaps there is another reason for this proposal and if so, I urge that the
heat be a consideration too.

Also, here is an anecdotal example of an, I hope, unintended consequence of the heat. We
live in BMZ 10 (game unit 17). About a week ago, a trailer full of baying hunting dogs went
up our canyon onto the National Forest in late afternoon almost near sundown. It came out
again at about 9:00 the next morning. The rules say that dogs hunting bears must be released
during legal hunting hours which can be as late as 1/2 hour after sunset. I suspect that is when
these dogs were released when it is much cooler, which is now legal, and treed the bear during
the night. In the morning, the hunters killed the treed bear and they came out afterwards. The
practice however most certainly comes very close to, if not outright crossing, the boundary of
the prohibition of night hunting.

Whether or not the dates are shifted, there should be a better rule about releasing dogs so the


mailto:Nicholas.Forman@state.nm.us
mailto:Stewart.Liley@state.nm.us

hunt is effectively not happening at night.

Sincerely,

Mai Katherine Rai
On Fri, Aug 30, 2019 at 2:33 PM Goldstein, Elise ., DGF ||| G

wrote:

As you may have seen at last week’s Game Commission meeting, the Department is
considering shifting the bear season dates in BMZs 10, 12, and 13 2-weeks later. The new
dates would be Sept 1 — December 15. We are seeking public input on this proposal. If you
would like to provide input, you may email it to me directly. Thank you.

Elise Goldstein
Assistant Chief - Wildlife

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

To: Forman, Nicholas. DGF; Liley, Stewart, DGF; Sloane. Michael B.. DGF; Comins Ill. James C., DGF
Subject: FW: [EXT] Re: seeking comment on proposed bear season dates

Date: Thursday, September 05, 2019 5:02:14 PM

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

From: Jesse Deubel

Sent: Tuesday, September 03, 2019 9:29 AM

To: Goldstein, Elise J., DGF

Subject: [EXT] Re: seeking comment on proposed bear season dates

Elise,

Thank you for the opportunity to comment. The New Mexico Wildlife Federation has reached
out to our membership for feedback. The responses we received were overwhelmingly in
opposition to changing the season dates. Sportsmen/women who responded sited the primary
reason for their opposition as wanting to retain the opportunity to pursue bear in August when
there is very little other hunting opportunity available. Our members also suggested if there
was scientific reasons for the management of the species that was supported by adjusting
season dates then they would support doing so. In summary, if there is a good biological
reason to change the dates then NMWF would likely support it. If the date change is simply to
appease a user-group, my membership has stated that the proposed change would have the
opposite affect on them.

Jesse W. Deubel



mailto:Nicholas.Forman@state.nm.us
mailto:Stewart.Liley@state.nm.us
mailto:michael.sloane@state.nm.us
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
1 Wildlife Way

Santa Fe, NM 87507

(505)-476-8032 - office

(505) 231-1972-cell

CONSERVING NEW MEXICO’S WILDLIFE FOR FUTURE GENERATIONS

CONFIDENTTALITY NOTICE: This e-mail, including all attachments is for the sole use of the intended
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



From: Goldstein, Elise J., DGF

To: Eorman, Nicholas, DGE

Subject: FW: [EXT] Re: seeking comment on proposed bear season dates
Date: Friday, September 06, 2019 9:02:19 AM

See below.

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

From: Kerrie Romero [mailto:kerriecoxromero@gmail.com]

Sent: Friday, September 06, 2019 8:50 AM

To: Goldstein, Elise J., DGF

Subject: [EXT] Re: seeking comment on proposed bear season dates

Have you been receiving outfitter input on the Bear proposal? I asked my guys to just send
public comment direct to the email portal.

Kerrie C. Romero

I
L
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


mailto:elise.goldstein@state.nm.us
mailto:Nicholas.Forman@state.nm.us
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/wHYnCxkBMZuRzM8cvDK08?domain=avast.com

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

Subject: Fw: [EXT] Re: seeking comment on proposed bear season dates
Date: Saturday, August 31, 2019 2:54:08 PM

FYI......JPrukop

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
the heat in August, using dogs to run bears seems harsh on both bears and dogs. | wonder
why BMZ's 11,14, 8 and 9 aren't also included in this season shift. Temperatures are only
going to be rising. | am postulating that this proposed shift is being made for the more
southern zones because of this as you did not offer a reason. But the latitude of zone 11 is
equal to or south of the latitude of portions of zone 10. The same is mostly true of Zone 14.
Zones 8 and 9 along with the other two have experienced temperatures in the past couple of
weeks hovering close to or over 90 degrees. Perhaps there is another reason for this proposal
and if so, | urge that the heat be a consideration too.

Also, here is an anecdotal example of an, | hope, unintended consequence of the heat. We
live in BMZ 10 (game unit 17). About a week ago, a trailer full of baying hunting dogs went up
our canyon onto the National Forest in late afternoon almost near sundown. It came out again
at about 9:00 the next morning. The rules say that dogs hunting bears must be released during
legal hunting hours which can be as late as 1/2 hour after sunset. | suspect that is when these
dogs were released when it is much cooler, which is now legal, and treed the bear during the
night. In the morning, the hunters killed the treed bear and they came out afterwards. The
practice however most certainly comes very close to, if not outright crossing, the boundary of
the prohibition of night hunting.

Whether or not the dates are shifted, there should be a better rule about releasing dogs so
the hunt is effectively not happening at night.

Sincerely,
Mary Katherine Ray

On Fri, Aug 30, 2019 at 2:33 PM Goldstein, Elise J., DG GG ot
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

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail, including all attachments is for the sole use of the intended recipient[s]
and may contain confidential and/or privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, copying, disclosure or
distribution is prohibited, unless specifically provided under the New Mexico Inspection of Public Records Act. If

you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender at once and destroy all copies of this message.



From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Save the bears
Date: Saturday, August 31, 2019 3:18:51 PM

From: Jamie Sullivan

Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 6:38 PM
To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Save the bears

Stop killing the bears

Thank you Jamie Sullivan

Sent from my iPhone


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: FW: [EXT] Save the bears
Date: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 11:46:45 AM

Stewart Liley, Chief
Wildlife Management Division
New Mexico Game and Fish

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

Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 7:04 PM
To: Liley, Stewart, DGF

Subject: Fwd: [EXT] Save the bears

———————— Original Message --------
Subject: [EXT] Save the bears

From: Jamve Sullvar I

Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019, 6:40 PM

To: "Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF"_

CC:
Stop killing the bears
Thanks Jamie Sullivan

Sent from my iPhone


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Save the bears
Date: Thursday, August 29, 2019 7:55:20 AM

From: Jamie Sullivan
Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 6:40 PM

To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Save the bears
Stop killing the bears

Thanks Jamie Sullivan

Sent from my iPhone


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fw: [EXT] Snare Journal Article
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:35:07 AM
Attachments: pastedlmage.pna

Please see comments below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Thursday, September 12, 2019 10:13 PM
To: Dennis Hayes

Subject: Re: [EXT] Snare Journal Article

HiJan:

| will go back to the game department one more time and ask specifically about the bear
regulations in 2004-2005 and the next few years prior to 2010-2011. The department
continues to tell me they never had a quota as low as 30%. They are not saying they didn't
have a quota, just that it was never as low as 30%. | know you don't agree with it, but they say
their current recommendation of a 40% sow limit, combined with a total harvest limit of 10%,
is a conservative approach relative to other states. They also provided this chart, which | am
sure you have seen before. In fact, | believe the last four years of this chart represent the sow
age trend that you describe below. | know it is a minor correction, but the sow age has
actually dropped for three years, it increased the year before that.

| hope you have a great vacation.

David
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From: Dennis Hayes_

Sent: Thursday, September 12, 2019 1:20 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: RE: [EXT] Snare Journal Article

Dear David,
I've attached NMG&F Annual Bear Mortality Report from 2001-2002 to 2017-2018.

Please look at the year starting 2004-2005 when the 30% sow quota went into effect...down 6.4%
from the previous year. The 30% quota stayed in effect until 2010 -2011 when Dir. Lane took over
and increased the quota to 40% which then sent the harvests much higher than previous years.

After the sow harvest went up to 38.4% in 2006, | complained to Winslow and even went to the
Commission meeting to complain and suggest that perhaps the Winslow should cut the sow harvest
off at 28% if he couldn’t come in closer to the agreed on 30%. He did something about it, because it
did come down for the following 6 years.

There is no question that there was a sow quote during this period. It was negotiated (hard fought)
in the bear advisory group meetings; | had numerous discussions with Winslow when it was not
being met; | complained to the Commission about the same thing; | shared the good times that it
was met with our members and also the bad times when it ran over. If DGF says it did not happen
then they are wrong.



I’'m sure you’ve wondered why Dennis and | came to the Commissioners instead of the Department
in regard to our concerns. We've dealt with this kind of kind of shenanigans in years past and
choose not to put ourselves through it again.

Really the sow quota as a percentage of an fuzzy population estimate is not the way to do it. If we
don’t know how many bears live in the state or each region/zone...and we don’t... 30% or 40% of ?
makes no difference. We believe the only science that is believable right now is the sow tooth ages
at death.

And for the last four years, the sow ages are going down rapidly on a harvest number of
approximately 190 females per year. This sample is big enough so that the downward trend is likely
real. This is a red flag. It doesn’t mean that the sow ages have reached that 6 year red line but it is
closing in. So why not do some conservative management now instead of waiting until the tooth
ages dip to 6 and below and you have a bear population in trouble.

Thank you for taking the time to look closely at this issue.
Now I'm going to go pack and try to leave this concern behind me...for a while.

Regards,
Jan

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Wednesday, September 11, 2019 11:46 PM
To: Dennis Hayes

Subject: Re: [EXT] Snare Journal Article

Hello again. Thanks for the additional background. | have recently been communicating with
Mary Katherine Ray from the Sierra Club regarding bears. In the course of that conversation |
have again asked the department about a previous limit of 30% sows. They conferred with
Mr. Winslow and still maintain that there has never been a sow limit of 30%. The game
department has also provided a chart showing the average age of the sows taken (statewide, |
think) that indicates if has mostly remained above 6 years. | will ask them to show it at the
next commission meeting.

Thanks again, and have a great vacation.

David

From: Dennis Hayes_

Sent: Saturday, August 31, 2019 7:59 AM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: RE: [EXT] Snare Journal Article



Dear David,

I’m not going to get into the details, but the big picture is that for decades, before any bear
management was in place in NM, the bear harvests were in the 350 range. And it was in that 350
range when BearWatch was established. Then we started seeing a few high harvests, one was over
700 bears which alarmed us. That’s when we pushed G&F to put management in place to stop these
high peaks. We pushed to establish the original decades long 350 harvests. The sow quota wasn’t in
the picture originally, we were just concerned about the large number of bears being killed. Then,
after hiring our Bear Biologist Al LeCount, BearWatch on his advice, used the Bunnell and Tait study
to recommend a 30% sow quota based on our southwestern habitat. This was accepted by G&F and
installed although sloppily, sometimes going a little over the 30%. Liley is incorrect about sow
quotas ranging in 45-60% starting from 2005. You need to get these stats from the Dept’s. Bear and
Cougar Biologist Rick Winslow who is the person that was responsible for overseeing the quotas and
shutting off the hunts for each Zone. The latest phone numbers | have for Rick are H:268-6347
C:259-1788 0:476-8046. Frederic.Winslow@state.nm.us . I’'m sure this can be cleared up when he
sends you his stats.

When the new Director Lane came on board in 2011, the harvest went from 400 up to 640 and the
sow quota to 40%. Now the sky is the limit at 804.

My question to you is that when there was no past limit and the hunters were taking over 700 bears
on occasion, if the bear population has grown, as Liley states, why aren’t hunters bagging the limit of
804 or close to that instead of half of that? The number of bear hunters buying licenses has gone up
1,000 in the past 7 years (3248 to 4283), yet the harvest success rate has gone down from 14.8% to
9.5%. In other words, 91% of bear hunters are not bagging their bears.

The bears that live in the Sandias are a trapped population. In past decades, when a drought or hard
freeze killed their acorn forage, they could descend to the Rio Grande river to forage there. Now
there are thousands of homes, dogs, cars and a 6 lane interstate between them and the river. On
the south end, there is another 6 lane 1-40 interstate. On the east side, a growing human
population builds more homes that has put more and more cars on N14. The speed limit is 50, but
most drive way over that. On the weekends, people from Albuguerque descend on the mountains to
drive the Sandia Crest Rd. to recreate. Then you have city people move to the Mountains and are
shocked to see a bear in their backyard in their unprotected garbage and call G&F to trap this
intruder. It’s truly amazing that we have any bears left in the Sandias. But this is an amazing,
resilient animal.

We had lived here ten years when a new neighbor built his home nearby and started having bears
trapped and destroyed because they were turning over his beehives...that’'s when | started
BearWatch. For 24 years, we've informed residents how to co-exist with bears with Wildlife
Stewards in neighborhoods, Signs everywhere, flyers, presentations, weekly summer newspaper ads,
etc. And we plan to will continue because we realize out of all the bear populations in NM, this is
the most vulnerable.

After losing over 130 Sandia bears (trapped-relocated) in 2011-2013, the G&F raised the Sandia
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harvest limit to 11 and told us we still had 130 bears.

Most years, no Sandia bears are taken by hunters. It’s a difficult hunt; rugged terrain, no dogs, no
horses, just bow. I've been told by G&F officers, that they believe when a bear is taken, it is usually
because the hunter has been baiting (which is against the law). With the high depredation deaths,
perhaps it’s time to stop all hunting in the Sandias for all of the reasons above.

Thank you for taking the time to look into these questions. After 8 years of non-existent
management resulting in some very disturbing sow harvest-age stats, we hope something good will
come out of all of these inquires for the bears.

I'll let Dennis go into the habitat.

Your email cites Liley: “the department's total population estimates for each zone (which they use to
set season limits) do not include any bears in the regions outside of their sample area.” However,
Table 3, footnote a) in the 2015 Journal article says the primary bear habitat in the Sandia study area
was 168 sg. km and Liley used 18.4 bears per 100 sq. km. for the population estimate. That means
the estimated population in the Sandias should be 31 bears. | asked Gould/Roemer several times if |
was misinterpreting these numbers and they said | was getting it right.

Regards,
Jan and Dennis

From: Soules, David, DGF [mailto J G

Sent: Friday, August 30, 2019 1:32 PM
To: Dennis Hayes
Subject: Re: [EXT] Snare Journal Article

Dear Dennis and Jan:
| hope you enjoy your time in Oregon. Here is a little additional follow up.

| asked Stewart Liley if he had copies of the density of the bear snares and rubs used in the
2018 journal article for the Sandias and the Sacramento Mountains. He provided the two
figures from what appears to be a Graduate Student Dissertation based on the same study. |
have attached those for your reference. Stewart also indicated that while the sample
locations used in the study did represent what is likely higher density areas within each Bear
Management Zone, the department's total population estimates for each zone (which they
use to set season limits) do not include any bears in the regions outside of their sample area.
Thus, their total population estimates have a built-in conservative basis. | believe that is why
the Department's estimate for the total number of bears in the Sandia BMZ is lower than the
number presented in the article.

| also asked Mr. Liley about the history of setting a limit on the number of sows that can be



taken in each BMZ. He indicated that "The Department implemented harvest limits and female
sublimits starting during the 2004-05 season, with the female sublimits ranging from 45% to 60% of
the total limit depending on the unit. This was modified starting during the 2009-10 season to a 40%

female sublimit in all zones, which continues today."

Finally, | looked at the bear mortality data for the Sandias from 2012 - 2018. | very much
appreciate that you are concerned about the health of our bear populations statewide, and |
assure you, so am |. | also appreciate how much you are doing to reduce bear/human
conflicts, which result in many unnecessary depredation losses. What surprised me about the
data for the Sandias is how many bears, and more specifically sows, are lost due to Road Kills
and "Other". That data looks like this:

Bear Management

Zone 8 Black Bear

Sow Mortality

Year Hunting Depredation Road Kill-Other
2012 1 1 2
2013 1 6 9
2014 0 0 1
2015 1 0 0
2016 0 0 0
2017 0 0 1
2018 0 0 1
Total 3 7 14

Of note, 700% more sows died due to Depredation and Road Kill-Other than hunting during
this eight year period, and 467% more sows died due to Road Kill-Other than hunting alone.
Even if you remove 2013 as an anomalous year (presumably that is when a number of bears
moved into urban areas due to drought), the Road Kill-Other category still accounts for 250%
more sow mortalities than hunting for the remaining seven years. | don't know how to solve
the Road Kill problem, but it is clearly a major cause of sow mortality in the Sandias. | would
be interested in your thoughts on that.

Thanks again for everything you are doing for bears in our state.

V/R,
David

From: Dennis Hayes_

Sent: Sunday, August 25, 2019 6:32 PM



To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: RE: [EXT] Snare Journal Article

Dear David,

Thank you for taking the time to meet with us and making the effort to look into our concern about
what we believe the stats are showing in regard to the declining average ages of NM’s sow
population.

Bear biology tells us that this species needs to be managed more conservatively than any other
species. And of course, that is where BearWatch’s concern for this species lies.

We would appreciate if you would keep us in the loop if anything new comes up.

We'll be on the Oregon coast with our family in Sept. and will miss the Cloudcroft Commission
meeting, but, a BearWatch Board member is planning to fill in for me.

With regard,
Jan

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Sunday, August 25, 2019 4:46 PM
To: Dennis Hayes

Subject: Re: [EXT] Snare Journal Article

Hi Dennis:

It was nice to meet you and Jan as well. | truly appreciate all of the time and effort Jan has put
into this (with your support).

Thanks for sending the article. | read it and also spent some time reviewing the materials you
provided, in particular the table with data from each of the Bear Management Zones, the
harvest data from 2015-2018, and the summary/recommendations page that emphasizes the
2018 sow age in the harvest data. | also tried to meet with the Department's bear biologist on
Friday. | wasn't able to meet with him, but | did spend some time on the phone with Director
Sloan. | also spoke with one of the other commissioners about this topic.

At this point, | have some observations that | would like to share:

It appears to me that New Mexico is doing fairly well in terms of "best available science" to
estimate bear populations throughout the state. Although the whole focus of science is
subjecting scientific studies to review and opportunity for others to confirm or refute the
results, (and although the article was peer-reviewed, it is new enough that other comments
may yet be forthcoming), the 2018 Gould study appears to me to be a serious effort to



establish a basis for population estimates in New Mexico. (I'm not sure if Jan's efforts played a
part in encouraging such a serious endeavor for estimating our bear population, but if it did, |
commend her.) The study certainly doesn't answer all questions, but | suspect it puts us
ahead of many other states in terms of a current study using "best available science".

| appreciate your comments that Mr. Liley used a lower (i.e. more conservative estimate) for
the bear population in the Sandias than the higher number that would have resulted from the
top-rated model elsewhere.

Although the scale of the figure that shows the Sandias is not nearly as informative as the one
for the Sangre de Christo range(s), it does appear that the density of the sample stations is
reasonable. When | spoke with Director Sloan, | asked about your concern that extending the
Sandias management zone so far to the east seems to show a bias toward the better habitat,
he indicated that he believes Mr. Liley attempted to avoid that bias when selecting sample
stations statewide. That remains a point for follow-up with Mr. Liley.

New Mexico still needs to conduct a similar study for the SW region of the state.

| absolutely agree with you and Jan that the emphasis in bear management harvest

limits should be on sows. Although this is already part of NM's management strategy,
anything that helps reduce the percent of sow harvest would be helpful. | am still thinking
about approaches that would achieve that goal.

| appreciate your efforts to limit bear interactions with homes and communities to reduce
depredation losses. Please keep up the great work in that area.

When | spoke with Director Sloan, | asked about data showing harvest data for sows that goes
back farther than the 2015 - 2018 compilation that you used in the table you provided. He
directed me to a location on the department's website that | have not yet explored. If | find
anything interesting there | will let you know. | will also forward that web address.

Unfortunately, when | reviewed that table you provided that covers 10 years of data showing
average age of males and females, | cannot sustain an argument that we are seeing a decline
in the age of sows. In fact, almost every management zone shows periods of marked
increases in the average age of sows that were well-below the critical age of six that you
referenced when we met. In fact, if you replicate the slide you presented for 2018 that
highlights three management zones with sow ages in the "critical" area below six, and five
more between six and seven, for prior years, you will find that the average age in subsequent
years does not often look troubling. The age in subsequent years appears to move up or
down due to other factors.



Lastly, the bear population in the Sandias is obviously much smaller overall than the other
regions in the 2018 Gould paper, which makes it much more sensitive to outside influences
such as drought. | believe it is therefore prudent to be particularly conservative with the
sow harvest there.

Thank you again. | wish that everyone with concerns for the department and commission did
as much homework as you have, with an emphasis on real data and best available science. |
have already learned a great deal (and have much more to learn) based on our conversation,
the information that you provided, and the Gould's paper. Itis clear that you are making a
difference based on your passion for bears. | hope you will continue to do so.

Best regards,
David

From: Dennis Hayes_

Sent: Friday, August 23, 2019 8:56 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Snare Journal Article

David,

Nice to meet you today. Thanks for your time and interest.

Here is the article [ mentioned.

Figure 2 looks like pretty good coverage in the SdC’s!

Table 1 shows 9 bears total sampled in Sandias.

Table 3. Calculation Nhat=168km”2 X 18.4 bears/100km”2 give the 31 bears I cited.
Gould agrees. Note Liley used the 18.4 from the second-ranked model instead of the 25.7
for Dhat from the top-ranked model

The population in the Sandias is only of secondary concern to me. [ would like to see
clarification on prime bear habitat state wide since that determines the total population
estimate that drives bear limits.

Best

Dennis



From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT] Trapping Regulations
Date: Thursday, August 29, 2019 7:59:39 AM

From: Mitchell Simpson ||| GG

Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 9:53 AM

To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez,
Tirzio, DGF; Soules, David, DGF

Cc: Mitchell Simpson

Subject: [EXT] Trapping Regulations

Dear Commissioners,

The American Sportsman has footed the financial burden of wildlife conservation. It
has been done through licenses, fees, taxes and donations. Most people only think of
the licenses and fees, more importantly is the Pittman-Robertson Federal Aid in
Wildlife Restoration Act. The Pittman-Robertson Act is a tax on firearms, ammunition,
hunting equipment, archery equipment, fishing equipment and motor boat fuel. This
tax generates from 177 to 324 million annually that is distributed to State
Conservation Departments. It is estimated that hunters contribute about three and a
half million dollars a day to conservation by purchasing taxable items and licenses.
This doesn't include donations through different foundations such as Rocky Mountain
Elk Foundation, Big Game Forever, Whitetails Unlimited, Ducks Unlimited, Pheasants
Forever, National Wild Turkey Federation and many others. The Rocky Mountain Elk
Foundation has contributed 1.1 billion dollars to elk conservation since 1984. The
United States currently has the highest population of whitetail deer, turkey, wood
duck, black bear, cougar and elk in history. Many of these species where threatened
in the early 1900's. This success is due to the American Sportsman not the Humane
Society, PETA or any other Anti-hunting or Anti-trapping organization. Taking any
hunting, trapping or fishing rights without scientific data showing it necessary is an
injustice to the American Sportsman that has paid the bills of conservation.

Thank you,

Mitchell Simpson
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT]
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:51:01 AM

Please see comments below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 12:05 PM
To: pat manaster

Subject: Re: [EXT]

Hi Pat:

Thanks for your input. | recently spent a couple of hours with Jan and Dennis Hayes. They
presented some very informative material on bears and more specifically, the concern that we
should minimize the number of sows that are taken each year. | then followed up by reading a
peer-reviewed journal article on the recent bear study conducted in New Mexico, and
discussed the matter with the NMG&F department. | can assure you that the department is
very mindful of the sow harvest issue, and | am confident it will continue to be reflected in the
hunting regulations.

Thanks again,
David

From: pat manaster

Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 8:36 AM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT]

Please use your power to make sure not too many bear sows are killed. | am not
against hunting bears but don't want to lose the species through too much
depredation. Perhaps no more than 100 should be allowed to be hunted and killed.
Thanks for listening to my concern. Ms. Pat Manaster in Albuquerque where | have
seen a few bears during my time in the Sandias. One time, a large cinnamon-
colored one crossed the road as | was driving through just before the Sandia ski lift. It
was wonderful to see that bear!
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From: I

To: DGE-Furbearer-Rules
Subject: Fw: [EXT]
Date: Wednesday, September 04, 2019 6:55:59 PM

From: kaThavn e [

Sent: Wednesday, September 4, 2019 6:15 PM
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
Subject: Fw: [EXTERNAL] Re: Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United States
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:26:01 AM

Please see attached email thread related to the Bear and Cougar rules.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Thursday, October 3, 2019 5:57 AM

To: Wendy Keefover

Subject: Re: [EXTERNAL] Re: Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United States

You're welcome.

From: Wendy keefoe: [

Sent: Tuesday, October 1, 2019 10:44 AM

To: Soules, David, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Re: [EXTERNAL] Re: Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United
States

Dear Com. David,

Thank you so much for taking the time to read our comments, and taking the time to consider our
concerns! | really appreciate that effort!

Best wishes,

Wendy

From: *Souies, Davie, 0 [

Date: Monday, September 30, 2019 at 8:57 PM

To: Wendy Keefover <wkeefover@humanesociety.org>

Subject: Re: [EXTERNAL] Re: Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United
States

Hi Wendy:

| absolutely took the time to read your comments. In fact, | have read more about black bear
studies and management and public opinion in the last several months than | have about any
species before in my life! | appreciate your concern for our wildlife, and believe me, | want to
ensure we have a sound bear management policy in place.

Best regards,
David
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From: Wendy Kecfoe: [

Sent: Friday, September 13, 2019 5:41 PM

To: Soules, David, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Re: [EXTERNAL] Re: Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United
States

Dear Com. David,

I also submitted the comments to the requisite portal for the agency already — but thank you for
ensuring the right people got them too!

| hope you take the time to read our comments—there’s some room for discussion about the quota!
Thank youl!

Wendy

From: "Soules, David, DG [

Date: Friday, September 13, 2019 at 4:35 PM

Tos Wendy Keefove: |

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Re: Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United States
Hi Wendy:

Thank you for your comments. Although more data is always welcome and warranted and in
the plans for New Mexico's bear population, the game department has some very good
science behind their bear management plan. | will make sure your comments are forwarded
to the game department as well.

v/r,
David Soules

From: Wendy Kecfoe: [

Sent: Friday, September 13, 2019 3:36 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United States

Dear Com. Soules,

Attached please find comments by the Humane Society of the United States concerning black bear
management in New Mexico.



Given the paucity of black bear data in New Mexico,, we request that the black bear quota revert to
335 from 804. The number 804 has no basis in sound science and is far greater than hunters,
predator control agents and others achieve annually, according to the NMDGF’s own mortality data.

Black bears cannot withstand heavy persecution —they are super slow to reproduce. A female black
bear in New Mexico doesn’t begin reproduction until she is almost six years old, and then she will
produce only a few cubs in her lifetime — many of whom do not survive their first year.

The data show that bears are valued by most New Mexicans. Most appreciate bears’ sentience and
intrinsic values—their devotion to their cubs and ability to maintain the biological diversity of their

forest ecosystems.

Please do not hesitate to reach out if you need access to studies we cited, or if you have questions or
comments!

Thank you for reviewing these comments!

Sincerely yours,

Wendy Keefover

Error! Filename not specified.

Fight for all animals. The Humane Society of the United States is the nation’s most effective animal protection organization,
fighting for all animals for more than 60 years. To support our work, please make a monthly donation, give in another way or
volunteer.

Error! Filename not specified.


https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/aX6ZCM82vYFppJ8sJNTYx?domain=secure.humanesociety.org
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/lhj5CNk2wZuYY6xURS0Z-?domain=humanesociety.org
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/AmCcCOY2x1fDDOXTPKwhD?domain=humanesociety.org
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/3LC3CPN9y2uBB6mhrEgKh?domain=facebook.com
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/XOoxCQW2z3innRqf9lMsH?domain=twitter.com
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/WTSXCR60A4TwwOlf0aLzi?domain=blog.humanesociety.org

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: * Letter of Opposition- Cougar Regulation Proposal *
Date: Monday, September 09, 2019 10:58:51 AM
Attachments: image001.png

SA - Letter of Opposition - Cougar Requlation Proposal.pdf
Importance: High

From: Luke Houghtor I

Sent: Tuesday, August 6, 2019 3:19 PM

To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF

Cc: Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez, Tirzio, DGF; Soules,
David, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF

Subject: * Letter of Opposition- Cougar Regulation Proposal *

To Chairwoman Joanna Prukop:

Please see the attached letter of opposition on behalf of the Sportsmen’s Alliance and its New
Mexico members regarding Bear and Cougar Rule Development 19.31.11. Please feel free to contact
our office if you would like to discuss our concerns further.

Regards,

Luke Houghton

/\%PGRTSMEN'S
LLLILWCE
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SPORTSMEN’S
ALLIANCE

August 6, 2019

Commissioner Joanna Prukop
PO BOX 25112
Santa Fe, NM 87504

Dear Chairwoman Prukop:

As it has for more than 40 years, the Sportsmen’s Alliance continues to be the leading organization fighting
coast to coast against any action that threatens hunting, fishing or trapping, while at the same time,
proactively advancing and supporting initiatives that allow more opportunities for sportsmen and women.
The Sportsmen’s Alliance, on behalf of its New Mexico members, urge you to oppose Bear and Cougar
Rule Development 19.31.11, a regulation proposal which would ban the use of commonly used traps and
snares on private land and state trust lands which make up roughly 98 percent of hunt-able public land.

According to the New Mexico Department of Game & Fish (NMDGF) there is an estimated population of
3,000 to 4,000 cougars residing in the state. Additionally, cougar harvest numbers which are set by the
New Mexico State Game Commission, have not reached state maximum thresholds in years. As a result,
cougar numbers continue to increase becoming a greater threat to people, pets and livestock. Grazing is
currently utilized on state trust lands by cattle ranchers and provides funding to the office of the New
Mexico State Lands Office for education and other public school funding. According to the United States
Department of Agriculture, cougars ranked the 3™ top predator for cattle related deaths in 2015. As apex
predators, cougars have a great impact on iconic wildlife as well including mule deer, pronghorn antelope
and elk.

Trapping offers a safe way to help mitigate depredation and lowers unwanted interactions between
cougars, pets, people and livestock. Banning trapping on private property and the nearly 9 million acres
of state trust lands will only create an environment where there is a greater risk of unwanted encounters
with cougars.

It is for these reasons we would ask you to stand with the Sportsmen’s Alliance and oppose Bear and
Cougar Rule Development 19.31.11, regulation proposal. | would be happy to discuss the matter with you
further.

Sincerely,

Yt—

Luke Houghton
Associate Director of State Services
801 Kingsmill Parkway, Columbus, Ohio 43229-1137

P 614-888-4868 F 614-888-0326 INFO@SPORTSMENSALLIANCE.ORG
SPORTSMENSALLIANCE.ORG
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Commissioner Jimmy Bates
Commissioner Gail Cramer
Commissioner Tirzio Lopez
Commissioner David Soules
Commissioner Jeremy Vesbach

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
Date: Wednesday, August 07, 2019 1:51:19 PM
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

To: Cramer, Gail, DGF; Soules, David, DGF; Salazar-Henry. Roberta, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF; Bates, Jimmy,
DGF; Lopez, Tirzio, DGF; DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fw: B&C RULES—Letter—Carson Forest Watch - Oct 10, 2019

Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 9:52:49 AM

Attachments: B&C RULES—Letter—Carson Forest Watch - Oct 10 2019 - 3-28 PM.pdf

Hi, in case this letter didn't come through to you, here it is again....jp

From: Prukop, Joanna, DGF

Sent: Friday, October 11,2019 9:50 AM

To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF

Subject: B&C RULES—Letter—Carson Forest Watch - Oct 10, 2019

Scanned with TurboScan.
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fw: Bear & Cougar Rule Development - APNM and HSUS Comments
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:55:31 AM

Attachments: image002.png
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From: Jessica Johnson_

Sent: Monday, September 16, 2019 4:12 PM

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules; Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF;
Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez, Tirzio, DGF; Soules, David, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Bear & Cougar Rule Development - APNM and HSUS Comments

Dear Commissioners and New Mexico Department of Game & Fish,

Attached, please find initial written comments on the Bear & Cougar Rule development on
behalf of Animal Protection of New Mexico and the Humane Society of the United States.

We thank you for your consideration and look forward to continuing to engage in this
rulemaking process. Please don’t hesitate to reach out if you have any questions about the

comments we’ve provided here.

Sincerely,

Jessica Johnson

Making Sure Animals Matter in Every New Mexican Community
Learn more by viewing our video!
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4 0 YEARS
FOR
ANIMALS

THE HUMANE SOCIETY

OF THE UNITED STATES

September 16, 2019

Joanna Prukop, Chair

Roberta Salazar-Henry, Vice-Chair
Jimmy Bates, Commissioner

Gail Cramer, Commissioner

Tirzio Lopez, Commissioner

David Soules, Commissioner

Jeremy Vesbach, Commissioner

New Mexico State Game Commission

Michael Sloane, Director
New Mexico Department of Game and Fish

via Electronic Mail

On behalf of the Humane Society of the United States (HSUS), Animal Protection of New
Mexico (APNM), and each organization’s members and supporters in New Mexico, we
respectfully submit these comments on the New Mexico Department of Game and Fish’s
(NMDGF) most recent set of proposed changes to the Bear and Cougar Rule, dated September 5,
2019 (“Proposal”). These comments will address the cougar-related provisions of the Proposal
only; bear-related provisions will be addressed under separate cover.

These comments do not represent an exhaustive analysis of the Proposal. The limited,
incomplete, and preliminary information available to the public at this time precludes a full
assessment of its scientific and policy merits. To provide an adequate opportunity for meaningful
input during the upcoming formal public comment period, full information about the reasoning,
scientific evidence, and management goals underlying the Proposal must be available. We
provide specific examples of information that NMDGF needs to disclose prior to the public
comment period in Section 3 below.

We enthusiastically support the decisions to no longer allow traps and foot snares as a method of
sport harvest for cougar, and to no longer allow an additional two tags for cougar license holders
who have already filled their two-cougar bag limit.

However, we have serious concerns about the Proposal’s revised cougar quotas (or “harvest
limits™). While we broadly support a reduction in quotas statewide, the Proposal contains
substantial errors that upwardly distort the proposed quotas. To ensure that the proposed rule
reflects sound science and management principles and does not needlessly repeat errors that





plagued prior iterations of the Bear and Cougar Rule, we strongly encourage NMDGEF to correct
these issues prior to the issuance of the proposed rule.

1. Updated Cougar Population Estimates Must Inform Quotas Statewide, Not Only in
Zones B, F, and N

We support NMDGF’s efforts to update its cougar population estimates using recent data.
Previous estimates were based on scientifically unjustified assumptions about cougar population
density; the Department itself has admitted in federal grant applications that they are “neither
adequate nor reliable.” These inadequate figures, derived from a cherry-picked and
misinterpreted selection of sources, have led to inflated quotas in every Cougar Management
Zone (CMZ) across the state.! Sound wildlife management demands that these estimates be
revised using better and more recent scientific information, including a peer-reviewed study of
New Mexico’s cougar population density published earlier this year.?

Troublingly, however, the Proposal seems to indicate that NMDGF is only updating its
population estimates for zones B, F, and N — while making no effort to revise and correct its
estimates for the remaining 16 zones in the state, which together contain an overwhelming
majority of New Mexico’s cougar population. The proposed harvest limits for those 16 zones are
consistent with a change in the harvest rates (the percentage of the total estimated population
that may be removed in any one season), but not the estimated cougar population to which these
rates are applied. A reduction in harvest rates is certainly warranted, as discussed more fully in
Section 2 below. However, by neglecting to update the inflated population estimates, the
Proposal only addresses one part of a two-part problem.

The fact that recent studies were conducted only in zones B, F, and N does not excuse ignoring
those studies entirely for the purpose of developing population estimates for other zones. Indeed,
NMDGF’s existing population estimates for those zones were extrapolated from studies
conducted in even smaller areas of the state® — or outside the state entirely — and are even

! None of the sources that NMDGF claims to have relied on for its cougar population density estimates
support the figures used to set quotas in the 2016-2020 Bear and Cougar Rule. This problem will be
addressed more fully during the public comment period, after NMDGF releases its new estimates. But for
a brief example, the Department assumes under the current model that there are 3-4 cougars per 100
square kilometers in “excellent”’-quality habitat, and develops population estimates and quotas
accordingly. Yet no research cited by NMDGF or known to HSUS or APNM supports this figure; at the
time of that rulemaking, the leading study conducted New Mexico (Logan and Sweanor 1996) found a
range of 0.84-2.1 cougars in “excellent” habitat, with others finding 1.8 (Pittman 2010), 1.6 (Beausoleil
2013), 1.2-3.2 (Choate et al. 2006), and 1.5-2.2 (Ross and Jalkotzy 2010). Murphy et al.’s 2019 study
(see footnote 2 below) casts even more doubt on NMDGEF’s estimates.

2 Murphy et al., “Improving estimation of puma (Puma concolor) population density: clustered camera-
trapping, telemetry data, generalized spatial mark-resight models,” Scientific Reports 9:4590 (March
2019) (available at https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-019-40926-7).

? For example, Megan Pittman’s unpublished 2010 master’s thesis, relied on heavily by the Department to
develop its most recent estimates, was based on a study of a single 100 square kilometer zone on the
Ladder Ranch in Cougar Management Zone J.





narrower in their applicability. Incorporating and applying new data broadly could only improve,
not reduce, the accuracy and reliability of estimates statewide.

There is no question that cougar quotas must be decreased in every CMZ, but the Proposal still
falls short of what the science supports. We are gravely concerned that NMDGF has derived new
quotas for most zones in the state by applying modestly decreased harvest rates to the same
unsupportable and overinflated population estimates it has relied on in the past. This may
represent a step in the right direction, but ultimately trades one arbitrary figure for another. There
is no rational justification for continuing to use outdated and unsound population estimates in 16
out of 19 CMZs when more recent scientific evidence on population estimates exists and is in
fact being used for the remaining 3 CMZs.

Moreover, we are unable to comment on the scientific validity of any revised population
estimates for zones B, F, and N at this time because NMDGF has not published the estimates
themselves or the data and statistical analysis from which they were derived. In fact, the new
estimates for these zones do not even appear to be completed as of the date of this comment,
alarmingly suggesting a rushed process that does not lend itself to transparency and scrutiny
from the Commission or the public. This information must, at minimum, be made available
during the formal public comment process in order to afford a full opportunity to assess the
proposed rule; and the Commission must be prepared to reject the Proposal if this information is
not available with adequate time for the Commission to require appropriate amendments based
on those public comments if population estimates remain unjustifiably high.

2. NMDGF Must Disclose and Justify its Management Objectives and Further Reduce
Harvest Rates

As discussed above, the Proposal’s revised harvest limits reflect an adjustment in the harvest
rates applied in each CMZ. But the current Proposal fails to explain or justify the management
goals associated with the rates chosen. Under the previous Bear and Cougar Rule, NMDGF
divided CMZs into two categories, separated by management objective. In CMZs where
NMDGF sought to cause the population to decline,* a 25 percent harvest rate was used to derive
harvest limits. In CMZs where population stability® was the objective, a 17 percent harvest rate
was used.

Now, all but one of the CMZs that was previously managed for intentional population decline
have been reduced from a 25 percent to a 17 percent harvest rate. Zone L, for which harvest
limits have not changed, remains at a 25 percent rate and should at minimum be reduced in line
with other CMZs. Setting aside the question of whether intentional population reduction can ever
be justified when population estimates are so unreliable, we support this change. The best
available science shows that a 25 percent harvest rate is excessive even where intentional
population decline is the objective, and that any total mortality rate (e.g., trophy hunting,

*CMZsD,F,G,H,K,L, P, and S.
SCMZs A,B,C,E, 1,J, M, N, O, Q, and R.





predator control, poaching and roadkill) above 14 percent is unsustainable and likely to cause
population decline.b

But many of the zones that were previously managed for population stability remain at or near a
17 percent harvest rate. These include zones A, I, J, Q, and R — where harvest limits were not
reduced, or reduced only very slightly. NMDGF appears to have concluded — correctly — that 17
percent represents an unsustainable rate of harvest that will cause population decline, not
stability. Yet the Proposal irrationally maintains a 17 percent rate of harvest in both CMZs
managed for stability and CMZs managed for decline.

This apparent disconnect between management objectives and harvest limits must be explained
and corrected. While we support a reduction in harvest rates and harvest limits statewide, the
Proposal is inconsistent in its approach and risks causing populations to decline even in zones
where stability is an express objective. Harvest rates must be decreased to no more than 14
percent across the state—absent any clear and convincing evidence of the need to decrease the
population in a particular CMZ, of which NMDGF has presented none.

3. Complete Information Must Be Provided Before the Public Comment Period Opens

Based on the information available at this time, those parts of the Proposal pertaining to trapping
and bag limits are well-founded and should be adopted, while the revised harvest limits demand
further consideration and adjustment. Yet, it is impossible to fully and adequately assess the
Proposal based on the information available at this time. To ensure that the Commission and the
public have an adequate opportunity to evaluate the Proposal before it is too late to make
adjustments, NMDGEF should release the following information with adequate time for public
review before the proposed rule is published for public comment:

e Proposed harvest limits for CMZs B, F, and N (listed as “TBD” on current proposal);
e New data and analysis used to establish harvest limits for CMZs B, F, and N;

e Population estimates used to develop harvest limits for each CMZ;

e Harvest rates for each CMZ;

e Management objective (e.g. declining or stable population) for each CMZ.

In conclusion, HSUS and APNM support the decisions to no longer allow traps and foot snares
as a method of sport harvest for cougar, and to no longer allow an additional two tags for cougar
license holders who have already filled their two-cougar bag limit. Furthermore, while we

®R. A. Beausoleil et al., "Research to Regulation: Cougar Social Behavior as a Guide for Management,"
Wildlife Society Bulletin 37, no. 3 (2013); R. B. Wielgus et al., "Effects of Male Trophy Hunting on
Female Carnivore Population Growth and Persistence," Biological Conservation 167 (Nov 2013),
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.07.008. H. S. Robinson and R. Desimone, "The Garnet Range
Mountain Lion Study: Characteristics of a Hunted Population in West-Central Montana: Final Report,"
Montana Fish, Wildlife & Parks (2011); H. S. Robinson et al., "A Test of the Compensatory Mortality
Hypothesis in Mountain Lions: A Management Experiment in West-Central Montana," Journal of
Wildlife Management 78, no. 5 (Jul 2014), http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.726; H. S. Robinson et al.,
"Sink Populations in Carnivore Management: Cougar Demography and Immigration in a Hunted
Population," Ecological Applications 18, no. 4 (Jun 2008), http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/07-0352.1.





support the reduction in cougar harvest limits, we are concerned that such reductions remain
insufficient to prevent trophy hunters from killing cougars at unsustainable levels. NMDGF must
address this issue prior to the Proposal opening to public comment and provide complete
information pertaining to how the proposed harvest limits were set, basing such decisions on the

best available science on cougar management.

Thank you for the opportunity to comment. We look forward to continuing to engage with
NMDGF and the Commission throughout this rulemaking process to ensure that the Bear and

Cougar Rule represents reliable, peer-reviewed science.

Sincerely,

Jessica Johnson

Chief Legislative Officer

Animal Protection of New Mexico
P.O. Box 11395

Albuquerque, NM 87192
jessica(@apnm.org

(505) 220-6656

Nicholas Arrivo

Staff Attorney

The Humane Society of the United States
1255 23 St. NW, Suite 450
Washington, DC 20002
narrivo@humanesociety.org

(202) 676-2339







From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fw: Bear & Cougar Rule Development - APNM and HSUS Comments
Date: Friday, September 20, 2019 1:05:08 PM
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

Learn more o N
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

Subject: Fw: Bear Sows in New Mexico

Date: Monday, September 09, 2019 9:03:08 PM

From: krstin thompson

Sent: Saturday, August 31, 2019 5:09 PM
To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Re: Bear Sows in New Mexico

Thank you so much!

Kristin

On Aug 31, 2019, at 3:16 PM, Prukop, Joanna, DGF || G ot

Dear Ms. Thompson,

Thank you for your comments and concern. | will make certain your email
becomes a part of the public record on this matter.

Sincerely,

Joanna Prukop, Chair
NM State Game Commission

From: kristin thompson <

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 11:52 AM
To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Bear Sows in New Mexico

Dear Ms. Prukop, Please consider lowering the limit of sows to be killed, including
predation, to around 100. All the evidence shows that fewer sows are reaching
the age where they can reproduce — this will seriously limit the diversity and
eventually spell disaster for the NM bear population. This enchanted state
deserves better than that. Thank you for your consideration, Kristin Thompson,


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Bear Sows in New Mexico
Date: Saturday, August 31, 2019 3:17:36 PM

From: krstin thompson

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 11:52 AM
To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Bear Sows in New Mexico

Dear Ms. Prukop, Please consider lowering the limit of sows to be killed, including predation, to
around 100. All the evidence shows that fewer sows are reaching the age where they can reproduce
— this will seriously limit the diversity and eventually spell disaster for the NM bear population. This
enchanted state deserves better than that. Thank you for your consideration, Kristin Thompson,

Sent from Mail for Windows 10


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/UwwKC2koZnup10XinEHGT?domain=go.microsoft.com

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: bears, etc
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:42:49 AM

From: Ruth Connery <rupaco@live.com>

Sent: Wednesday, September 4, 2019 12:35 PM

To: Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez, Tirzio, DGF; Soules,
David, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Re: bears, etc

Hello,
I'm writing to ask that you and other commissioners take a hard look at the way our Game
Commission determines the number of bears and other animals in our state be "managed".

We are losing too much land and wildlife for the public taxpayers to enjoy.

It's a sad statement when you go to open spaces or take road trips across our state and see no
signs of wildlife.

Please help preserve what we have.
Thank you.

Ruth Connery


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGE-Furbearer-Rules
Subject: Fw: bears, etc
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:40:14 AM

Please see comments below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Thursday, September 5, 2019 12:49 PM
To: Ruth Connery

Subject: Re: bears, etc

Hello Ms. Connery:

Thank you for the input. | will definitely strive to protect both land and wildlife for the public
to enjoy.

Respectfully,
David Soules

From: Ruth Connery_

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
Date: Wednesday, September 04, 2019 2:36:27 PM

From: Ruth Connery ||| G

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

Subject: Fw: Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United States
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 6:01:25 AM

Attachments: HSUS-NMDGF-BB-Requlations-9-13-2019-Final.pdf

From: Wendy Kecfoe: [

Sent: Friday, September 13, 2019 3:37:06 PM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United States

Dear Com. Bates,

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
Black bears cannot withstand heavy persecution — they are super slow to reproduce. A female black
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
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Suite 450

Washington, DC 20037
P 202-452-1100

F 202-778-6132
humanesociety.org
Susan Atherton

Co-Chair

Thomas J. Sabatino, Jr.
Co-Chair

Kitty Block
President and CEO and
Chief International Officer

G. Thomas Waite IlI
Treasurer
Chief Financial Officer and

Acting Chief Operating Officer

Katherine L. Karl
General Counsel and
Chief Legal Officer

Michaelen Barsness
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Johanie V. Parra
Secretary

DIRECTORS
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September 13, 2019

Joanna Prukop, Madam Chair

Michael Sloane, Director

New Mexico Department of Game and Fish
PO Box 25112 Santa Fe, NM 87504
DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

Re: 2020-2024 black bear rule

Dear Madam Chair Prukop and Director Sloane:

On behalf of the Humane Society of the United States and our supporters in New Mexico, we
submit the following comments on New Mexico Department of Game and Fish’s (NMDGF’s)
Proposed Rule on black bear (Ursus americanus) hunting for the 2020 to 2024 seasons. The staff’s
Proposed Rule recommends no changes to the previous rule but allows for a quota of 804 black
bears with a female sublimit of 318 (representing 40 percent of the total). Given the recent
droughts and fires in New Mexico and the worsening climate and extinction crises,' we request
that the quota be reduced to 335—the number used by the agency in recent memory—given that
New Mexico is operating in the dark about the extent of its likely tiny black bear population—but
reliant on a non-peer-reviewed study with little veracity. We further request that the agency end
the practice of hounding bears with packs of dogs because of myriad cruelty problems.

1. New Mexico’s intelligent and familial black bears are susceptible to overkill

Large-bodied carnivores such as black bears are sparsely populated across vast areas—and in arid
climates, it is even more pronounced. Bears invest in few offspring, provide extended parental
care to their young, have a tendency towards infanticide, and bears limit reproduction. In light of
these biological factors, they rely on social stability to maintain resiliency.

! U.S. Global Change Research Program, “Impacts, Risks, and Adaptation in the United States: Fourth
National Climate Assessment, Volume II ” in Attps;/nca2018.globalchange.gov/chapter/front-matter-
about/#, ed. D.R. Reidmiller et al. (Washington, D.C., 2018); Intergovernmental Science-Policy
Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES), “Nature’s Dangerous Decline
‘Unprecedented’ Species Extinction Rates ‘Accelerating’: Current global response insufficient.
‘Transformative changes’ needed to restore and protect nature; Opposition from vested interests can
be overcome for public good. Most comprehensive assessment of its kind; 1,000,000 species
threatened with extinction,” news release, May 6, 2019, 2019.

2J. L. Weaver, P. C. Paquet, and L. F. Ruggiero, "Resilience and conservation of large carnivores in the
Rocky Mountains,” Conservation Biology 10, no. 4 (Aug 1996), <Go to ISI>://A1996VC10300014; A. D.
Wallach et al., "What is an apex predator?,” Oikos 124, no. 11 (Nov 2015),
https://doi.org/10.1111/0ik.01977, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000363866900005.
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Because of erratic weather events from the climate crisis including late season frosts or droughts, natural foods are
increasingly unavailable to bears, and in one study area of a heavily monitored bear population in Colorado, 57 percent
of females declined because of human-caused mortalities from vehicle collisions, trophy hunting and predator
control—that would not have been detected by wildlife managers alone without the study in place.?

For all of these reasons, it makes no sense to hunt black bears and especially at such high levels, and in New Mexico
with virtually no data. Bears are capable of self-regulation.* Moreover, highly sentient, black bears have the largest brain
size of any carnivore, and they spend prolonged periods raising and nurturing young.® Bears know when they are
hunted, and change behaviors, particularly when they need to concentrate on feeding to survive hibernation; instead
they have to hide from hunters.®

Late to mature, females do not reach breeding age until they are between 4 and 6 years old, and in New Mexico, the
mean age of females to reproduce for the first time is 5.7 years.” An average female produces two cubs in her first litter,
and she will give birth to an average of three cubs in successive litters. Bears have, however, extended intervals between
litters, averaging two to three years between them, but more if there are droughts or other stochastic weather events.®
Thus, bears have a slow reproductive potential,” and are highly susceptible to overkill."’

3 Jared S. Laufenberg et al., "Compounding effects of human development and a natural food shortage on a black bear population
along a human development-wildland interface,” Biological Conservation 224 (2018/08/01/ 2018),
https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.05.004, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320717317093.

* Wallach et al., ”"What is an apex predator?.”

* Black bears are highly sentient. See e.g,, John L. Gittleman, “Carnivore Life History Patterns: Allometric, Phylogenetic, and
Ecological Associations,” 127, no. 6 (1986), https://doi.org/10.1086/284523,
https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/abs/10.1086/284523; T. E. Reimchen and M. A. Spoljaric, “Right paw foraging bias in wild black
bear (Ursus americanus kermodei),” Laterality: Asymmetries of Body, Brain and Cognition 16, no. 4 (2011/07/01 2011),
https://doi.org/10.1080/1357650X.2010.485202, https://doi.org/10.1080/1357650X.2010.485202; Jennifer Vonk, Stephanie E. Jett, and
Kelly W. Mosteller, “Concept formation in American black bears, Ursus americanus,” Animal Behaviour 84, no. 4 (2012/10/01/ 2012),
https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.07.020, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003347212003284;
Jennifer Vonk and Michael J. Beran, “Bears ‘count’ too: quantity estimation and comparison in black bears, Ursus americanus,”
Animal Behaviour 84, no. 1 (2012/07/01/ 2012), https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.05.001,
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003347212002126; Rachel Mazur and Victoria Seher, “Socially learned foraging
behaviour in wild black bears, Ursus americanus,” Animal Behaviour 75, no. 4 (2008/04/01/ 2008),
https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2007.10.027, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003347208000213;
M. Cattet et al., “An evaluation of long-term capture effects in ursids: Implications for wildlife welfare and research,” Article, Journal
of Mammalogy 89, no. 4 (Aug 2008), https://doi.org/10.1644/08-mamm-a-095.1, <Go to ISI>://W0S:000258765000019.

¢ A. Ordiz et al., "Do bears know they are being hunted?,” Biological Conservation152 (Aug 2012),
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocom.2012.04.006, <Go to ISI>;//WOS:000307088200003.

7 D. L. Garshelis and H. Hristienko, ”State and provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus assessments of
population trend,” Ursus 17, no. 1 (2006), <Go to ISI>://W0S:000237130100001; C. M. Costello et al., “A Study of Black Bear Ecology
in New Mexico with Models for Population Dynamics and Habitat Suitability: Final Report: Federal Aid in Wildlife Restoration
Project W-131-R.,” New Mexico Department of Game and Fish (2001).

8 Craig McLaughlin, “Black bear assessment and strategic plan,” Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife (1999); S. Dobey
et al., "Ecology of Florida black bears in the Okefenokee-Osceola ecosystem,” Wildlife Monographs, no. 158 (Jan 2005), <Go to
ISI>://W0S:000228658000001. Garshelis and Hristienko, ”“State and provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus
assessments of population trend.”

° Dobey et al., "Ecology of Florida black bears in the Okefenokee-Osceola ecosystem.”

10 Garshelis and Hristienko, “State and provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus assessments of population
trend.”
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2. NMDGEF has a poor idea of the size of the New Mexico bear population

NMDGEF has not accurately counted New Mexico’s bears or determined their population trend. In 2015, the agency
discarded all bear studies conducted in New Mexico,"! including an eight-year study conducted by the Hornocker
Wildlife Institute in conjunction with NMDGF and the New Mexico Cooperative Fish and Wildlife Research Unit.'*> The
agency then took an unpublished student thesis, Gould (undated), now Gould et al. (2016), which was conducted in
New Mexico’s best bear habitats, to determine bear densities across the rest of the state’*—to justify a quota increase
to 804 from the prior quota of 335, which had been based on Costello et al. (2001). Fig. 1. Because the quota of 804 was
never supported by sound science, it should be reverted to 335.

The density numbers in Gould et al. (2016) rival and even exceed bear densities found by Welfelt et al. (2019) in the

Northern Cascades of Washington,'* which is biologically impossible because those habitats are far wetter and more
productive than the xeric habitats of New Mexico. Figs. 1, 2.

Costello et al. Gould et al. (2016)
(2001)
N. Sangre de Cristo 21.86 (95% CI 17.83 - 26.80)
17

S. Sangre de Cristo 19.74 (95% CI 13.77 - 28.30)
Sandia ND 25.75 (95% CI1 13.22 - 50.14

N. Sacramento 21.86 (95% CI 17.83 - 26.80)
S. Sacramento o4 16.55 (95% CI 11.64 - 23.53)

1 Conrad S. Zack, Bruce T. Milne, and William C. Dunn, “Southern Oscillation Index as an Indicator of Encounters between Humans
and Black Bears in New Mexico,” Wildlife Society Bulletin (1973-2006) 31, no. 2 (2003), https://doi.org/10.2307/3784333,
http://www.jstor.org/stable/3784333; D. P. Onorato et al., “Phylogeographic patterns within a metapopulation of black bears (Ursus
americanus) in the American Southwest,” Article, Journal of Mammalogy 85, no. 1 (Feb 2004), https://doi.org/10.1644/1545-
1542(2004)085<0140:ppwamo>2.0.c0;2, <Go to ISI>://W0S:000220140300022; C. M. Costello et al., “Sex-biased natal dispersal and
inbreeding avoidance in American black bears as revealed by spatial genetic analyses,” Molecular Ecology17, no. 21 (Nov 2008),
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2008.03930.x, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000260345200012; C. M. Costello et al., “Reliability of the
cementum annuli technique for estimating age of black bears in New Mexico,” Wildlife Society Bulletin 32, no. 1 (Spr 2004),
https://doi.org/10.2193/0091-7648(2004)32[169:rotcat]2.0.co;2, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000221035300019; Cecily M. Costello et al.,
“Relationship of Variable Mast Production to American Black Bear Reproductive Parameters in New Mexico,” Ursus 14, no. 1 (2003),
https://doi.org/10.2307/3872951, http://www.jstor.org/stable/3872951; R. M. Inman et al., "Denning chronology and design of
effective bear management units,” Journal of Wildlife Management 71, no. 5 (Jul 2007), https://doi.org/10.2193/2006-252, <Go to
ISI>:/[WOS:000248027800012.

12 Costello et al., “A Study of Black Bear Ecology in New Mexico with Models for Population Dynamics and Habitat Suitability: Final
Report: Federal Aid in Wildlife Restoration Project W-131-R..”

13 M.J. Gould et al., “Estimating density of American black bears (Ursus americanus) in New Mexico using noninvastive genetic
sampling-based capture-recapture methods,”
http:ywww.wildlife.state.nm.us/download/hunting/species/bear/publications/Estimating-Black-Bear-Density-in-New-Mexico-Gould-
etal-2016,pdf (2016).

!4 Lindsay Welfelt, Richard Beausoleil, and Robert Wielgus, “Factors Associated with black bear density and implications for
management,” The Journal of Wildlife Management (08/25 2019), https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.21744.
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Welfelt et al. (2019)
E. Northern Cascades 19.2 (95% CI 15.0 - 24.7)
W. Northern Cascades 20.1 (95%17.5 - 23.2)

The Cougar Management Guidelines (2005) provides an applicable warning: Density estimates from studies conducted
in optimal quality habitat where animals are abundant can only be extrapolated cautiously to larger areas (including
regions or entire states). Yet, NMDGF’s took Gould et al. (2015) and extrapolated it to larger areas, and thereby failed
to accommodate changes in vegetation, land use, topography, and management history.'®

Welfelt et al. (2019) in their study of Washington bears found bear densities range widely by region, but managers had
over-estimated the population of bears in western Washington—including cubs—by 50 percent.'® The implications for
New Mexico are stark, given that black bear habitat in New Mexico is also varied by region.'” They also found that
human density negatively correlates with bear density—even in prime bear habitats—again leading the wildlife agency
to overestimate the bear population.*®

NMDGF’s black bear proposals offer neither population nor trend analysis, measurable objectives, evidence,
transparency or sign of an independent review, the hallmarks of sound science.' Instead, we and the Commission are
left with a flimsy and entirely unaccountable approach, emblematic of NMDGF’s unscientific black bear management
policy and protocols designed to elevate bear killing but not conservation.** NMDGF’s failure to rely on good quality
population and trend data is a concern, if this is the foundation upon which hunting objectives are set. A study of states’
trend and population data showed about half of the states miscalculated population trends. Garshelis and Hristienko
(2006) write that many state wildlife managers fail to adequately investigate population sizes and trends, but rather
rely on guesses.*

To emphasize: black bears can only sustain light losses to their population from all causes and amount between six and
ten percent of their population.?? Yet the numbers of bears in New Mexico remains a mystery. The quotas are set so
high that they are never achieved. In fact, all sources of mortality never come to 800 per year, except in 2013 when 778
bears were killed—likely at an unsustainable level. Fig. 3.

1 Cougar Management Guidelines, Cougar Management Guidelines (Bainbridge Island, WA: WildFutures, 2005)., p. 47-8.

16 Welfelt, Beausoleil, and Wielgus, “Factors Associated with black bear density and implications for management.”

17 Zack, Milne, and Dunn, “Southern Oscillation Index as an Indicator of Encounters between Humans and Black Bears in New
Mexico.”; Onorato et al., “Phylogeographic patterns within a metapopulation of black bears (Ursus americanus) in the American
Southwest.”; Costello et al., “Sex-biased natal dispersal and inbreeding avoidance in American black bears as revealed by spatial
genetic analyses.”; Costello et al., “Reliability of the cementum annuli technique for estimating age of black bears in New Mexico.”;
Costello et al., “Relationship of Variable Mast Production to American Black Bear Reproductive Parameters in New Mexico.”; Inman
et al., "Denning chronology and design of effective bear management units.”

18 Welfelt, Beausoleil, and Wielgus, “Factors Associated with black bear density and implications for management.”

1% Garshelis and Hristienko, “State and provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus assessments of population
trend.”; Kyle A. Artelle et al., “Hallmarks of science missing from North American wildlife management,” Science Advances 4, no. 3
(2018), https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aa00167, http://advances.sciencemag.org/content/advances/4/3/eaao0167.full.pdf.

20 Artelle et al., “Hallmarks of science missing from North American wildlife management.”; Garshelis and Hristienko, ”State and
provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus assessments of population trend.”

21 Garshelis and Hristienko, ”State and provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus assessments of population
trend.”, p. 6

22 Lindsay Suzanne Welfelt, “Black bear population dynamics in the North Cascades” (Doctor of Philosophy Dissertation,
Washington State University, 2018), https://search.proquest.com/openview/ec18d4337882347c86cd2eeb2a69ebd0/1.pdfepg-
origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y.
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Fig. 3
Black bear mortality, New Mexico, 2012-2018 (Data from NMDGF)
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3. NMDGF’s quotas may be too drastic and will result in the overkill of New Mexico’s beloved black bears

A safe offtake amount for black bears is between six and ten percent of the population; more than that is simply
additive mortality because of harms to the female component of the population.® In a Washington study, where
biologists used methods of capture-recapture and also collected hair samples to test bears’ DNA (to discover
emigrating and immigrating animals), authors compared the two areas in order to evaluate black bear survival. In both
areas, despite agency predictions that the bear population was growing, it was not. Authors found that the “maximum
sustainable hunter harvest” was indicated by the “intrinsic growth rate of 6-10% [which] was exceeded in both areas.”**
To emphasize, a total safe offtake amount, including hunting, predator control, poaching, roadkill and other, for black
bears is likely only six to ten percent of the entire subpopulation because of the risk to the female component of the
population.® This study is directly applicable to New Mexico.

Despite having little sense of its population,* each year in New Mexico hundreds of bears die at the hands of trophy
hunters and predator control agents—some using packs of hounds—including 564 individuals who were legally hunted
in 2018. Fig. 1.

2 Welfelt, “Black bear population dynamics in the North Cascades.”

24 Welfelt, “Black bear population dynamics in the North Cascades,” 38.

25 Welfelt, “Black bear population dynamics in the North Cascades.”

26 Garshelis and Hristienko, ”State and provincial estimates of American black bear numbers versus assessments of population
trend.” Rather than a population or trend study (Garshelis and Hristienko (2006).
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NMDGF’s current proposal is also certainly not in the public’s interest in wildlife management.”” New Mexicans love
their bears.”® Bears are also valued for their considerable ecological and aesthetic purposes.?” They are one of the most
photographed and watched animals in Yellowstone National Park.*

Brand new studies find that most Americans do not support black bear hunting.* Manfredo et al. (2018) found that
only 31 percent of New Mexicans support the killing of a black bear even ifit has attacked someone.** Therefore, we are
forced to surmise NMDGF proposes to continue to hammer the black bear population under the false pretenses that
doing so will alleviate human-bear conflicts and to provide opportunity to trophy huntersto kill sentient black bears for
photo opportunities and to obtain and display bear parts, including, heads, hides, claws and capes.*

4. NMDGF’s proposals fail to consider poaching, wounding and other human-caused mortalities to bears

In a heavily monitored bear population, state bear biologists with the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife
reported that approximately 20 percent of their study bears were killed by poachers and even more died from wounding
losses who were not accounted for by hunters to the state.*

New Mexico must factor poaching and wounding loss metrics and total known mortalities into any reasonable quota.
Allowing a cull of a species invariably induces and increases the numbers of animals killed by poachers.** In short,
NMDGF must consider the massive but unknown numbers of human-induced mortalities as a result of vehicle

7 Michael P. Nelson et al., “An Inadequate Construct? North American Model: What's Missing, What's Needed,” The Wildlife
Professional, no. Summer 2011 (2011); Kelly A. George et al., “Changes in attitudes toward animals in the United States from 1978
to 2014,” Biological Conservation 201 (9// 2016), https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.07.013,
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320716302774.

28 M. J. Manfredo et al., America’s Wildlife Values: The Social Context of Wildlife Management in the U.S., (Fort Collins, Colorado:
Colorado State University, Department of Natural Resources, 2018).

# L. E. F. Harrer and T. Levi, “The primacy of bears as seed dispersers in salmon-bearing ecosystems,” Article, Ecosphere 9, no. 1
(Jan 2018), 02076, https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2076, <Go to ISI>://W0S:000425731000024; M. S. Enders and S. B. Vander Wall,
”Black bears Ursus americanus are effective seed dispersers, with a little help from their friends,” Oikos 121, no. 4 (Apr 2012),
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2011.19710.%, <Go to ISI>://W0S:000301537200013; K. Takahashi and K. Takahashi, “Spatial
distribution and size of small canopy gaps created by Japanese black bears: estimating gap size using dropped branch
measurements,” Bmc Ecology13 (Jun 2013), 23, https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6785-13-23, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000322126400001.

3 K. Slagle et al., “Building tolerance for bears: A communications experiment,” Journal of Wildlife Management 77, no. 4 (May
2013), https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.515, <Go to ISI>://W0S:000318028100022.

31 Responsive Management, “Americans’ attitudes toward hunting, fishing, sport shooting and trapping 2019,”

https://asatfishing. org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Americans-Attitudes-Survey-Report-2019.pdf (2019); Manfredo et al., Short
America’s Wildlife Values: The Social Context of Wildlife Management in the U.S; George et al., “Changes in attitudes toward
animals in the United States from 1978 to 2014.”

32 Manfredo et al., Short America’s Wildlife Values: The Social Context of Wildlife Management in the U.S.

33 No one kill bears just to eat them. Hunters kill so they can engage in “show off” behaviors (Darimont et al. 2017). We define a
“trophy hunt” as a hunt where a hunter’s primary motivation is to kill an animal to display its parts (that is, their heads, hides or
claws and even the whole stuffed animal); and for bragging rights (trophy hunters pose over the dead animal with their weapons for
a portrait often for social media). Their primary motivation is not subsistence. Chris T. Darimont, Brian F. Codding, and Kristen
Hawkes, “"Why men trophy hunt,” Biology Letters 13, no. 3 (2017), https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2016.0909,
http://rsbl.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/roybiolett/13/3/20160909.full.pdf. Chelsea Batavia et al., "The elephant (head) in the
room: A critical look at trophy hunting,” Conservation Letters0, no. 0 (2018), https://doi.org/doi:10.1111/conl.12565,
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/conl.12565.

3% G. M. Koehler and D. J. Pierce, ”"Survival, cause-specific mortality, sex, and ages of American black bears in Washington state,
USA,” Ursus 16, no. 2 (2005), https://doi.org/10.2192/1537-6176(2005)016[0157:scmsaa]2.0.co;2, <Go to
ISI>://WO0S:000233680300002.

%% Guillaume Chapron and Adrian Treves, “Blood does not buy goodwill: allowing culling increases poaching of a large carnivore,”
Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 283, no. 1830 (2016-05-11 00:00:00 2016),
https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.2939, http://rspb.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/royprsb/283/1830/20152939.full.pdf.
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collisions or by poachers before it continues down the path of an annual quota of nearly 1,000 bears.* In the absence of
good data and a lack of knowledge about where the bear population is, we suggest that the quota be reduced to 335, a
number previously set by the agency.

Human persecution of bears such as through trophy hunting and or predator control, is “super-additive,” meaning that
kill rates exceed naturally-occurring mortalities.”” This is because predator control agents and trophy hunters kill adult
breeding animals, which disrupts animals’ social structure and leads to indirect effects such as increased infanticide by
incoming subadult male bears, resulting in decreased recruitment of young.*® NMDGF’s proposed quota fails to
consider these added human-caused losses as part of its extreme bear quotas. Bears are not resilient to overkill. They
can only withstand light losses to their populations.

5. Hounding black bears is unethical, scientifically indefensible and unsporting

Americans hold widely divergent standards around wildlife, but most highly value their conservation.*” In numerous
studies, both the general public and hunters themselves object to hunting activities that are viewed as unfair,
unsporting, inhumane or unsustainable,*’ such as killing bears while they have dependent young or killing the young
themselves. Many hunting advocates condemn such actions as a violation of the hunter’s ethical code because hunting
naive young and bear hounding are not perceived as “fair chase” hunting. Jim Posewitz explains the concept of “fair
chase”: “The ethical hunter must make many fair-chase choices . . . luring animals with bait or hunting in certain
seasons sometimes is viewed as giving unfair advantage to the hunter. ... Ifthere is a doubt, advantage must be given
to the animal being hunted.”"

New Mexico has few limits on hounding, including the numbers of dogs permitted in a bear hunt. The only restriction
is by some public lands and having a licensed hunter continuously present after the dogs have been released. Hounding,
or using packs of dogs to pursue bears, is considered unsporting even among many hunters because it gives unfair
advantage to the hunter.*

3¢ B. J. Bergstrom, “Carnivore conservation: shifting the paradigm from control to coexistence,” Journal of Mammalogy 98, no. 1 (Feb
2017), https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyw185, <Go to ISI>://W0S:000397232500001. Chapron and Treves, “Blood does not buy
goodwill: allowing culling increases poaching of a large carnivore.”; D. E. Unger et al., “History and Current Status of the Black Bear
in Kentucky,” Northeastern Naturalist 20, no. 2 (Jun 2013), https://doi.org/10.1656/045.020.0206, <Go to
ISI>:/[W0S:000321563700006; Koehler and Pierce, “Survival, cause-specific mortality, sex, and ages of American black bears in
Washington state, USA.” B. N. McLellan et al., “Rates and causes of grizzly bear mortality in the interior mountains of British
Columbia, Alberta, Montana, Washington, and Idaho,” Journal of Wildlife Management 63, no. 3 (Jul 1999),
https://doi.org/10.2307/3802805, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000081441500017; Caitlin M. Glymph, “Spatially explicit model of areas between
suitable black bear habitat in east Texas and black bear populations in Louisiana, Arkansas, and Oklahoma” (Masters M.A., Stephen
F. Austin State University, 2017), https://scholarworks.sfasu.edu/etds/128/; B. J. Wear, R. Eastridge, and J. D. Clark, “Factors affecting
settling, survival, and viability of black bears reintroduced to Felsenthal National Wildlife Refuge, Arkansas,” Wildlife Society
Bulletin 33, no. 4 (2005), https://doi.org/10.2193/0091-7648(2005)33[1363:FASSAV]2.0.CO;2,
http://pubs.er.usgs.gov/publication/70027414.

37 Vucetich et al. 2005, Creel and Rotella 2010, Creel et al. 2015, Darimont et al. 2015.

38 Wielgus and Bunnell 1995, Creel and Rotella 2010, Wielgus et al. 2013, Ausband et al. 2015, Darimont et al. 2015, Elbroch et al.
2017a, Leclerc et al. 2017.

% Stephen R. Kellert, The Value of Life (Washington, D.C.: Island Press, 1996).

0 Thomas D. Beck et al., “Sociological and ethical considerations of black bear hunting,” Proceedings of the Western Black Bear
Workshop 5 (1995); T. L. Teel, R. S. Krannich, and R. H. Schmidt, “Utah stakeholders’ attitudes toward selected cougar and black
bear management practices,” Wildlife Society Bulletin 30, no. 1 (Spr 2002), <Go to ISI>://000175200100002; C.W. Ryan, J.W.
Edwards, and M.D. Duda, “"West Virginia residents: Attitudes and opinions toward American black bear hunting,” Ursus 2 (2009).

4 Emphasis added. J. Posewitz, Beyond Fair Chase: The Ethic and Tradition of Hunting (Helena, Montana: Falcon Press, 1994)., p.
61.

*2 Ryan, Edwards, and Duda, "West Virginia residents: Attitudes and opinions toward American black bear hunting.”; Teel, Krannich,
and Schmidt, “Utah stakeholders’ attitudes toward selected cougar and black bear management practices.”
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While pursuing bears, hounds chase, startle and kill non-target wildlife.** Dogs may even chase bears into roadways,
where oncoming vehicles could strike either. Hounds invariably trespass on lands—whether on private land or on
special refuges such as national parks where hounds are not permitted. This creates strife between landowners and
hunters.* Using hounds to chase bears pits dogs against bears, and either species can be injured or killed, particularly if
the bear is bayed on the ground. Sometimes dogs kill the bears themselves, especially dependent cubs.

Pursuit during hot weather can cause physical stress to both dogs and bears.* Bears that have engaged in prolonged
pursuits experience physiological stress because bears’ pelts and fat layer (that they are building in anticipation of
hibernation) can make them overheat—possibly leading to death or for pregnant bears, the loss of their fetuses. In poor
food years, pursuing bears with hounds makes bears expend energy they require to survive hibernation. Hounds disrupt
feeding patterns for bears who are chased and nearby bears who are not.*

If bayed on the ground, hunters cannot identify the sex of the bear, which is a concern if it is a female with dependent
cubs. If the mother is killed, young-of-the year cubs will die from starvation, exposure or predation.*” In research
conducted in Maine, houndsmen were ineffective in determining if a female had cubs, because the mother would secure
her cubs in a separate tree other than the one she occupied.*®

The main purpose of hounding is to tree the bears for the purpose of close-range identification and shooting. While
some argue that hounding is a selective method for choosing the age or sex of an animal,* researchers who have done
empirical study contend it is difficult for hunters to determine the age and sex of a treed bear.*® Inman and Vaughan
(2002) found that houndsmen accurately determined the sex of treed bears 67% of the time. In other words,
approximately one-third of treed bear were wrongly sexed by houndsmen.*!

So many aspects of hounding are unsavory. It causes stress and distress to wildlife, including non-target species, and to
the hounds themselves. Hounds can kill bear cubs, and hounds can be killed by bears. Hounding disrupts bears when
they should be foraging and not hiding from hunters in order to survive wintertime hibernation. Hounding can cause
fertilized females to lose embryos. Neither hounds nor bears sweat; to dissipate heat to prevent damage to their brains,
they must either pant (which is inefficient) or find a body of water to cool off.> In short, hounding is an incredibly cruel
and barbaric sport that should end in New Mexico.

3 Hank Hristienko and Jr. McDonald, John E., “Going in the 21st century: a perspective on trends and controversies in the
management of the black bear,” Ursus 18, no. 1 (2007).

4 Hristienko and McDonald, “Going in the 21st century: a perspective on trends and controversies in the management of the black
bear.”

%5 Hristienko and McDonald, “Going in the 21st century: a perspective on trends and controversies in the management of the black
bear.”

4 Beck et al., “Sociological and ethical considerations of black bear hunting.” Ordiz et al., "Do bears know they are being hunted?.”
47 Cubs will stay with their mothers between 14-18 months. Born in the den between January and February, bears leave the den
usually in late April, but they are not weaned until the months between July and September. The cubs will go back into the den for
their second winter with their mother. They will stay with her until May - July, when the family breaks up (because the female goes
back into estrus). Considered subadults at that point, the cubs must find their own home range, which is more difficult of males as
they have to disperse further from the natal area - to avoid inbreeding.

8 Beck et al., “Sociological and ethical considerations of black bear hunting.”

4 Hristienko and McDonald, “Going in the 21st century: a perspective on trends and controversies in the management of the black
bear.”

% Beck et al., “Sociological and ethical considerations of black bear hunting.”; M. C. Boulay, D.H. Jackson, and D.A. Immell,
“Preliminary assessment of a ballot initiative banning two methods of bear hunting in Oregon: Effects on bear harvest,” Ursus11
(1999).

1 K. H. Inman and M. R. Vaughan, "Hunter effort and success rates of hunting bears with hounds in Virginia,” Ursus 13 (2002), <Go
to ISI>:/[WO0S:000229925700022.

52 Bernd Heinrich, Why we run: A natural history (Harper Perennial, 2002).
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6. The climate crisis necessitates a new look at privileging non-lethal approaches over killing

Wildlife management agencies often wrongly presume that an increase in human conflicts is a result of a growing bear
population, but bears may simply be modifying their behaviors in response to urgent environmental circumstances—a
lack of food.*® Unless intensively studying a bear population, agencies poorly assess the total mortality that bears
sustain, and may increase quotas when they should be decreasing them.** Despite available habitat, bears may not be in
them because of human presence, or they are unevenly distributed across that state’s particular black bear habitat.>

As Johnson et al. (2018) and others suggest, because North American habitats are altered by human development and
changed by the climate crisis, wildlife managers must adapt and work to reduce human-bear conflicts, rather than rely
upon lethal removals.*® The problems associated with a warming climate and bears coming into contact with an
expanding human population is problematic. When bears must live alongside humans, their chances for survival
decrease dramatically because of vehicle collisions and agency actions.”’” Large native carnivores face extinction®*—it is
incumbent upon wildlife agencies to conserve rather than over-exploit them. Expanded human development into bear
habitats during the climate crisis exacerbates bear mortalities, and then agencies react by increasing trophy hunting
quotas, when they should be reducing overall black bear mortalities.*

The time bears spend in the den is tied to air temperature and food availability (both natural and anthropogenic
subsidies).®® Study authors found that the warmer the temperatures and the more food is available, the longer the time
bears will spend active as they maximize their opportunities to forage.®* With a warming climate, black bears reduce

53 H. E. Johnson et al., ”"Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-
carnivore conflicts,” Article, Journal of Applied Ecology 55, no. 2 (Mar 2018), https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13021, <Go to
ISI>:/[W0OS:000424881800020; H. E. Johnson et al., “Shifting perceptions of risk and reward: Dynamic selection for human
development by black bears in the western United States,” Biological Conservation 187 (Jul 2015),
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2015.04.014, <Go to ISI>://W0S:000357234100019; M. E. Obbard et al., “Relationships among food
availability, harvest, and human-bear conflict at landscape scales in Ontario, Canada,” Ursus 25, no. 2 (2014),
https://doi.org/10.2192/ursus-d-13-00018.1, <Go to ISI>://W0S:000347670000002.

5 Laufenberg et al., “Compounding effects of human development and a natural food shortage on a black bear population along a
human development-wildland interface.”; Welfelt, Beausoleil, and Wielgus, “Factors Associated with black bear density and
implications for management.”

55 Welfelt, Beausoleil, and Wielgus, “Factors Associated with black bear density and implications for management.”

5¢ Johnson et al., "Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-carnivore
conflicts.”; D. L. Lewis et al., "Modeling black bear population dynamics in a human-dominated stochastic environment,” Article,
Ecological Modelling 294 (Dec 2014), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2014.08.021, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000345821100006.

%7 Johnson et al., "Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-carnivore
conflicts.”; Johnson et al., “Shifting perceptions of risk and reward: Dynamic selection for human development by black bears in the
western United States.”; J. P. Beckmann and J. Berger, “Rapid ecological and behavioural changes in carnivores: the responses of
black bears (Ursus americanus) to altered food,” Journal of Zoology 261 (Oct 2003), https://doi.org/10.1017/s0952836903004126,
<Go to ISI>://[WO0S:000186327700010.

58 J. A. Estes et al., “Trophic Downgrading of Planet Earth,” Science 333, no. 6040 (Jul 2011), https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1205106,
<Go to ISI>://WOS:000292732000031; Chris T. Darimont et al., “The unique ecology of human predators,” Science 349, no. 6250
(2015); William J. Ripple et al., “Extinction risk is most acute for the world’s largest and smallest vertebrates,” Proceedings of the
National Academy of Sciences 114, no. 40 (October 3, 2017 2017), https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1702078114,
http://www.pnas.org/content/114/40/10678.abstract; Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem
Services (IPBES), “"Nature’s Dangerous Decline ‘Unprecedented’ Species Extinction Rates ‘Accelerating’: Current global response
insufficient. ‘Transformative changes’ needed to restore and protect nature; Opposition from vested interests can be overcome for
public good. Most comprehensive assessment of its kind; 1,000,000 species threatened with extinction.”

%% Laufenberg et al., “Compounding effects of human development and a natural food shortage on a black bear population along a
human development-wildland interface.”

% Johnson et al., "Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-carnivore
conflicts.”

¢! Johnson et al., "Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-carnivore
conflicts.”
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their hibernation times and increase their active times, and in coming years, human-bear conflicts will likely become
more pronounced resulting in greater black bear mortalities, including from hunters and agency removals, resulting in
greater black bear population declines.®

Again, black bear biologists warn that managers must limit recreational black bear killing to reduce total mortality, and
especially during years of poor natural food production, which is readily predicted by weather events.*

To emphasize, the total annual mortality that a black bear population can sustain is only between six and ten percent of
the population; more than that is simply super additive mortality.** Female bears rarely migrate—they prefer to live
near their natal areas, and this compounds the harms from trophy hunting and other sources of mortality that affect
black bear populations.® The loss of females reduces a bear population’s ability to bounce back as they are the key to
sustaining the population.®®

7. Food availability plays a large role in the presence of bears in urban areas; human food sources are the root
cause of human-bear conflicts

In their study of Aspen, Colorado bears, Baruch-Mordo et al. (2014) found that black bears who came to Aspen to
prevent their starvation because of a native food failure subsequently reversed their behaviors and returned to the
wilds when their native foods were again available.®” Johnson et al. (2015), in their study of bears in three cities, Tahoe,
Durango and Aspen, found that bears consistently changed their food-foraging behaviors, based upon food availability.
In these cities, bears used human foods as a subsidy rather than a staple. They argue that bears who are labeled
“nuisance”, might not be “problem” bears all of the time. They also suggest that people need to make human foods less
available to bears, especially in poor food years.*® In short, despite claims that once bears have eaten food in urban areas
that they are forever tainted, studies show that bears will leave these areas once natural foods are again available.”
Bears weigh energy budgets and their safety when making decisions about where to forage.”

While some indicate that urban areas serve as a refuge for bears when there are food failures, Aspen, Colorado was not
a refuge but an “ecological and evolutionary trap.” Because adult females were removed by agency personnel in Aspen,

62 Johnson et al., "Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-carnivore
conflicts.”; Johnson et al., “Shifting perceptions of risk and reward: Dynamic selection for human development by black bears in the
western United States.”; Lewis et al., "Modeling black bear population dynamics in a human-dominated stochastic environment.”

6 Johnson et al., "Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human-carnivore
conflicts.”

¢ Welfelt, “Black bear population dynamics in the North Cascades.”

¢ Laufenberg et al., “Compounding effects of human development and a natural food shortage on a black bear population along a
human development-wildland interface.”

¢ Laufenberg et al., “Compounding effects of human development and a natural food shortage on a black bear population along a
human development-wildland interface.”

67 S. Baruch-Mordo et al., “Stochasticity in Natural Forage Production Affects Use of Urban Areas by Black Bears: Implications to
Management of Human-Bear Conflicts,” Plos One 9, no. 1 (Jan 2014), e85122, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085122, <Go to
ISI>://WO0S:000329862500218.

¢ Johnson et al., “Shifting perceptions of risk and reward: Dynamic selection for human development by black bears in the western
United States.”

J. S. Lewis et al., “Interspecific interactions between wild felids vary across scales and levels of urbanization,” Article, Ecology and
Evolution 5, no. 24 (Dec 2015), https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1812, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000368136600018; Baruch-Mordo et al.,
“Stochasticity in Natural Forage Production Affects Use of Urban Areas by Black Bears: Implications to Management of Human-Bear
Conflicts.”

70 Lewis et al., “Interspecific interactions between wild felids vary across scales and levels of urbanization.”; Baruch-Mordo et al.,
“Stochasticity in Natural Forage Production Affects Use of Urban Areas by Black Bears: Implications to Management of Human-Bear
Conflicts.”
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it became a black bear population sink.”* In their synthesis article, Elfstrom et al. (2014) suggest that some bears,
particularly females with cubs and subadults, use urban areas as a calculated trade-off to avoid death from despotic
larger bears.”> Urban areas are an unsustainable bear sink because so many breeding females are removed in food-poor
years.”

8. NMDGF cannot successfully hunt its way out of human-bear conflicts

Agencies believe that hunting bears will reduce conflicts with humans. Yet, nine separate studies demonstrate that
hunting bears will not resolve human-bear conflicts (“HBC”) unless a bear population is reduced to an unsustainable
level. While policymakers claim that opening or extending bear trophy hunts will result in fewer bears expanding into
urban areas where they may cause problems,” studies show that bear hunting will only reduce conflicts in cases where
the bear population is reduced below sustainable levels.”” Obbard et al. (2014) write:

We found no significant correlations between harvest and subsequent HBC human-bear conflicts.
Although it may be intuitive to assume that harvesting more bears should reduce HBC, empirical
support for this assumption is lacking despite considerable research (Garshelis 1989, Treves and
Karanth 2003, Huygens et al. 2004, Tavss 2005, Treves 2009, Howe et al. 2010, Treves et al. 2010).7

Research clearly demonstrates that black bear hunting simply does not reduce HBC. Pienaar et al. (2015) write:

Members of the public are likely to believe that bear management and alteration of bear behavior are
the solution to human-bear conflicts. They tend to favor trapping and relocating bears, opening a bear
hunting season, and improving habitat . . . . In contrast, wildlife management agencies recognize that
both lethal and non-lethal management of bears tend to be costly, time consuming, and difficult to
implement in urban locations. Agencies also understand that these measures are ineffective in
addressing root causes of human-bear conflicts, such as increased development of habitat, diverse
public attitudes about bear management, and human food conditioning of bears (Peine 2001, Gore et
al. 2006, Agree and Miller 2009, Don Carlos et al. 2009, Lowery et al. 2012).”

71 Baruch-Mordo et al., “Stochasticity in Natural Forage Production Affects Use of Urban Areas by Black Bears: Implications to
Management of Human-Bear Conflicts,” 8.

72 M. Elfstrom et al., “Ultimate and proximate mechanisms underlying the occurrence of bears close to human settlements: review
and management implications,” Mammal Review 44, no. 1 (Jan 2014), https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.2012.00223 %, <Go to
ISI>://W0S:000327796800002; Marcus Elfstrom et al., “"Does despotic behavior or food search explain the occurrence of problem
brown bears in Europe?,” The Journal of Wildlife Management 78, no. 5 (2014), https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.727,
http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.727.

73 Baruch-Mordo et al., “Stochasticity in Natural Forage Production Affects Use of Urban Areas by Black Bears: Implications to
Management of Human-Bear Conflicts.”

7*Hank Hristienko and Jr. McDonald, John E., “Going in the 21st Century: A Perspective on Trends and Controversies in the
Management of the Black Bear ” Ursus 18, no. 1 (2007); A. Treves, K. J. Kapp, and D. M. MacFarland, “American Black Bear Nuisance
Complaints and Hunter Take,” Ursus 21, no. 1 (2010).

75 M. E. Obbard et al., “Relationships among Food Availability, Harvest, and Human-Bear Conflict at Landscape Scales in Ontario,
Canada,” Ursus 25, no. 2 (2014); E. J. Howe et al., “Do Public Complaints Reflect Trends in Human-Bear Conflict?” Ursus21, no. 2
(2010).

76 Obbard et al., Relationships among Food Availability, Harvest, and Human-Bear Conflict at Landscape Scales in Ontario, Canada.”
77 Elizabeth F. Pienaar, David Telesco, and Sarah Barrett, “Understanding People’s Willingness to Implement Measures to Manage
Human-Bear Conflict in Florida,” Journal of Wildlife Management 79, no. 5 (2015)., p. 798.
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Bear hunts do not reduce conflicts because trophy hunters generally remove non-problem bears from the population;
that is, the individuals not involved in nuisance behaviors.”® Instead, hunters attempt to target large, male bears to
acquire an impressive trophy,”® but those bears are not the ones living near humans.*

9. Solutions to alleviate human-bear conflicts must be multi-faceted for success

A host of biologists and social scientists suggest that bear aware campaigns must focus on the benefits to society as a
result of maintaining healthy bear populations, along with co-existence education.® Tolerance for bears increases when
residents learn the benefits of bears and have positive interactions with them, whereas intolerance stems from elevated
risk perceptions, negative interactions and a greater trust in wildlife managers, dominionistic values and age.*

Florida state biologists Barrett et al. (2014) emphasized that in working with homeowners and others, an “all-or-none
approach” in neighborhoods was necessary to prevent negative human-bear encounters. That is, everyone needed to
properly use bear-resistant trashcans and prevent attracting bears with other food sources. Barrett et al. (2014) write:

Proactive measures (e.g. securing trash, electrical fencing, education) dealing with human behavior
are much more efficient than reactive methods (e.g., aversive conditioning, relocation, euthanasia) in
reducing human-bear incidents because changing or managing human behavior is more likely to
provide longer-term solutions than managing a wildlife species alone (Baruch-Mordo et al. 2009).%*

Studies from Colorado find the same. Everyone must work in concert. That involves providing bear resistant trash cans
to residents, educating them and using law enforcement against scofflaws.®

Washington’s successful Karelian bear dog program, which is entirely funded with private donations, is a huge success
and brings great goodwill to that agency.®

Bear conflict mitigation for landowners involves employing commonsense, non-lethal solutions across entire
landscapes, such as using the right kind of electric fencing around calving and lambing pens, boneyards, stored animal
feed and around crops. Other strategies include using bear-proof trash receptacles and creating secured dumps in rural

8 A. Treves, K. J. Kapp, and D. M. MacFarland, “American black bear nuisance complaints and hunter take,” Ursus 21, no. 1 (2010),
https://doi.org/10.2192/09gr012.1, <Go to ISI>:/[W0S:000277602700004; M. Elfstrom et al., “Ultimate and proximate mechanisms
underlying the occurrence of bears close to human settlements: review and management implications,” Mamm Rev. 44 (2014),
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.2012.00223.x, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.2012.00223.x.

7® Darimont, Codding, and Hawkes, “"Why men trophy hunt.”; Darimont et al., “The unique ecology of human predators.”

8 Elfstrom et al., “Ultimate and proximate mechanisms underlying the occurrence of bears close to human settlements: review and
management implications.”

81 Slagle et al., “Building tolerance for bears: A communications experiment.”; Bruskotter Jeremy T. and Wilson Robyn S.,
“Determining Where the Wild Things will be: Using Psychological Theory to Find Tolerance for Large Carnivores,” Conservation
Letters7,no. 3 (2014), https://doi.org/doi:10.1111/conl.12072, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/conl.12072; Stacy A.
Lischka et al., “Understanding and managing human tolerance for a large carnivore in a residential system,” Biological Conservation
238 (2019/10/01/ 2019), https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.07.034,
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0006320718316276.

82 Lischka et al., “Understanding and managing human tolerance for a large carnivore in a residential system.”

8 M. A. Barrett et al., “Testing Bear-Resistant Trash Cans in Residential Areas of Florida,” Article, Southeastern Naturalist13, no. 1
(Mar 2014), https://doi.org/10.1656/058.013.0102, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000333891100005., p. 36.

8 Heather Johnson et al., “Assessing Ecological and Social Outcomes of a Bear-Proofing Experiment,” The Journal of Wildlife
Management (10/01 2018), https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.21472.

8 Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, “Karelian Bear Dog Program,” https;//wdfw.wa.gov/enforcement/kbd/cash.html;
https./www.inlander.com/spokane/meet-washington-states-karelian-bear-dogs/Slideshow/2772624 (2018).
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communities. And perhaps most importantly, cleaning up calving areas and making boneyards inaccessible to native
carnivores.®

In Yosemite National Park, Breck et al. (2007) used radio collars to trip remote alarms to keep bears successfully out of
campgrounds.”’

Temporary diversionary feeding may even be feasible given inevitable food shortages because of the climate crisis.
Garshelis et al. (2017) and Elfstrom et al. (2014) have found that diversionary feeding of starving bears is an effective
tool for reducing and preventing human-bear conflicts. Those foods must be supplied outside of a conflict area, inside a
bear’s home range, and the food cannot be associated with people.®® Managers should supply foods that are similar to
natural foods such as fruits and nuts, but avoid long-term feeding, which can grow the population.®

New Mexico cannot kill its way out of human-bear conflicts—to do so would mean black bear extirpation.” As
Stringham (2013) suggests, agencies’ policies for black bears and other wildlife such as mountain lions are often too
rigid and simplistic to conform with modern societal values that prioritize humaneness and conservation over wanton
killing.”! For instance, he suggests that agencies should not kill bears unless they are a true public safety hazard—and
not because someone felt frightened when they saw one.”

While food is the root cause of most negative human-bear interactions, Herrero et al. (2011) write: “Each year, millions
of interactions between people and black bears occur without any injury to a person, although by 2 years of age most
black bears have the physical capacity to kill a person.””

10. Black bears are an important umbrella species and ecological actors who increase biodiversity

Black bears are important in maintaining the ecological systems in their forests. They disperse seeds across vast
distances—even more seeds than birds,”* open up canopies, and amend soils through their various behaviors. Black
bears eat fruits and deposit them across long distances (and mice assist by removing the seeds from bear feces, where
they would otherwise mildew, and cache them in soil where some will grow).” Bears cause small-scale ecological
disturbance to the canopy that allows sun to filter to the forest floor, which creates greater biological diversity.”® Bears

8 S. M. Wilson, E. H. Bradley, and G. A. Neudecker, “Learning to live with wolves: community-based conservation in the Blackfoot
Valley of Montana,” Article, Human-Wildlife Interactions 11, no. 3 (Win 2017), <Go to ISI>://WO0S:000422844800010.

87 S. W. Breck et al., “An automated system for detecting and reporting trespassing bears in Yosemite National Park,” Ursus 18, no. 2
(2007), https://doi.org/10.2192/1537-6176(2007)18[230:aasfda]2.0.co;2, <Go to ISI>://W0S:000251772900010. Oscar C. Huygens and
Hidetake Hayashi, “Using electric fences to reduce Asiatic black bear depredation in Nagano Prefecture, Central Japan,” Wildlife
Society Bulletin 27, no. 4 (1999).

8 D. L. Garshelis et al., Is diversionary feeding an effective tool for reducing human-bear conflicts? Case studies from North America
and Europe,” Article, Ursus 28, no. 1 (2017), https://doi.org/10.2192/ursu-d-16-00019.1, <Go to ISI>;/W0OS:000409564500004; Elfstrom
et al., “Ultimate and proximate mechanisms underlying the occurrence of bears close to human settlements: review and management
implications.”

8 Garshelis et al., ”Is diversionary feeding an effective tool for reducing human-bear conflicts? Case studies from North America and
Europe.”

0 E. J. Howe et al., “Do public complaints reflect trends in human-bear conflict?,” Ursus 21, no. 2 (2010),
https://doi.org/10.2192/09gr013.1, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000284520900001; Obbard et al., “Relationships among food availability,
harvest, and human-bear conflict at landscape scales in Ontario, Canada.”

%1 Stephen R. Stringham, “Managing risk from bears and other potentially lethal wildlife: predictability, accountability, and liability,”
Human-Wildlife Interactions 7, no. 1 (2013).

%2 Stringham, “Managing risk from bears and other potentially lethal wildlife: predictability, accountability, and liability.”

% S. Herrero et al., “Fatal Attacks by American Black Bear on People: 1900-2009,” Journal of Wildlife Management75, no. 3 (Apr
2011): 599, https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.72, <Go to ISI>://WOS:000291007800015.

%4 Harrer and Levi, “The primacy of bears as seed dispersers in salmon-bearing ecosystems.”

%5 Enders and Vander Wall, “Black bears Ursus americanus are effective seed dispersers, with a little help from their friends.”

% Takahashi and Takahashi, ”Spatial distribution and size of small canopy gaps created by Japanese black bears: estimating gap size
using dropped branch measurements.”
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break logs while grubbing, which helps the decomposition process and facilitates the return of nutrients to the soil. In
one study, researchers found that black bears were the dominant species moving salmon from streams into riparian
zones. Bears ate about half of the salmon, leaving remnants which contributed to greater tree ring growth. They also
found higher plant growth along the riparian areas where bear trails existed and where bears’ urine deposit was high.””

11. Conclusion

The Commission must appreciate the massive contributions bears make to conserving the biological diversity of their

forest ecosystems. They are highly sentient and deserving of their intrinsic rights to live and not be harassed by trophy
hunters and packs of hounds. We ask the Commission to reject the proposed rule and instead reduce the state’s entire

quota to 335, consistent with prior and better-supported quotas in the state.

If you need access to any of the studies cited herein, please contact me at the email address below.

Sincerely,

l\lﬁw—@ A MUA
( )

Wendy Keefover

Senior Strategist, Native Carnivore Protection
The Humane Society of the United States
wkeefover@humanesociety.org

720-437-0394

°7T. E. Reimchen and C. H. Fox, “Fine-scale spatiotemporal influences of salmon on growth and nitrogen signatures of Sitka spruce
tree rings,” Bmc Ecology 13 (Oct 2013), 38, https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6785-13-38, <Go to ISI>://W0S:000325284000001.
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fw: Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United States
Date: Monday, September 16, 2019 9:29:40 AM

Attachments: HSUS-NMDGF-BB-Requlations-9-13-2019-Final.pdf

From: Wendy Keefove: [

Sent: Friday, September 13, 2019 3:36 PM
To: Lopez, Tirzio, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United States

Dear Com. Lopez,

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





,j‘?!! THE HUMANE SOCIETY
AN, OF THE UNITED STATES

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

7





b4

N }1

W&’
S-m,g(y THE HUMANE SOCIETY

®% N OF THE UNITED STATES

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
Subject: Fw: Black bear mortality information link 2012 - 2018
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:51:38 AM

Please see email thread below.
From: Soules, David, DGF
Sent: Sunday, August 25, 2019 4:47 PM

To: Dennis Hayes
Subject: Fw: Black bear mortality information link 2012 - 2018

Here is the website the department provided. Please note that | have not yet reviewed this
site.

David

From: Comins lll, James C., DGF

Sent: Friday, August 23, 2019 2:29 PM

To: Sloane, Michael B., DGF; Soules, David, DGF

Subject: Black bear mortality information link 2012 - 2018

Commissioner Soules,
Here is the link to the black bear mortality information from 2012-2018...

http://www.wildlife.state.nm.us/download/hunting/species/bear/Black-Bear-Mortality-
2012_2018.pdf

Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone
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To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Comments on Bear/Cougar and a few others things (UNCLASSIFIED)
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:53:41 AM

Please see comments below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Monday, August 19, 2019 4:20 PM

To: Ahlgrim, Brian

Subject: Re: Comments on Bear/Cougar and a few others things (UNCLASSIFIED)

Hi Brian:
Let's do Wednesday. I have to leave after lunch to make it up to Santa Fe for the commission meeting on Thursday,
but since we have opened the bear and cougar rule, I would like to hear your ideas before that meeting. Dave is

more than welcome. Does 11:00 at the Frontier Club work for both of you?

Thanks,
David

From: Ahlgrim, Brian

Sent: Monday, August 19, 2019 12:42 PM

To: Soules, David, DGF

Subject: [EXT] RE: Comments on Bear/Cougar and a few others things (UNCLASSIFIED)

CLASSIFICATION: UNCLASSIFIED

Commissioner Soules,

Apologies for missing your call; I'm in and out quite a bit.

I'd be more than happy to have lunch and chit chat and would like to bring
Dave Baca (CC'd) along as well (my boss & fellow hunter) if you're ok with
that.

He shares quite a few of the same ideas but we'd also be open to hearing

differentiating viewpoints on these issues and many more.

As of now, it looks like Wednesday or Thursday are open for us and we're
fairly flexible on times.

Respectfully,

Brian Ahlgrim

----- Original Message-----

From: Soules, David, DG
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Sent: Monday, August 19, 2019 10:54 AM

To: Ahlgrim, Brian

Subject: [Non-DoD Source] Re: Comments on Bear/Cougar and a few others
things (UNCLASSIFIED)

Hi Brian:

I tried to call, but wasn't able to reach you. Would you like to have lunch
in the next day or two to discuss your ideas?

Best,

David

From: Ahlgrim, Brian

Sent: Monday, August 19, 2019 9:16 AM

To: Cramer, Gail, DGF; Soules, David, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Comments on Bear/Cougar and a few others things
(UNCLASSIFIED)

CLASSIFICATION: UNCLASSIFIED

**View as HTML**

Commission Cramer/Commissioner Soules,

Good Afternoon to you both and congratulations on your recent appointments
to the Game Commission!

Commissioner Soules - it was a pleasure to make your acquaintance (albeit
briefly) outside of Bldg. 1512 at WSMR a few weeks ago. I find it exciting
and a rare opportunity to have Commissioners available and willing to hear
comments about our tremendous state and wildlife resources! I thank you for



your openness and willingness to take the time to introduce yourself and
speak with me.

Commission Cramer - Always a joy and pleasure to speak/visit with you. I
respect you, your service and knowledge about this state more than you know!
Moreover, your experiences in NM, both North and South should be valued by
all, and I sincerely look forward to your insight, comments and proposals

for our state in the years to come. I think you have a very unique

perspective on issues with hunting/fishing and also know that you and David
(Cramer) have a wealth of experience that will tremendously benefit this

state as a whole.

Now, onto my reason for reaching out. I had a few comments on a few things
from the past meeting and some other related comments. I certainly know that
my thoughts may or may not reflect the majority so please don't feel
obligated to initiate or take action on anything mentioned; I'm simply

voicing an opinion for future discussions which may or may not be relevant
to your upcoming agenda's. I also understand that I am not a biologist, so I
am only sending you viewpoints from my many, many days afield each year (a
hunter's perspective and nothing more!). You may not agree at all which is
completely fine...I'm just relaying a few things I've experienced over the

past several years which I think may need to be evaluated for potential
tweaks/changes.

Commission Meeting 24-Jul-19; Agenda Item 10: Bear/Cougar Rule

While I don't have any comments on the proposed rules as they are listed, I
do have a comment about the way bears are hunted in the Gila National Forest
that has become an ever increasing issue over the past 5-10 years, with the
last 3 years being very problematic. Currently, bear hunting begins in the
Gila National forest (Bear Zone 10) on 16-Aug annually. There are a few of
us dedicated bear hunters who take advantage of this early season to chase
bears which we greatly enjoy. However, unlike other parts of the state, the
use of dogs is allowed during this time frame which has created a number of
issues. There are several outfitters that have made the habit of attaching
dogs to the front and back bumpers of their trucks and endlessly driving
every accessible road in the Gila and beyond searching for bears tracks,
scent etc.. GMU 16A from Reserve up through Bear Wallow, Corner Mountain and
down to Snow Lake is notorious for this activity every year. While I don't
necessarily have an issue with this per se and they aren't breaking any laws
(assuming they stay within designated travel corridors), the issue I see and
have experienced firsthand is that these trucks and personnel are running
deer, elk, bear, and turkey and everything else all over the place for two
solid weeks prior to bow season. And when I say make a habit...it's all day
every day for two straight weeks. Not to mention the chaos that ensues when
scent is discovered and hounds are released after a bear. You now have a
scenario where 6-8 dogs are bellowing through the woods followed by 4
hunters and a guide and essentially an entire canyon is disturbed, often
times for several days as wildlife have been run into other areas. I have a



hard time swallowing this practice, especially in areas I've spent all

summer scouting only to have the entire area changed two weeks prior to
opening day by bear hunters and bellowing hounds. Bow hunting is already
challenging enough, but in the past few years, animals are spooked, void of
typical watering locations, absent from meadows or otherwise relatively
accessible areas and have been driven into steep nasty locations of the Gila
from the constant day-to-day vehicular traffic by hunters/outfitters

pursuing bears. While I don't want this early bear season to cease (nor
prevent outfitters from using dogs later in the season), I'd sure like to

see an adjustment made which disallows the use of dogs prior to the archery
season in order to give archers a better chance of success. After archery
season is over, I have no issue with this activity so long as normal regs

are followed and closed roads aren't being driven illegally. Other bear
zones don't allow bear hunting until 1-Sept, and if this is due to state law

or in response to this exact "dog issue", then my next suggestion would be
to have the southern zones follow suit OR disallow dog use until after the
conclusion of the archery season. If this included an extension to the bear
season to ensure harvest quotas are met, that would be fine with me. Again,
I do not want to interrupt the use of dogs for bear hunting, nor prevent
outfitters or the general public from hunting bear prior to archery season,
but would simply like the use of dogs to be restricted until after the
conclusion of archery season. The use of dogs from 16-Aug through 31-Aug is
negatively affecting the hunting environment for those early season archers
in the Gila and surrounding regions in my experience. If that also meant
that firearms would need to be restricted prior to archery season for the
same issues, no problem. I'd still hunt them with archery tackle from 16-Aug
to 31-Aug.

Note - Update from opening weekend 2019; 4 different trucks full of dogs
running around in GMU 16A. Sat a few areas bears had consistently been
showing up to all summer, no surprise that we heard dogs all weekend and
never saw a bear, even though they were frequent on our cameras all summer.
Frustrating. Also watched these guys drive their trucks to two waterholes
with closed roads. Drove right to them hoping to catch bear scent. Also, 3

of our areas/tanks full of elk all summer (even last week) seemed to be

sparse with life these past 3 days, and with no rain the only other change

is the vehicles and dogs covering the hill sides. It makes you feel as

though you scouted for nothing..with only 12 days until bow season opens.

Comment on Archery Elk Hunting for the next 4 years (I believe the ungulate
rules are about due to be reviewed either this year or next)

Another issue I've encountered over the past 4 years since the change made
by the previous commission is the significant overcrowding of bow hunters in
Unit 16A since the 3-tiered hunt system was abandoned at the direction of
Commissioner Salopek. Prior to this, 16A had three fall archery hunts; Sept.
1-10, 11-18, and 19-24. The first and second hunts had distributions of 150
tags/hunt, with the 3rd seeing 100-125 lucky hunters. This was a great
system, kept the distribution of hunters spread out and allowed archers to
have a much less crowded forest in which to pursue game via stick and

string. When commissioner Salopek did away with the 3 tiered system, 16A



became subject to 2 hunts as are most other units. The problem is that the
same number of tags were condensed into these two hunts with the first
receiving a whopping 250 elk hunters, 300 deer hunters (unit wide.not just
16A), turkey hunters, bear hunters not to mention recreationalists etc. and
it's become a circus in that unit until the 15th of the month. I've been
fortunate to help and call for people the last two years (and have spent 20
years hunting this area) on this hunt and you simply can't get away from the
people after the recent changes. Now that deer archers are dedicated to
either Sept or January per the new draw requirements, there will be an
additional influx of traffic in these areas. Compounding these issues even
further, the forest service has eliminated a huge chunk of legal camping
area (listed as distributed or non-distributed camping), closed off several
public designated camp grounds due to flooding, ATV's are now prohibited
for game retrieval, and many roads simply aren't traversable even by ATV due
to wash outs, toppled trees etc. All of these together have taken away the
main weapon I/we have in which to defeat overcrowding which is my legs,
strength and dedication to walk 3-5 miles into the forest before starting to
hunt.

Without ATV use (retrieval only), limited areas to camp, the Gila's typical
80-90 degree September days, and the mass of people all crammed into the
same camp spots, It's difficult to walk far enough into the woods to get
away from other hunters, yet still be close enough to pack out an elk
without it spoiling due to the aggressive heat. It's a very challenging and
concerning issue. Over the past few years the number of half rotten
carcasses is alarming and honestly hard to stomach, but pales in comparison
to the frustration being felt throughout hunters camps' from stepping on and
fighting people all day long. Honest guys who care more about the meat than
headgear are distraught, (sick even) when we get half an elk out and the
other half rots before we can do anything with it. The majority of guys I
know have huge decisions to make when the opportunity presents itself; how
far am I from a road? Can I get this animal out in time? With all the

people, will I get another chance? Is something/someone going to steal my
horns before I get back (yes...this has happened twice that I know of). Or
we're forced to a make a decision on the fly, and find out later in fact we
were too far from a road, half of that precious elk is going to spoil and

what can we do about it??? Not much. Tough place to be in for an archer! I
have literally seen fist fights, have seen pistols pulled over roads being
blocked by trucks/ATV's, have seen trees cut and placed across roads etc.,
all in an effort to get away from people and/or secure an area in which to
hunt. While there are other glaring issues here, the overarching issue is

that of too many archers in the woods at the same time. Compound that with
the bear traffic prior to the bow season, 250 licensed hunters and probably
closer to 1000 people (250 hunters plus guests) in the woods at once, it's
becoming rare to find elk within a mile of a road until late in the rut or

even October.

The second archery hunt isn't as bad as the tag allocation is set to 150
licenses as of 2018. This is doable and not nearly as crowded as the first
hunt, but again, with the additional rules, new influx of deer hunters
required to hunt in Sept, this may even be a bit crowded. 16A is a fantastic
elk unit, and moreover a trophy unit in which beautiful animals can be
harvested. With that in mind, those lucky enough to draw this extremely



coveted tag (if memory serves Stewart Liley said it would take a minimum of
26 years on a point system to draw a 16A hunt) should have a hunt which is
NOT subject to extreme overcrowding as they may never draw it again. I'm not
suggesting reducing the tags, extending overall archery dates or anything
which reduces opportunity, only to restore the 3 hunt system within the

already designated season (1-Sept through 24-Sept) to help alleviate the
number of people per hunt and allow the best possible hunt to archers of all
abilities and backgrounds; guided or DIY. I also think this would benefit

the entire state, not just the southern units.

Would returning to a three tiered hunt system in 16A/C/D, 34, 15, 17, 23,
and some of our other prime elk hunting areas help this issue by reducing
the overcrowding that frustrates a number of hunters, yet still keep the
opportunity and tag numbers the same? I realize complaints about shortened
seasons will definitely be heard, but I personally think the "pros" far
outweigh the "cons". I'd rather only have 6-8 days to bow hunt in less
crowded conditions than 15 days to hunt while wading through people every
day. Just a personal opinion but I have to say it's shared by a large number
of hunters I associate with. I'm sure there are biological issues, possibly
even ecological issues I may not be considering, but right now this design

is Impacting the overall appeal, hunt quality and success of one of our most
coveted areas, and frustrating the lucky few fortunate enough to draw these
tags.

Thanks for taking the time to read and thanks for taking time out of your
personal lives to become a game commissioner. I'm sure it's a daunting task
and a thankless one at times, so thank you both for all that you do for our
state, our animals, and the men and women that love the outdoors.

Very Sincerely and Respectfully,

Brian Ahlgrim
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fw: Cougar Bag Limits

Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:48:39 AM
Attachments: image002.png

Please see comments below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 10:02 PM
To: Jessica Johnson

Subject: Re: Cougar Bag Limits

Hello Jess:

Thank you for the response. It's nice to know that someone out there is noticing things like
that.

Best regards,
David

From: Jessica Johnson ||| G

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 4:28 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Cougar Bag Limits

Dear Commissioner Soules,

| just wanted to say thank you for prompting NMDGF, during the Game Commission public
meeting last week, to add to their Bear & Cougar Rule proposals to no longer allow an
additional two tags for cougar license holders who filled their original two tags. | was pleased
to see this was added to NMDGF’s proposal yesterday on the website.

With appreciation,

Jess
Jessica Johnson

Making Sure Animals Matter in Every New Mexican Community

Learn more o N
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fw: Cougar Trapping

Date: Sunday, September 08, 2019 9:37:20 AM
FYI....

Joanna Prukop, Chair
NM State Game Commission

From: thoma

Sent: Saturday, September 7, 2019 12:11:01 PM

To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez,
Tirzio, DGF; Soules, David, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Cougar Trapping

Dear Commissioners:

| would like to comment on the NMDGF's proposal to end trapping of cougars and reduce the
guota in the state.

There is no biological or scientific reason for prohibiting trapping of cougars in NM nor is
there any public safety issue involved.

Eliminating cougar trapping will affect the game populations where | currently set traps.
Further, issuing depredation permits prevent me from using the animal's pelt, meat and other
products. (yes, we had lion loin for Christmas dinner 2 years ago when we were successful in

trapping).

The Dept. statistics show cougar numbers are increasing. It isn't wise use to restrict sound
wildlife practices to appease a segment of the population who won't be "satisfied" until there
is no harvest by any means.

If the cougar "take" with traps is as insignificant as the Dept. says, then why do they count it in
the harvest? My wife and | could have continued trapping cougars if it's that insignificant!

Thank you for your attention and time

Tom Fisher
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Cougar Trapping
Date: Wednesday, September 11, 2019 11:43:55 AM

From: thomas

Sent: Saturday, September 7, 2019 12:11 PM

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
quota in the state.

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
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 6:04:53 AM

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
Subject: Fw: cougar trapping
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:47:26 AM

From: CLAUDIA fisH~ [

Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 7:40 PM

To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez,
Tirzio, DGF; Soules, David, DGF

Subject: [EXT] cougar trapping

Dear Commissioners:

| am requesting that you continue to allow the trapping of cougars on private land. As the
Dept. itself stated, there is no biological or scientific reason to abolish cougar trapping.
Regulating through social pressure is not good for animals or humans.

We have been requested by private landowners to remove predating cougars from their land
which we were able to do and took care of a problem at no expense to the NMDGF. We were
also able to use the pelt and meat which would not have been allowed under a depredation
permit.

| urge you to continue cougar trapping.

Thank you

Claudia W. Fisher
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From: I

To: DGE-Furbearer-Rules
Subject: Fw: Cougar Trapping
Date: Monday, September 09, 2019 11:50:33 AM

From: thomas <realecologyco@hotmail.com>

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
Subject: Fw: | support mountain lion trapping
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 6:06:28 AM

From: Jim Beevers <beeversjp@hotmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, September 5, 2019 6:41 AM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF

Subject: [EXT] | support mountain lion trapping

| support mountain lion trapping. Thank you
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Cc: Ruybal. Matt, GOV

Subject: FW: Lucas Houghton - NMGF Issue - Website
Date: Monday, August 19, 2019 12:44:46 PM
Hello,

Good afternoon. Please add the comment below to the rulemaking record for
the upcoming Bear and Cougar rule revisions.

Thanks.

Sandra C. DuCharme

CONSERVING NEW MEXICO’S WILDLIFE FOR FUTURE GENERATIONS

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail, including all attachments is for the sole use of the intended recipient[s]
and may contain confidential and/or privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, copying, disclosure
or distribution is prohibited, unless specifically provided under the New Mexico Inspection of Public Records
Act. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender at once and destroy all copies of this
message.

From: Ruybal, Matt, GOV

Sent: Monday, August 19, 2019 11:57 AM

To: DuCharme, Sandra, DGF

Subject: Lucas Houghton - NMGF Issue - Website

Sandra,


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us
mailto:Matt.Ruybal@state.nm.us

Please see the email below regarding a NMGF concern. Please cc this office on any responses.
Sincerely,

Matt

Lucas Houghton

August 19, 2019 To The Honorable Michelle Lujan Grisham 490 Old Santa Fe Trail Room 400 Santa Fe, NM 87501
Dear Governor Grisham: The Sportsmen’s Alliance continues to be the leading organization fighting coast to coast
against any action that threatens hunting, fishing or trapping, while at the same time, proactively advancing and
supporting initiatives that allow more opportunities for sportsmen and women. The Sportsmen’s Alliance, on
behalf of its New Mexico members, urge you to ask the New Mexico Game Commission to reject Bear and Cougar
Rule Development 19.31.11, a regulation proposal which would ban the trapping of cougar on private land and
state trust lands which make up roughly 98 percent of hunt-able public land. The New Mexico Game Commission
has said they are creating this rule based on social issues and not biological justifications. This a very dangerous
precedent to set since wildlife management relies on science to be successful, not social movements just because
a small group opposes a practice. Trapping is utilized by state fish and wildlife agencies, the federal government
and Canadian provinces to control wildlife populations and is a useful tool against depredation from game animals
and protecting property. According to the New Mexico Department of Game & Fish (NMDGF) there is an estimated
population of 3,000 to 4,000 cougars residing in the state. Additionally, cougar harvest numbers which are set by
the New Mexico State Game Commission, have not reached state maximum thresholds in years. As a result,
cougar numbers continue to increase, becoming a greater threat to people, pets and livestock. Grazing is currently
utilized on state trust lands by cattle ranchers and provides funding to the office of the New Mexico State Lands
Office for education and other public school funding. According to the United States Department of Agriculture,
cougars ranked the 3rd top predator in New Mexico for cattle related deaths in 2015. As apex predators, cougars
have a great impact on iconic wildlife as well including mule deer, pronghorn antelope and elk. Trapping offers a
safe way to help mitigate depredation and lowers unwanted interactions between cougars, pets, people and
livestock. Banning trapping on private property and the nearly 9 million acres of state trust lands will only create
an environment where there is a greater risk of unwanted encounters with cougars. It is for these reasons we
would ask you to stand with the Sportsmen’s Alliance by asking the New Mexico Game Commission to reject Bear
and Cougar Rule Development 19.31.11, regulation proposal. | would be happy to discuss the matter with you
further. Sincerely, Luke Houghton Associate Director of State Services CC: Commissioner Roberta Salazar-Henry
Commissioner Jimmy Bates Commissioner Gail Cramer Commissioner Tirzio Lopez Commissioner David Soules
Commissioner Jeremy Vesbach Commissioner Joanna Prukop

Matt Ruybal

Director

Constituent Services

Office of Governor Michelle Lujan Grisham
490 Old Santa Fe Trail, Ste. 400

Santa Fe, NM 87501
matt.ruybal@state.nm.us

Direct: 505-476-2204

Fax: 505-476-2226

Cell: 505-690-8115

Web:www.governor.state.nm.us
Twitter: https://twitter.com/govmig
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https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__twitter.com_govmlg&d=DwMF-g&c=L93KkjKsAC98uTvC4KvQDdTDRzAeWDDRmG6S3YXllH0&r=llfCgNPuesbTRFkfWptn3uN9GQGvt9FJC0ORUzz4vx8&m=PJNVxzWKtpBAagoTaUswetpMtMYI3gOvzOIBs8E2D5c&s=gT3oqIH9c0U9AbfAtOvUzPifxP4XZsmwpI659pBj06w&e=

From: I

To: DGE-Furbearer-Rules
Subject: Fw: Mountain lion trapping
Date: Monday, September 09, 2019 11:51:37 AM

From: Jim Beevers <beeversjp@hotmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, September 5, 2019 6:43 AM
To: Lopez, Tirzio, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Mountain lion trapping

| support mountain lion trapping.thank you
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Mountain lion trapping
Date: Monday, September 09, 2019 9:00:26 PM

From: Jim Beevers <beeversjp@hotmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, September 5, 2019 6:39 AM
To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Mountain lion trapping

| support mountain lion trapping thank you.
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From: I

To: DGE-Furbearer-Rules
Subject: Fw: Mountain lion trapping
Date: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 12:12:46 PM

Please see below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Thursday, September 5, 2019 12:57 PM
To: Jim Beevers

Subject: Re: Mountain lion trapping

Thank you for your comment.

David Soules

From: Jim Becvers [

Sent: Thursday, September 5, 2019 6:44 AM
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
Date: Thursday, September 05, 2019 12:55:21 PM

See comment below.

From: im eevers I

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

Subject: Fw: NM Bear Sows

Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:43:30 AM

Attachments: Gould_et_al-2018-The_Journal_of Wildlife_Management.pdf

Please see comments below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Monday, September 2, 2019 3:08 PM
To: kristin thompson

Subject: Re: NM Bear Sows

Hi Kristin:

| have attached the publication that | referenced. | should also note that the data on the
average age of sows came from the Game and Fish department's harvest data over the last 10
years broken out by bear management zone. That information was provided to me by Jan and
Dennis Hayes. They are truly remarkable people and | admire the work they have done to
champion proper bear management and public education regarding bears throughout the
state.

Thanks again,
David

From: kristin thompson N

Sent: Friday, August 30, 2019 9:48 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Re: NM Bear Sows

Thank you so much for taking the time to respond. Unfortunately, it’s been awhile since I've
trusted the statistics that have come from the Game Department but if the new study has real
merit, | truly hope the average age is increasing. It would certainly be a plus. It's been years
since I've seen a bear - just like it’s interestingly been at least 2 years since |'ve seen coyotes in
my neighborhood, the foothills area of ABQ - | used to see them regularly when | was out. I'll
always be interested in seeing that any animal lives a long life - it’s better for every species,
whether on land or in the oceans - now there’s where the average ages have really declined.
I'd be interested in reading the study you mention - is it a public report yet?

Thanks again, Kristin
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The Journal of Wildlife Management; DOI: 10.1002/jwmg.21432

Research Article

Density of American Black Bears in New

Mexico

MATTHEW J. GOULD,! Department of Fish, Wildlife and Conservation Ecology, New Mexico State University, PO Box 30003, MSC 4901, Las

Cruces, NM 88003, USA

JAMES W. CAIN, III, U.S. Geological Survey, New Mexico Cooperative Fish and Wildlife Research Unit, New Mexico State University, Department
of Fish, Wildlife and Conservation Ecology, PO Box 30003, MSC 4901, Las Cruces, NM 88003, USA

GARY W. ROEMER, Department of Fish, Wildlife and Conservation Ecology, New Mexico State University, PO Box 30003, MSC 4901, Las

Cruces, NM 88003, USA

WILLIAM R. GOULD, Applied Statistics Program, New Mexico State University, PO Box 30001, MSC 34D, Las Cruces, NM 88003, USA
STEWART G. LILEY, New Mexico Department of Game and Fish, 1 Wildlife Way, Santa Fe, NM 87507, USA

ABSTRACT Considering advances in noninvasive genetic sampling and spatially explicit capture—recapture
(SECR) models, the New Mexico Department of Game and Fish sought to update their density estimates for
American black bear (Ursus americanus) populations in New Mexico, USA, to aide in setting sustainable
harvest limits. We estimated black bear density in the Sangre de Cristo, Sandia, and Sacramento Mountains,
New Mexico, 2012-2014. We collected hair samples from black bears using hair traps and bear rubs and used
a sex marker and a suite of microsatellite loci to individually genotype hair samples. We then estimated
density in a SECR framework using sex, elevation, land cover type, and time to model heterogeneity in
detection probability and the spatial scale over which detection probability declines. We sampled the
populations using 554 hair traps and 117 bear rubs and collected 4,083 hair samples. We identified 725 (367
male, 358 female) individuals. Our density estimates varied from 16.5 bears/100 km? (95% CI = 11.6-23.5)
in the southern Sacramento Mountains to 25.7 bears/100 km? (95% CI=13.2-50.1) in the Sandia
Mountains. Overall, detection probability at the activity center (g0) was low across all study areas and ranged
from 0.00001 to 0.02. The low values of g0 were primarily a result of half of all hair samples for which
genotypes were attempted failing to produce a complete genotype. We speculate that the low success we had
genotyping hair samples was due to exceedingly high levels of ultraviolet (UV) radiation that degraded the
DNA in the hair. Despite sampling difficulties, we were able to produce density estimates with levels of
precision comparable to those estimated for black bears elsewhere in the United States. © 2018 The Wildlife
Society.

KEY WORDS American black bear, capture-recapture, density estimation, DNA degradation, New Mexico, Ursus

americanus.

State agencies spend a large portion of their annual budget
estimating abundance and population trends of game
animals, in part, so they can set sustainable harvest levels.
Survey methods for large ungulates are well-developed and
can provide relatively robust estimates of abundance for
common game species such as deer (Odocoileus spp.) and elk
(Cervus canadensis; Bleich et al. 2001, Zabransky et al. 2016).
In contrast, estimating the abundance or density of large
carnivores such as American black bears (Ursus americanus,
hereafter, black bears) is more difficult because their cryptic
behavior and low population densities make common survey
methods used for large ungulates (e.g., aerial counts)
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ineffective because of low detection rates (Miller 1990,
Obbard et al. 2010). Historically, many state agencies set
harvest limits for carnivores based on harvest data, including
sex ratio and age structure of the harvested animals, which
can be used to infer harvest effects on a population (Garshelis
1990, Hristienko and McDonald 2007). Yet, hunter
selectivity and sex-specific vulnerability may influence
harvest composition (Miller 1990, Beston and Mace 2012).

In New Mexico, USA, as in other parts of the American
Southwest, black bears inhabit forested mountain ranges
separated by desert and grassland valleys resulting in
fragmented populations with varying degrees of connectivity
(Atwood et al. 2011). Prior to their designation as a game
species in 1927, the statewide black bear population was
reduced to 660 owing to unlimited hunting and government
sponsored anti-predator programs (New Mexico Depart-

ment of Game and Fish [NMGFD] 1926). With legislative
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protection in place, the statewide population increased to
3,000 animals by the mid-1960s (Lee 1967). For nearly
20 years, this population estimate, paired with hunter harvest
data, was the basis for setting harvest limits by the NMDGF.
However, uncertainty in trends in black bear abundance
during the late 1980s resulted in NMDGF initiating a
decade-long study of black bear ecology in the 1990s
(Costello et al. 2001).

New Mexico’s most recent density estimates for black bear
were derived from Costello et al. (2001) by dividing the
minimum population size that was calculated using
population reconstruction, which counts the number of
individuals known to be alive during the study based on
known age, by the effective trapping area (Dice 1938, Wilson
and Anderson 1985, Eberhardt and Knight 1996). Their
minimum density estimates were 17.0 bears/100 km? for the
more mesic Sangre de Cristo Mountains in northern New
Mexico and 9.4 bears/100 km? for the more xeric Mogollon
Mountains of west-central New Mexico with intermediate
habitat conditions being assigned a density equal to the mean
of these 2 density estimates (i.e., 13.2 bears/100 km?). Using
a habitat suitability model, the NMDGF extrapolated these
density estimates to similar land cover types throughout New
Mexico. This extrapolation served as the basis for statewide
estimates of abundance for black bears that were then
incorporated into a population projection model to monitor
abundance and its trend in each Bear Management Zone
(BMZ).

Innovations in non-invasive genetic sampling techniques
(NGS; Woods et al. 1999), coupled with robust statistical
analyses such as spatially explicit capture—recapture (SECR;
Efford 2004), have provided researchers with improved tools
to estimate the abundance and density of carnivore
populations from which harvest limits can be established.
These tools have facilitated monitoring efforts and produced
density estimates for black bear populations across much of
their range (Stetz et al. 2014, Hooker et al. 2015, Sun et al.
2017).

Considering advances in NGS and SECR models, the
NMDGEF sought to update their density estimates for New
Mexico black bear populations. Our objectives were to
estimate the density of black bears in primary bear habitat
within 7 of the 14 BMZs in New Mexico.

STUDY AREA

The 7 BMZs were encompassed by 5 study areas located in
the northern (NSC; 6,400km?) and southern (SSC;
3,525 km?) Sangre de Cristo, Sandia (300 km?), and
northern  (NSacs; 925km?) and southern (SSacs;
2,775 km?) Sacramento Mountains, New Mexico (Fig. 1).
We sampled the Sandia Mountains in their entirety because
of their smaller size. The 2 BMZs located in the NSC and
the 2 in the SSacs are managed by NMDGF using the same
estimate of density. Thus, we only report density for 5 study
areas instead of 7 BMZs. Sampling within each study area
was limited to primary bear habitat, which is defined as
closed-canopy forest and woodland cover types (Fig. 1;
Thompson et al. 1996, Costello et al. 2001). All 5 study areas

b
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Figure 1. Primary American black bear habitat in New Mexico, USA
highlighting the northern (NSC) and southern (SSC) Sangre de Cristo,
Sandia, and northern (NSacs) and southern (SSacs) Sacramento Mountains
study areas.

were managed as multiple-use forests by federal and state
agencies and private landowners encompassing portions of 4
National Forests, 6 wilderness areas, and 25 parcels of private
land. The topography was diverse for each mountain range
and maximum elevation was 4,011 m, 3,254 m, and 3,649 m
for the Sangre de Cristo, Sandia, and Sacramento Mountains
and minimum elevation was approximately 1,900 m,
1,700 m, and 1,500 m, respectively. The Southern Rocky
Mountains floristic district characterized the Sangre de
Cristo Mountains, whereas the Mogollon floristic district
characterized the Sandia and Sacramento Mountains.
Dominant vegetation types in the study areas included
oak-mountain mahogany (Quercus spp.-Cercocarpus spp.)
scrublands, pinon pine-juniper (Pinus edulis-Juniperus spp.)
woodlands, ponderosa pine (P. ponderosa), white pine (P.
monticola), Douglas fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii), aspen
(Populus tremuloides), Engleman spruce-subalpine fir (Picea
engelmannii-Abies lasiocarpa) mixed-forest, and bristlecone
(P. aristata) and limber (P. flexilis) pine forests (Costello et al.
2001). Important mast-producing species included oak,
pinon pine, juniper, red barberry (Mahonia haematocarpa),
chokecherry (Prunus wirginiana), gooseberry (Ribes spp.),
alpine cancer-root (Conopholis alpina), cactus (Opuntia spp.),
and sumac (Rhus spp.; Kaufmann et al. 1998, Costello et al.
2001). The average monthly temperature was highest in July
across the Sangres (24-29°C), Sacramentos (22-29°C) and
Sandias (33°C), and lowest in January across the Sangres
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(=15°C to —8°C), Sacramentos (—7°C to —5°C), and
Sandias (—5°C; Western Regional Climate Center 2017).
The average monthly precipitation was highest during the
monsoon season (Jul-Oct) with rainfall peaking in August
across the Sangres (7.10-8.15cm), Sacramentos (7.62-
12.70 cm), and Sandias (5.3 cm; Western Regional Climate
Center 2017). Other common predators in the study areas
included mountain lion (Puma concolor), bobcat (Lynx rufus),
coyote (Canis latrans), gray fox (Urocyon cinereoargenteus),
and common ungulates included elk, mule-deer (Odocoileus
hemionus), white-tailed deer (O. virginianus), Rocky Moun-
tain bighorn sheep (Owis canadensis), and exotic barbary
sheep (Ammotragus lervia).

METHODS

Field Sampling and Genetic Analysis
We used hair traps (Woods et al. 1999) and bear rubs
(Kendall et al. 2008) concurrently to sample each black bear
population. We set hair traps and bear rubs across 4 sampling
occasions in the NSC (22 Apr-5 Sep 2012) and SSC (29
Apr-9 Sep 2013) and across 6 sampling occasions in the
Sandias, NSacs, and SSacs (5 May-6 Aug 2014). Because of
logistical constraints, sampling occasions in the NSC and
SSC lasted 4 weeks, whereas sampling occasions for the
Sandias, NSacs, and SSacs were 2 weeks. We distributed a
grid of 5-km x 5-km cells across the landscape with a
randomly determined origin. Within each cell, we set a single
hair trap. We located trap sites based on suspected travel
routes, occurrence of seasonal forage (e.g., newly emergent
green grass and ripe soft and hard mast), and presence of bear
sign (Fig. 2; Figs. S1 and S2, available online in Supporting
Information). A hair trap consisted of a single strand of
barbed wire wrapped around >3 trees at a height of 45 cm,
with a lure pile constructed from woody debris at the center
(Woods et al. 1999). During each sampling occasion in the
NSC and SSC, we randomly selected and applied 1 of 4 non-
consumable lures (cow blood and fish emulsion mixture,
anise oil, fatty acid scent tablet, or skunk tincture and lanolin
mixture) to the lure pile to attract bears. A chi-square test of
independence showed that the 4 lures were not collecting
similar proportions of hair samples (x’3=1616.29,
P <0.001); thus, we discontinued the use of anise oil and
fatty acid scent tablets in the Sandia and Sacramento
Mountains. A sample consisted of all hair caught in one barb.
Bears will also roll around in the lure pile depositing hair. We
used our best judgement to define hair samples in the lure
pile that we believed originated from a single individual. We
deposited each hair sample in a separate paper coin envelope
and incinerated any remaining hair with a propane torch to
prevent false recaptures. We moved hair traps (100m to
2.5 km) each occasion to increase novelty and recapture rates
(Boulanger and McLellan 2001, Boulanger et al. 2004).
Bears rub on a myriad of objects including trees and power
poles (Burst and Pelton 1983, Kendall et al. 2008). We
opportunistically identified and collected hair from bear rubs
along trails used en route to hair traps. We identified bear
rubs using evidence of rubbing behavior such as a smoothed

surface with snagged hair. We attached 3 to 4 short, vertical
strands of barbed wire to the rub object covering the area of
rubbing to collect discrete hair samples (Kendall et al. 2008,
2009; Stetz et al. 2014). We identified rubs at varying time
intervals across sampling occasions, but once established we
monitored them concurrently with nearby hair traps. We
collected hair samples only from the barbed wire to ensure
that the samples collected were from individuals that visited
the rub during the sampling occasion. Hair collection
protocols for bear rubs were identical to hair traps, and we
stored all hair samples in an airtight container on silica
desiccant at room temperature.

We genotyped each hair sample using 8 polymorphic
microsatellite loci (G1D, G10B, G10L, G10M, G10H,
G10J, G10U, MU59; Paetkau et al. 1995, 1998; Taberlet
et al. 1997). We also used the ZFX-ZFY marker to identify
sex (Durnin et al. 2007). We selected specific markers for
individual identification by ensuring that the mean expected
heterozygosity for each marker was between 0.70 and 0.80
(Paetkau 2003, 2004). These markers were determined from
an initial subsample from the NSC population in 2012. All
hair samples were genotyped by Wildlife Genetics Interna-
tional in Nelson, British Columbia, Canada (WGI; Paetkau
2003, Kendall et al. 2009).

Technicians screened samples for suitability before analysis.
First, they eliminated samples that contained insufficient
genetic material for analysis (no root, <1 guard hair, or <5
underfur hairs) or appeared to be from heterospecifics. Next,
they used the ZFX-ZFY marker as a prescreen to remove
low-quality hair samples that were likely to fail during the
multilocus genotyping phase. After the prescreen, techni-
cians amplified the 9-candidate markers for each sample.
They eliminated samples that amplified >3 alleles at 1
marker (indication of a mixed sample) or failed to amplify >3
loci. They reamplified the samples that failed at <3 loci,
resulting in either a full 9-locus genotype or a discarded
sample. They examined pairs of samples that were
mismatched at 1 or 2 markers for evidence of amplification
or human error. Technicians reamplified any mismatched
pair under the assumption that genotyping error may have
created the similarity between the 2 samples (Paetkau 2003).
If 1 or 2 mismatched pairs remained between samples, we
concluded the 2 samples were from separate individuals. We
assigned an individual identification number to each sample
with a unique multilocus genotype based upon the unique
catalogue code from the first sample to identify the
individual’s genotype. Given each study area is not an
isolated population, we calculated the expected and observed
heterozygosity for each mountain range using program
GENEPOP (Raymond and Rousset 1995, Rousset 2008;
www.genepop.curtin.edu.au, accessed 15 Mar 2016).

Density Estimation

We used SECR models (Efford 2004, Borchers and Efford
2008) implemented in the R software package secr (v. 2.9.5
and 2.10.4; Efford 2015, 2016) to estimate 3 parameters in
separate analyses for each study area: density (D), detection
probability of an individual at its activity center (g0), and the
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Figure 2. Primary American black bear habitat identified by Costello et al. (2001) overlaid with hair traps and bear rubs set for the northern (NSC) and

southern (SSC) Sangre de Cristo Mountains, New Mexico, USA, 2012-2013.

spatial scale over which detection probability declines as the
distance between an individual’s activity center to the
detection device increases (o). We used a half-normal
detection function for our observation model and a
homogeneous Poisson distribution as our state model, which
assumes latent activity centers are distributed evenly across
the landscape (Efford et al. 2009). Spatially explicit
capture—recapture also requires a habitat mask. The habitat

mask is the area of integration (i.e., area of interest that
contains all possible latent activity center locations) and
includes all animals with a non-zero probability of detection
(Ivan et al. 2013). Individuals may reside beyond the habitat
mask, but they have a negligible probability of detection
(Borchers and Efford 2008, Royle et al. 2014). We generated
the habitat mask by buffering the sampling detectors in the
NSC, SSC, Sandias, NSacs, and SSacs by 18.75km,
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25.40km, 13.23km, 14.84km, and 11.03 km, respectively,
which we derived from the capture data using the suggest.
buffer function (Efford 2016). Within our habitat mask, we
limited our density estimates to primary habitat as identified
by Costello et al. (2001) for black bears in New Mexico.
Variability in sampling effort may negatively bias density
estimates and reduce the ability to explain variation in
detection probability, so we accounted for variable sampling
effort by using the number of days each sampling detector
was active (Efford et al. 2013).

Predictors of g0 and o included time (t; 4 or 6 sampling
occasions depending on the study area), sex, elevation (elev),
detector type (type; hair trap vs. bear rub), and 5 land cover
categories (cover). We chose time and sex as covariates
because detection probability and movement patterns may
fluctuate over the sampling period and differ between males
and females (Sawaya et al. 2012, Stetz et al. 2014). We
selected elevation and land cover to represent the spatial
heterogeneity of black bear food resources because this
heterogeneity could influence g0 and o depending on food
availability and distribution (Rovang et al. 2015). We did not
include land cover type and elevation in the same model
because a box plot of elevation by land cover type revealed
that these variables were not independent. We then
conducted a 1-way analysis of variance that indicated within
each study area elevation significantly differed among land
cover types (NSC: F,=618.02, P<0.001; SSC:
F,=367.14, P<0.001; Sandias: F;=7.39, P=0.008;
NSacs: F,=278.06, P<0.001; SSacs: F,=582.95,
P<0.001). Within each study area, post hoc pairwise
comparisons of elevation across land cover types were also
significant (Tukey-Kramer test, P<0.01 for all compar-
isons). We extracted elevation for each detector using the
National Elevation Dataset 30-m resolution digital elevation
model (www.nationalmap.gov, accessed 10 May 2015). We
standardized elevation by subtracting the mean from each
observation and dividing by 1 standard deviation (Gelman
and Hill 2007).

We extracted land cover using the Interagency Landfire
Project (Rollins 2009; www.landfire.gov, accessed 10
May 2015) land cover classification at 30-m spatial
resolution. We combined 6 land cover classifications into
5 categories: aspen-conifer, mixed conifer (combination of
Douglas fir and white pine), pifion pine-juniper, ponderosa
pine, and spruce-fir. Variation in the abundance and
distribution of each land cover class across the study areas
resulted in a different number of categories and, conse-
quently, a different number of parameters modeled for each
study area. Aspen-conifer and spruce-fir were included only
in the NSC and SSC. Mixed-conifer was included in all
study areas except the Sandia Mountains. Pifion pine-juniper
and ponderosa pine were included in all study areas. We
visually assessed and assigned the dominant land cover
classification surrounding the location of each detector using
ArcGIS 10.2.1 (Environmental Systems Research Institute
[ESRI], Redlands, CA, USA).

We modeled g0 and o concurrently by fitting a model

where both parameters varied by elevation, land cover, or

time. We also included models that varied by time for g0 and
land cover for o (g0 ~ t, & ~ cover), time for g0 and elevation
for o (g0 ~ t, o ~ elev), land cover for g0 and time for o (g0
~ cover, 0 ~ t), and elevation for g0 and time for o (g0 ~
elev, 0 ~ t). We also constructed models for g0 and o with
time in an additive relationship with each covariate (g0 ~
t -+ covariate, ¢ ~ t- covariate). We included additive
effects because g0 and o are likely to vary because the black
bear mating season occurs during the late-spring and early
summer, when male bears might be expected to move more
than females; because hyperphagic foraging behavior occurs
during early fall, when all bears move more to find food; and
because the distribution of food varies across the period when
bears are active (e.g., grasses green-up in the spring and mast
ripens in the late summer and fall). We also ran each model
with the addition of an animal by site learned response (bk)
for g0 (g0 ~ covariate(s) + bk) because density estimates can
be severely biased when a behavioral response occurs in the
presence of missing data (e.g., hair samples that failed to
amplify a complete genotype; Augustine et al. 2014).
However, we believe we mitigated a behavioral response
by moving hair traps and randomly applying lures between
sampling occasions, and Murphy et al. (2016) reported
negligible bias to SECR-based density estimates in such a
scenario. Thus, our inclusion of the bk parameter was a
precautionary measure.

We modeled density as a function of sex to investigate for
an uneven sex ratio (Tredick and Vaughan 2009, Sun et al.
2017). We did so by selecting the top ranked model from
each study area and comparing that model to another with
the same detection submodel but with density as a function
of sex. We did not use land cover type or elevation as
predictors of density because black bears track the
spatiotemporal variability of food resources resulting in a
fluid use of the landscape (Costello and Sage 1994, Sun et al.
2017). Also, because the New Mexico black bear hunting
season occurs from mid-August to November, the seasonal
distribution of black bears may change from summer to fall.
Consequently, fall harvest regulations based on the variation
in density of black bears across land cover types during the
summer would be inappropriate. This enabled us to estimate
density in a way that would be most conducive to the current
management system employed by the NMDGF, which was a
single density estimate for each study area given the large
extent and heterogeneous landscape encompassed by the
BMZs.

We could not fit 4 models for the NSC because the
computer we used for analysis was unable to allocate enough
memory to initialize all models. The 4 models were when g0
and o were modeled concurrently with elevation (i.e., g0 ~
elev, o ~ elev), concurrently with time and elevation (i.e., g0
~ t+elev, 0 ~ t+elev), and with time and elevation for
different parameters (i.e., either g0 ~ t, o ~ elevor g0 ~ elev,
o ~ t). We also excluded detector type in our model set for
the NSacs because only 1 bear rub was set in the study area.
We used Akaike’s Information Criterion corrected for small
sample size (AIC,) to rank our model sets (Akaike 1973,
Hurvich and Tsai 1989). When the top model received
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<0.90 of the model weight we model averaged the estimates
of the model parameters across all models to account for
model selection uncertainty (Burnham and Anderson 2002).
We assessed the strength of evidence (SOE) for variables in
the top model by calculating the likelihood that the beta
coefficient was not 0 (i.e., evidence ratios for the beta
coefficients):

e { B0) }
£(0) SEB())

where B(1) is the beta coefficient for variable 7 and SE(B(1))
is the standard error of the beta coefficient for variable ¢
(Burnham 2015).

We obtained permits under the Convention on International
Trade in Endangered Species (Export Permits 12US86417A/
9, 13US19950B/9, and 14US43944B/9) to export samples to
Canada for analysis. Our research was authorized by the
NMDGEF (Taking Protected Wildlife for Scientific and or
Education Purposes Permit 3504) and approved by the New
Mexico State University Institutional Animal Care and Use
Committee (Protocol number 2011-027).

RESULTS

Field Sampling and Genetic Analysis
We set 557 hair traps that were open for 57,010 trap days and
we collected 3,825 hair samples. In addition, we identified
and sampled 112 bear rubs, which yielded 258 hair samples
over 7,007 trap days (Fig. 2; Figs. S1 and S2; Table S1).
Sampling effort varied across study areas and was dependent
on the number of detectors set, the length of a sampling
occasion (4 weeks vs. 2 weeks), and accessibility due to
weather and wildfire. The number of hair samples collected
during an occasion increased over the course of the summer
and decreased toward the conclusion of sampling with peak
collection during June and July.

The mean observed heterozygosity was 0.73, 0.73, and
0.68 for the Sangre de Cristo, Sandia, and Sacramento

Mountains, respectively. Of the 4,083 total hair samples
collected, we eliminated 26.08% because of insufficient
genetic material, 1.49% because of heterospecific contami-
nation, and 0.17% because the samples contained DNA from
>1 individual. We generated a full 9-locus genotype from
49.56% of the 2,950 remaining hair samples from which we
identified 726 (368 males: 358 females) individuals
(Table S1). The number of individuals that were mismatched
at 1 or 2 markers was low with only 3 observed 1-mismatched
pairs and 8 observed 2-mismatched pairs across all samples.
Genotyping success varied across study areas (44-61%), but
overall, success rates were lower than the 75% success rate
observed in similar studies (D. Paetkau, Wildlife Genetics
International, personal communication). When we short-
ened the length of the sampling occasion from 4 weeks (NSC
and SSC) to 2 weeks (Sandias, NSacs, and SSacs), the
percentage of successful genotypes increased by only 4%.

Density Estimation

We detected the majority (61-85%) of individuals in each
study area only once with a similar number of repeat
detections for males and females (Table 1). The number of
unique individuals detected during each occasion for the
NSC, NSacs, and SSacs increased over the course of
sampling, peaking mid-summer, and subsequently decreas-
ing toward the end of summer; this pattern was similar to the
number of hair samples collected per sampling occasion. The
number of unique individuals detected increased each
occasion for the Sandias and SSC. Mean maximum recapture
distance for males in a single year of sampling ranged from
4.23 km to 12.46 km with a maximum distance of 52 km by 1
individual in the NSC. Mean maximum recapture distance
for females in a single year of sampling ranged from 0.38 km
to 4.59km with a maximum distance of 47km by 1
individual, also in the NSC (Table 1). Three individuals were
detected in 2 study areas in successive years. We detected 2
males in the NSC in 2012 and then again in the SSC in 2013;
we detected 1 female in the SSC in 2013 and 90 km away in
the Sandia Mountains in 2014.

Table 1. A summary of the capture history data for American black bears identified by hair samples collected across the northern (NSC) and southern (SSC)
Sangre de Cristo, Sandia, and northern (NSacs) and southern (SSacs) Sacramento Mountains, New Mexico, USA, 2012-2014.

Males

N Det® Avg® SD?! Max®* R MMR (km)® MaxD (km)® M Det® Avg® SD?* Max®* Rf MMR (km)® MaxD (km)"

NSC 190 239 126 043 3 33 7.57 52.03
SSC 67 80 119 038 3 8 12.46 29.33
Sandias 9 15 167 046 2 3 8.27 9.84
NSacs 49 74 151 074 5 14 9.22 36.18
SSacs 53 69 130 041 3 10 423 8.02
Total 368 477 139 0.48 5 68 8.35 27.08

Females
189 216 1.14 0.35 3 23 3.98 47.41
64 77 120 0.39 2 12 2.53 20.33
9 14 156 0.73 3 4 0.38 0.69
39 58 149 0.72 3 12 2.47 7.05
57 73 128 0.54 3 11 4.59 14.88
358 438 133 0.55 3 62 2.79 18.07

* Number of animals detected.
> Number of detections across all sampling occasions.

¢ Average number of detections per individual detected across all sampling occasions.

4 Standard deviation for the average number of detections.

¢ Maximum number of detections of a single individual across all sampling occasions.

f Number of recaptured individuals across all sampling occasions.
& Mean maximum recapture distance.
" Maximum distance moved by an individual.
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Table 2. The top a priori spatially explicit capture—recapture models that accounted for the total model weight (w;) for American black bears in the northern
(NSC) and southern (SSC) Sangre de Cristo, Sandia, and northern (NSacs) and southern (SSacs) Sacramento Mountains, New Mexico, USA, 2012-2014,
derived using Akaike’s Information Criterion corrected for small sample size (AIC,). Models were ranked by the difference in AIC, score (AAIC,) between the
top-ranked model and competing models were evaluated using changes in model deviance.

Study area g0 o K AIC, AAIC, w; Deviance®
NSC t+ cover t 4 cover 17 3,149.15 0.00 1.00 3,113.5
SSC t + elev t + elev 11 1,169.98 0.00 0.87 1,145.8
t + cover t + cover 17 1,173.85 3.87 0.13 1,134.4
Sandias sex sex 5 209.23 0.00 0.96 194.23
constant constant 3 216.23 6.99 0.03 208.51
elev elev 5 219.20 9.97 0.01 204.20
NSacs t + cover t + cover 17 868.31 0.00 0.96 825.57
cover t + cover 10 874.86 6.55 0.04 852.01
SSacs cover cover 7 1,168.68 0.00 0.50 1,153.58
t + cover t + cover 17 1,169.62 0.94 0.31 1,128.97
t + elev t + elev 15 1,170.58 1.90 0.19 1,135.47

* Detection probability at the activity center (g0) and the spatial scale over which g0 declines () a function of elevation (elev), sex, time variation (t), or land
cover type (cover); + = additive effect; constant = no variation. Density was held constant for all models listed.

> Number of model parameters.

© Model deviance = —2(log-likelihood).

None of the top models included an animal by site learned
response; however, the parameter structure of the top model
with the addition of bk was the second ranked model in each
study area except for the SSacs, where the behavioral model
was third (Tables S2-S6). Although models that included bk
reduced the deviance and appeared competitive in the model
set, the deviances were nearly identical to the top model, so
the extra parameter failed to substantially improve model fit.
As aresult, the support for bk models was likely a result of an
identical model structure to the well-supported top models
(Arnold 2010). Therefore, we removed all models that
included bk from our model sets, and we report only on the
reduced model sets hereafter.

There was little model selection uncertainty in each study
area except in the SSacs with the top model garnering 50% of
the total model weight (Table 2; Tables S7-S11). Detection
probability (g0) was highest for the Sandias (g0 =0.029 and
0.0017 for females and males, respectively), but overall, g0
was low across all study areas (Table 3). The land cover type
or elevation at which the detector was deployed were helpful
covariates in explaining heterogeneity in both g0 and o for all

study areas except for the Sandias, which included sex as the
only important explanatory variable (Table 2; Tables S7-
S11). Models allowing g0 to vary over time were supported
because g0 was low in early summer, increased as the summer
progressed, and then decreased in late summer except in the
SSC where g0 increased in each occasion. Detection
probability increased as elevation increased in the SSC
with o exhibiting an inverse relationship. The SOE that the
effect of elevation was not 0 was high for both g0 and o
(Table Al). In the Sandias, males showed a lower detection
probability (g0) and higher movement rate (o) than female
black bears, and the SOE that the effect of sex on both
parameters was not O was high (Table Al). The influence of
land cover on g0 and o across the NSC, NSacs, and SSacs
was variable. The most consistent relationship was that g0
was lower and o was higher within the pifion pine-juniper
land cover type with aspen-conifer (NSC) and mixed conifer
(NSacs and SSacs) land cover types as reference categories,
respectively (Table Al). The SOE that the effect of land
cover type was not 0 was high for all parameter-study area
combinations except for o in the NSacs. The effect of the

Table 3. Estimated abundance (]/\\/ ) and density (]5, bears/100 km?), coefficient of variation of the density estimate (CV[E]), detection probability at the
activity center (g0), spatial scale over which detection probability declines (o; km), and their 95% confidence intervals for American black bears in the northern
(NSC) and southern (SSQ) Sangre de Cristo, Sandia, and northern (NSacs) and southern (SSacs) Sacramento Mountains, New Mexico, USA, 2012-2014. We
model averaged N and D for the SSC and SSacs using models with model weights > 0.00 and for the NSacs using the top-ranked model with density held

constant and varying by sex.

Study area® N (95% CI) D (95% CI) cv(D) g0 (95% CI) & (95% CI)

NSC 1,249.5 (1,019-1,532.1) 21.9 (17.8-26.8) 0.10 0.00060 (0.00023-0.0015) 3.31 (2.09-5.25)

SSC 646.8 (444.3-941.6) 19.7 (13.8-28.3) 0.19 0.000018 (0.0000061-0.000052) 18.12 (12.38-26.53)

Sandias 43.3 (22.2-84.2) 25.7 (13.2-50.1) 0.35 0.029°(0.015-0.078) 0.76°(0.49-1.15)
0.0016%(0.00048-0.0055) 4.9952.47-10.10)

NSacs 77.5%(56.2-107.1) 10.0°(7.2-13.9) 0.17 0.0027 (0.00058-0.012) 5.42 (2.03-14.44)

85.8°(62.8-117.3) 11.05(7.8-15.5) 0.18
SSacs 4123 (293.2-579.8) 165 (11.6-23.5) 0.18 0.0032 (0.0011-0.0093) 267 (1.69-4.21)

* Primary bear habitat: NSC =5,716 km?; SSC = 2,944 km?; Sandias = 168 km? NSacs = 776 km?; SSacs = 2,488 km?.

Parameter estimate for female black bears.
¢ Parameter estimate for male black bears.
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ponderosa pine cover type on both g0 and ¢ was negligible
relative to aspen-confer and mixed conifer (Table A1). In the
NSC, spruce-fir and mixed conifer showed a negative
relationship with g0 and a positive relationship with o
relative to aspen-conifer (Table Al).

There was marginal support that density varied by sex in
the NSacs (AAIC,=0.87; w;=0.61 for the top model) and
no support in all other study areas (w;>0.75 for the top
models holding density constant; Table S12). Mean density
estimates varied within and between mountain ranges
(range = 16.6-25.3 bears/100 km?; Table 3) as did estimates
of abundance given the different sizes of the study areas
(range = 43.3-1,249.5 bears; Table 3).

DISCUSSION

By employing NGS with SECR models, we provided density
estimates that will aid in setting harvest limits and serve as a
benchmark for comparison with future research for multiple
black bear populations in New Mexico. Our density
estimates were similar to (SSacs) or higher (NSC, SSC,
Sandias, and NSacs) than the previous estimates used by
NMDGF to manage these populations (Costello et al.
2001). The differences in our estimates of density from those
of Costello et al. (2001) are most likely due to differences in
analytical techniques (the previous method did not account
for imperfect detection) and we speculate due to potential
changes in black bear population dynamics over the past
decade. It should be noted, however, that the 95% confidence
intervals surrounding our estimates typically encompassed
those of Costello et al. (2001).

There is strong evidence that pifion pine-juniper land
cover is associated with lower detection rates and increased
movement rates, whereas an increase in elevation has the
opposite association (Table Al). Like other ursid NGS
studies, estimates of detection probability and movement
rate varied over time and by sex in our study (Kendall et al.
2009, Sawaya et al. 2012, Stetz et al. 2014). For example,
detection probabilities were lower and movement rates were
higher during early and late summer, and males, in general,
had higher movement rates than females. Detection
probabilities also differed between the sexes in the Sandias
(Table 3).

The importance of a temporal effect on g0 and o in the
NSC, SSC, NSacs, and SSacs is likely a result of seasonal
mating and foraging behaviors (Alt et al. 1980, Garshelis and
Pelton 1981, Costello et al. 2003). During the breeding
season, males increase movement rates as they traverse their
home range searching for receptive females (Young and Ruff
1982, Costello 2008, Lewis and Rachlow 2011). In fall, bear
home range size and distance between sequentially recorded
movements increases as bears travel outside their core area to
exploit the spatially and temporally variable oak mast
(Ostfeld et al. 1996, Costello 2008), which is an important
food source that was previously shown to be correlated with
black bear reproductive output in New Mexico (Costello
et al. 2003). These behavioral differences during mating
season and hyperphagia would increase movement rates and
enlarge home range size, thereby reducing g0 while

increasing o because of the compensatory relationship
between the 2 parameters (Efford and Mowat 2014).

The influence of land cover and elevation on g0 and o is
also likely a function of black bears responding to
spatiotemporal changes in food abundance (Costello and
Sage 1994, Mazur et al. 2013, McCall et al. 2013). During
spring, or the pre-mast season, grasses, forbs, and ants
dominate bear diets (den emergence to mid-Jul; Costello
et al. 2001). Diets then shift toward soft mast species such as
berries in the late summer and early fall (56% of scat volume,
mid-Jul to mid-Sep), with fall (mid-Sep through Oct, den
immergence) diets dominated by acorns (87% of scat volume)
and supplemented with juniper berries (Costello et al. 2001,
Guntley 2016). Mid-elevation land cover types (i.e., mixed
conifer) are more likely to contain a higher abundance of
grasses and forbs because of earlier snowmelt compared to
higher elevations and higher levels of precipitation compared
to lower elevations (Zlotin and Parmenter 2008). As snow
melts, the availability of grasses and forbs increases with soft
mast ripening with the arrival of summer rains. Once hard
mast species begin to ripen in late August (Zlotin and
Parmenter 2008), black bears shift their attention toward
land cover types containing those species (Costello and Sage
1994, Onorato et al. 2003). Thus, the availability of grasses
and soft mast at mid- to high- elevations and the scarcity of
food in the low elevation pifion pine-juniper cover type
during summer (Zlotin and Parmenter 2008) may explain
the negative relationship with g0 and the positive relation-
ship with o for pifion pine-juniper and low elevations for all
study areas except the Sandias (Table Al). Black bears are
also predators of elk calves in portions of New Mexico and
they may move toward calving grounds in spring, which are
commonly found at higher elevations (Quintana 2016).

Half of our samples that met our quality threshold failed to
produce a reliable genotype, which reduced the number of
unique individuals identified and the number of recaptures.
The lack of data also likely contributed to the low detection
probabilities and affected our ability to estimate o precisely
(Efford et al. 2004, Sollmann et al. 2012, Sun et al. 2014).
However, simulation has shown that SECR models provide
relatively robust estimates of density under data dilution
scenarios (Mollet et al. 2015). The relatively more precise
NSC density estimate, despite a low g0, may be a result of a
greater number of unique individuals and recaptures, which
provided sufficient data for the model to predict unobserved
movement distances (Table 1; Sollmann et al. 2012, Sun
et al. 2014). Whereas g0 was the highest for the Sandias, the
density estimate was the least precise. This relatively low
level of precision was most likely caused by the few
individuals detected (n=18) and a low number of spatial
recaptures, which may have contributed to poor estimates of
o and an inability to predict unobserved movement distances
(Sollmann et al. 2012). The low sample size and few
recaptures is further evident in the simple structure of the top
models and the high coefficient of variation for the estimate
of density (Tables 2 and 3).

We suspect that for all study areas, intense ultraviolet (UV)
radiation coupled with extended sampling intervals were the
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Figure 3. Mean monthly ultraviolet radiation (UV) index generated by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration showing estimated noontime
intensity of UV radiation coupled with the World Health Organization human health hazard UV index classification for Albuquerque, New Mexico (ABQ);
Atlanta, Georgia (ATL); Buffalo, New York (BUF); Charleston, South Carolina (CHS); Denver, Colorado (DEN); Memphis, Tennessee (MEM);
Milwaukee, Wisconsin (MKE); and Norfolk, Virginia (ORF), USA, 2012 (left) along with a map showing the aforementioned cities and the non-invasive
genetic sampling studies conducted on American black bears in the United States that used a spatially explicit capture-recapture framework (bottom right) and

their elevations (top right).

Table 4. Mean density estimates (D) for American black bears (bears/100 km?), 95% confidence intervals, and the proportion of hair samples successfully
genotyped for noninvasive genetic sampling studies conducted in the United States that used a spatially explicit capture-recapture framework.

Study area State D 95% CI Genotyping success Reference

Ozark Highlands MO 1.70 1.10-2.40 0.70 Wilton et al. 2014°

Carver Bay SC 4.60 2.40-6.70 0.90° Drewry et al. 2013

Picture Rocks National Lakeshore MI 10.56 8.59-12.79 091 Sollmann et al. 2012°
Glacier National Park MT 12.00 10.00-14.40 0.72 Stetz et al. 2014%
Southern Black Bear Range NY 11.20° 1.50-77.80% 0.89 Sun et al. 2017*

Southern Sacramento Mountains NM 16.55 11.64-23.53 0.44 This study

Southern Sangre de Cristo Mountains NM 19.74 13.77-28.30 0.48 This study

Fort Drum Military Installation NY 20.00 15.00-26.00 0.89 Gardner et al. 2010°
Northern Sacramento Mountains NM 20.17 15.35-26.52 0.61 This study

Durango CO 21.00-38.00 16.00-55.00 0.75" Apker et al. 2016

Spanish Peaks CO 21.00-44.00 16.00-57.00 0.73 Apker et al. 2016
Northern Sangre de Cristo Mountains NM 21.86 17.83-26.80 0.49 This study

Central Georgia Population GA 23.20-24.00 15.95-30.45 0.87° Hooker et al. 2015¢
Sandia Mountains NM 25.75 13.22-50.14 0.53 This study
Kentucky-Virginia Border KY, VA 26.00 18.00-37.00 0.45° Murphy et al. 2016
Greenhorn Mountain CO 26.00-33.00 19.00-43.00 0.74° Apker et al. 2016

Piedra CO 32.00-60.00 25.00-82.00 0.72° Apker et al. 2016

Lewis Ocean Bay SC 33.90 22.90-44.80 0.88" Drewry et al. 2013
Alligator River NWR NC 37.00-46.00 30.70-66.00 0.82" Tredick and Vaughan 2009
Great Dismal Swamp NWR NC, VA 46.00 34.60-57.30 0.84 Tredick and Vaughan 2009
Pocosin Lakes NWR NC 58.00-77.00 49.10-88.50 0.85" Tredick and Vaughan 2009

* Genetic analysis not conducted by Wildlife Genetics International.

® Value averaged over multiple sampling years.

© Bayesian-based analysis.

4 Analyzed hair samples were a subset of the total hair samples collected.
¢ Black bear population sympatric with grizzly bears (Ursus arctos).

f Bascline density estimate averaged across all top models.

& 85% confidence interval.
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main factors explaining the poor genotyping success we
observed (Stetz et al. 2015). Ultraviolet radiation causes
DNA degradation by forming dimers between adjacent
pyrimidine bases, instead of those bases binding with their
cross-strand partners, which prevents the DNA polymerase
from progressing past the dimer and results in an incomplete
genotype (Jagger 1985). Factors influencing UV levels
include cloud cover, elevation, latitude, shade, length of
exposure, season, ozone depletion, and atmospheric turbidity
(Piazena 1996, Stetz et al. 2015). For example, UV radiation
increases with decreasing cloud cover, increases with
elevation (9-11% per 1,000 m), and increases with decreasing
latitude (Blumthaler et al. 1997). The UV radiation levels
across much of New Mexico are higher than across most of
the United States and are higher than other regions where
NGS methods have been used to estimate bear abundance
and density (Fig. 3; National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration [NOAA] 2012). Further, we would expect
UV radiation levels to be 1-26% higher in our study areas
compared to those for Albuquerque, New Mexico, where the
NOAA (2012) UV measurement was taken, because our
study areas were at equal or higher elevations. Reducing the
sampling interval should have increased genotyping success;
however, when we reduced our sampling interval from 4 to
2 weeks (which is a common period used by similar NGS
studies in the western United States), we observed only
marginal improvement in genotyping success (4%).

In the SSC, we also lost hair samples because of 2 forest
fires, the Tres Lagunas (4,135 ha) and the Jaroso (4,511 ha).
These fires affected 450 km? (12.7%) of the trapping grid and
prevented us from accessing and checking hair traps located
near the fire, primarily during the second and third sampling
occasions (3—13% of total hair traps; Fig. S3). Moreover,
many of the fire-affected traps were in an area where we
expected higher bear abundance. Anecdotally, these hair
traps consistently yielded more hair samples post-fire than
hair traps located in some areas that were unaffected by the
fires. The limited access also prevented us from identifying
more bear rubs across the SSC, restricting our use of multiple
sampling methods and hindering our ability to minimize the
impacts of capture heterogeneity present with any one survey
method (Boulanger et al. 2008).

Despite UV radiation and sampling difficulties, our density
estimates had levels of precision comparable to those
obtained in other black bear studies conducted across the
United States that used NGS and a SECR estimator
(Table 4). The level of precision we achieved may have been a
consequence of the large extent of our study areas, which may
have allowed us to detect a large proportion of the population
within each mountain range even though we failed to amplify
approximately half of our samples. Our density estimates fell
within the middle range of NGS and SECR-based black
bear density studies (Table 4). Black bear density was highest
on the east coast in pocosin, which is characterized by high
tood production and cover, low human disturbance, and
agricultural food resources mixed throughout (Tredick and
Vaughan 2009, Drewry et al. 2013). Eastern populations

inhabiting pine plantations were at densities comparable to

New Mexico populations likely because pine plantations had
limited food, insufficient cover, and fewer agricultural food
resources as compared to pocosin (Tredick and Vaughan
2009, Drewry et al. 2013, Hooker et al. 2015). Locally, our
estimates are similar to or lower than those in southern
Colorado, USA, and similar to or higher than those in
northern Colorado (Table 4); however, estimates for
southern Colorado fluctuated substantially within each
study area and over multiple years. Populations with
densities lower than ours were expanding their range (Sun
et al. 2017), recolonizing (Wilton et al. 2014), residing in
habitat with low food resources (Drewry et al. 2013), or were
sympatric with grizzly bears (Ursus arctos; Stetz et al. 2014).

We provided updated density estimates for an important
game species in New Mexico. Our estimates add to a
growing number of studies that have used NGS coupled
with SECR models to estimate the density of black bear
populations across the United States. Our data suggest that
the detection probability of black bears is likely influenced
by the abundance and distribution of food resources on the
landscape, which in turn, may be influenced by land cover
type and elevation. Furthermore, UV radiation levels in
New Mexico appear to be higher than elsewhere in the
contiguous United States and are also most likely
responsible for our low rate of genotyping success, a rate
comparable to those in the high Arctic of North America
(Dumond et al. 2015).

MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

Our estimates of density will assist the New Mexico
Department of Game and Fish in setting sustainable harvest
limits for multiple populations of black bears in New Mexico.
We suggest that researchers using hair samples to monitor
wildlife populations incorporate a pilot study to evaluate the
effects of UV degradation, among other factors, on
genotyping success. To help reduce UV exposure, researchers
could set detectors in more shaded areas (e.g., north facing
slopes), set fewer detectors so that they can be checked more
frequently, or increase the number of personnel used to check
detectors. We believe more personnel is preferable to fewer
detectors because it allows for a larger study area, a denser
trapping array, or alternative trapping configurations to be
sampled. A larger study area will help mitigate the effects
that seasonal movement patterns can have on parameter
estimates, particularly in areas with highly variable food
resources, and provide density estimates at the spatial scale at
which many agencies make management decisions.
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APPENDIX A. Relationship and effect of covariates on spatially explicit capture-recapture
model parameters.

Table Al. The beta coefficient (Beta), standard error (SE), and lower (LCL) and upper (UCL) 95% confidence intervals for covariate variables from the top
ranked spatially explicit capture—recapture model for American black bears in the northern (NSC) and southern (SSC) Sangre de Cristo, Sandia, and northern
(NSacs) and southern (SSacs) Sacramento Mountains, New Mexico, USA, 2012-2014. Included is the strength of evidence (SOE) of the likelihood that the
beta coefficient is not 0 where larger values indicate a greater SOE that the effect of the variable is not 0. The reference categories for land cover type were aspen-
conifer (NSC) and mixed-conifer (NSacs and SSacs), and the reference category for sex (Sandias) was female. Model parameters include detection probability at
the activity center (g0) and the spatial scale over which g0 declines (o).

Variable Parameter Study area Beta SE LCL UCL SOE
Elevation 20 SSC 1.57 0.25 1.08 2.07 273,870,708.14
Elevation o SSC —0.62 0.12 —0.84 —0.39 1,570,914.27
Sex 20 Sandias —-2.92 0.80 —4.49 —-1.36 824.02
Sex o Sandias 1.89 0.42 1.07 2.71 26,688.19
Pifion pine-juniper 20 NSC -3.07 0.48 —4.02 —-2.12 564,259,121.57
Pifion pine-juniper g0 NSacs —2.55 0.71 -3.93 -1.16 669.32
Pinon pine-juniper g0 SSacs —2.38 0.52 —3.40 -1.36 33,281.84
Pinon pine-juniper o NSC 1.33 0.24 0.87 1.79 8,592,700.16
Pifion pine-juniper o NSacs —0.04 0.38 —0.80 0.71 1.01
Pifon pine-juniper o SSacs 0.72 0.25 0.23 121 63.55
Ponderosa g0 NSC —0.59 0.49 —1.56 0.37 2.06
Ponderosa 20 NSacs 0.15 0.33 —0.50 0.79 1.11
Ponderosa g0 SSacs 0.39 0.52 —0.63 1.41 1.32
Ponderosa o NSC 0.05 0.23 —0.40 0.50 1.03
Ponderosa o NSacs —0.24 0.19 —0.62 0.14 2.19
Ponderosa o SSacs —0.39 0.24 —0.86 0.09 3.54
Mixed-conifer 20 NSC —1.84 0.44 —2.71 -0.97 5,363.23
Mixed-conifer o NSC 0.94 0.21 0.52 1.35 16,038.76
Spruce-fir 20 NSC -2.09 0.53 —3.13 —1.04 2,140.41
Spruce-fir o NSC 1.21 0.26 0.70 1.71 56,102.60
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On Aug 30, 2019, at 7:23 AM, Soules, David, DGF <David.Soules@state.nm.us> wrote:

Dear Ms. Thompson:

Thank you for your input. | fully agree that our bear management should focus on
sows and ensure that we have an appropriate distribution. However, | cannot
agree that "all of the evidence" shows that fewer sows are reaching reproductive
age. In fact, in 2018, the average age of sows taken in six of the bear
management zones was over eight years. In most prior years fewer than six of
the bear management zones had an average age of sows taken over eight years of
age. That single statistic is not enough to make broad statements about the age
of our bear population, but it does suggest in some areas the average sow age has
actually been increasing.

The best news is that the Game department recently did a very extensive bear
study throughout much of the state, and that information will continue to inform
our approach to bear management.

Again, thank you for your input and concern.

Best regards,
David

From: kristin thompson

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 12:01 PM
To: Soules, David, DGF
Subject: [EXT] NM Bear Sows

Dear Mr. Soules, Please consider lowering the limit of sows to be killed, including
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
Albugquerqgue

Sent from Mail for Windows 10


mailto:David.Soules@state.nm.us
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/LI9rC2koZnukByKTnFOYe?domain=eur04.safelinks.protection.outlook.com

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: NM Bear Sows
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:45:13 AM

From: krstin thompson

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 11:55 AM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] NM Bear Sows

Dear Mr. Bates, Please consider lowering the limit of sows to be killed, including predation, to
around 100. All the evidence shows that fewer sows are reaching the age where they can reproduce
— this will seriously limit the diversity and eventually spell disaster for the NM bear population. This
enchanted state deserves better than that. Thank you for your consideration, Kristin Thompson,
Albuquerque

Sent from Mail for Windows 10


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/rWplCyPDN1IrZk0iZAyJ8?domain=go.microsoft.com

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: FW: NM Bear Sows
Date: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 11:46:37 AM

Stewart Liley, Chief
Wildlife Management Division
New Mexico Game and Fish
One Wildlife Way

Santa Fe, NM 87507

Ph: 505-476-8038
stewart.liley@state.nm.us

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

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 12:04 PM
To: Liley, Stewart, DGF

Subject: Fw: NM Bear Sows

From: st thompson [

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2019 11:54 AM
To: Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF
Subject: [EXT] NM Bear Sows

Dear Ms. Salazar-Henry, Please consider lowering the limit of sows to be killed, including predation,
to around 100. All the evidence shows that fewer sows are reaching the age where they can
reproduce — this will seriously limit the diversity and eventually spell disaster for the NM bear
population. This enchanted state deserves better than that. Thank you for your consideration,
Kristin Thompson, Albuquerque

Sent from Mail for Windows 10
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From: Liley, Stewart, DGF

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: FW: NMF&LB Position on Bear and Cougar Rule
Date: Tuesday, September 10, 2019 11:48:24 AM
Attachments: NMF&LB Position on Bear and Couaar Rule.pdf

image002.png

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

Sent: Thursday, August 15, 2019 8:34 PM

To: Liley, Stewart, DGF

Subject: Fwd: NMF&LB Position on Bear and Cougar Rule

FYH.

Roberta

———————— Original Message --------
Subject: NMF&LB Position on Bear and Cougar Rule

From: Tanner Andersor |

Sent: Thursday, August 15, 2019, 6:02 PM
To: "Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF" <R.Salazar-Henry@state.nm.us>,DAVID SOULES

CC:

Good Evening,

Attached are written comments from the New Mexico Farm & Livestock Bureau in regard to the
Bear and Cougar rule. Please give me a call if you have any questions or concerns.

Thank you,


mailto:Stewart.Liley@state.nm.us
mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us
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'. NEW MEXICO FARM & LIVESTOCK BUREAU
®

2220 N. Telshor Blvd ¢ Las Cruces, New Mexico 88011 « (575) 532-4700 « Fax (575) 532-4710

New Mexico Department of Game & Fish
1 Wildlife Way
Santa Fe, NM 87507

August 15, 2019
Re: 2019 Bear and Cougar Rule Development

New Mexico Farm & Livestock Bureau (NMF&LB) submit these comments on behalf of our 19,000
member-families. NMF&LB is New Mexico’s largest agriculture organization, representing
members involved in all aspects of agriculture from dairy, livestock, fruits and vegetables. Our
mission is to promote and protect agriculture in the great State of New Mexico. We are charged
with the important task of representing our members’ interests when it comes to impeding
regulations.

NMF&LB does not support the removal of sport trapping from the current rule. Sport trapping
provides many benefits for New Mexico farmers and ranchers. Mountain lions are large predators
that can devastate livestock very quickly. Sport trapping is a valuable tool used to keep those
predators from harming livestock and humans. Removing sport trapping can also have a negative
economic impact for farmers and ranchers as hunts contribute to their operational revenue.

Additionally, NMF&LB would appreciate the department’s consideration in taking steps to reduce
the number of bear and lion by increasing license permits and extending hunting dates for both
species. Many of our farmers and ranchers are being overrun by these predators causing them
to lose thousands of dollars from livestock losses every year.

The New Mexico Farm & Livestock Bureau appreciates the opportunity to share the concerns of
our organization. We must work together to find a balance between wildlife and livestock. We
respectfully request that these comments and the concerns of farmers and ranchers affected by
these predators be taken into consideration as the Bear and Cougar rule is revisited.

Respectfully submitted,
Tanner Anderson

Regional Director
NM Farm & Livestock Bureau










Tanner Anderson

[ MEW MEXICD
VD . Firi 5 LIVESTOCK BUREAY



From: E—

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: opinion
Date: Tuesday, August 13, 2019 3:27:06 PM

----- Forwarded Message -----
From: Dorothy Noe
To: DGF-Bear-ougar-Rules@state.nm.us <DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us>
Sent: Tuesday, August 13, 2019, 3:03:01 PM MDT

Subject: opinion

| am another New Mexico resident (Placitas) who is concerned about the viability of
the state's large wildlife.

Please consider the following:

1. Eliminate ALL recreational cougar trapping on both state and private trust
land.

2. Reduce annual cougar kill limits as a viable gene pool is necessary for the
animal's survival.Undo the double bag limits for cougars unless there is a
proven danger to human of livestock.

3. Reduce annual bear kill limits as the population is difficult to count and
needs a diverse gene pool for survival.

4. Unless there is a threat to human of livestock, the cougar kill limit should
be no more than two.

Thank you,

Dorothy Noe


mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Opposition to proposal from NMGF to ban lion trapping in NM
Date: Thursday, August 29, 2019 7:58:44 AM

From: jayson grove

Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2019 10:51 AM

To: Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez,
Tirzio, DGF; Soules, David, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF; jayson grover

Subject: [EXT] Opposition to proposal from NMGF to ban lion trapping in NM

Good Morning NM State Game Commission,

| recently listened in (via webcast) to one of your public meetings. | was a bit un-impressed
with the logic the NM Dept. of Game and Fish gave for proposing to remove trapping as a
means of legal take of mountain lions. The logic and reasoning given in the meeting |
witnessed was that only a few people participate in it. | saw no scientific reasons to justify the
change. | do not trap lions myself, but believe that others should be able to do so if needed.
Please consider the following points as you consider this proposed rule change.

e |ion Trapping has not negatively affected the population

e During public meeting NMGF stated Lion Trapping does not threaten public health or
safety

e According to NMGF statistics, Lion numbers continue to rise yet harvest rates have not
met the take limit.

e Lion trapping was only recently made legal (I believe since 2016). Few in the state
currently have the knowledge to attempt it but there are many wanting to and
beginning to learn. Participation will continue to increase with time, but remember too
that lions are one of the hardest animals to successfully trap, and to do so takes a
considerable amount of time and effort. | am confident that there is currently quite a
bit of participation thought the harvest numbers may not suggest it yet. Our local
sportsmen and women are still learning how to best go about it.

e Eliminating Lion trapping will further burden the NMGF department budget by requiring
the department to contract with private individuals at an inflated rate for the removal of
problematic Lions.

e With department statistics showing Lion numbers on the rise it would be irresponsible
for NMGF to eliminate a method of harvest. This will potentially cause a negative
impact to our wild ungulate herds as well as be a financial hardship to the department.

e Try to understand the motivations behind lion trapping. There is little to no value in
their fur so | assure you it is not economics. Those | know who do try to trap lions
do so to reduce livestock depredation and/or pressure on wild ungulate populations in
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areas of high lion density. Some are motivated by the extreme challenge and the
opportunity to connect with the natural world in a way that cannot be understood by
someone who has never participated in the activity themselves.

e Bending to social pressure will only encourage for additional pressures to go against
scientific biology and factual statistics.

| would also like to encourage and respectfully ask you to focus on the following:

e Encourage NMGF to educate the public regarding trapping and all other forms of
harvesting animals and its important contribution to the ecosystem.

e Improve the Trapping FACTS, information on the NMGF website to improve public
perception and combat the falsehoods spread by media as a result of one sided
reporting.

e Improve public understanding of the value of the North American Wildlife Management
Model.

Thank you for your time and consideration,

Jayson L. Grover, P.E.



From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Proposed changes to Bear and cougar rules
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:30:38 AM

Please see discussion below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Saturday, September 28, 2019 4:47 PM

To: cal jaeger

Subject: Re: Proposed changes to Bear and cougar rules

Mr. Jaeger:

The most recent data for New Mexico indicates that the average age for a sow to have her
first cubs is less than five years of age. The New Mexico Game and Fish department has also
initiated, and continues to utilize, a highly effective means of gathering population density
information on bears in New Mexico. While that information in incomplete, and there are
plans to repeat the study in areas that were previously monitored, the study does not support
an arbitrary sow limit of 100 statewide.

| appreciate your input.

David Soules

From: cal jacce: |

Sent: Sunday, September 22, 2019 2:41 PM

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Cc: Prukop, Joanna, DGF; Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF; Bates, Jimmy, DGF; Cramer, Gail, DGF; Lopez,
Tirzio, DGF; Soules, David, DGF; Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF

Subject: [EXT] Proposed changes to Bear and cougar rules

| hope that the members of the NMGFD/NMGFC will adopt a reasonable, conservative bear
management program. Bears in New Mexico are one of the most vulnerable species in the state
because of their low reproductive rates. | am asking you to review the current bear sow hunt limit

and adjust the current number to a lower number.

The current sow limit is 318 for the next four years yet the harvest average for the last four years is
180. The average age of sows being killed is 6.5 years and in New Mexico sows normally have their
first cub at 5.7 years. For a healthy bear population to survive in New Mexico, | propose that no
more than 100 sows (including depredation) be killed statewide in future harvests until harvested
sow ages show that they are rebounding to viable age ranges.

| was not aware until | read a letter to the editor (Abg Journal, 17 Sep 2019) from Craig McClure
(Black Bear Bureau) that New Mexico allowed killing of bear cubs that are 1 year old or less. Also |
did not realize that hunters were allowed to use dogs to hunt down and trap the bears or cougars
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and then use telemetry to locate and shoot them like they were in a carnival arcade. This is hunting
?? No, this blood sport and something that | believe most New Mexicans would not support. | urge
you to prohibit the killing of bear cubs and the use of dogs to hunt bears or cougars.

Cal Jaeger




From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: reducing the hunt limit for black bear sows
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:59:58 AM

From: cal jcce: | N

Sent: Sunday, September 15, 2019 4:20 PM
To: Bates, Jimmy, DGF
Subject: [EXT] reducing the hunt limit for black bear sows

Commissioner Jimmy Bates

My wife and | have lived in New Mexico for almost 40 years. We particularly love the diverse
wildlife. | hope that you and the members of the NMSGC will adopt a reasonable, conservative bear
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
first cub at 5.7 years. For a healthy bear population to survive in New Mexico, | proposed that no
more than 100 sows (including depredation) be killed statewide in future harvests until harvested
sow ages show that they are rebounding to viable age ranges.

Thank you for your service to New Mexico by serving on the NMSGC. | know you are a hunter and
fisherman so | am sure you understand the importance of maintaining the proper balance between
current animal populations and hunting limits.

Best Regards,

BG Cal Jaeger || R



mailto:DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us

From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Reducing the hunt limit for black bear sows
Date: Monday, September 16, 2019 2:56:59 PM

From: cal jacce

Sent: Sunday, September 15, 2019 4:26 PM
To: Lopez, Tirzio, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Reducing the hunt limit for black bear sows

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
fisherman and have considerable knowledge of NM lands and wildlife so | am sure you understand
the importance of maintaining the proper balance between current animal populations and hunting
limits.

Best Regards,
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From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Subject: Reducing hunt limit for black bear sows
Date: Friday, September 20, 2019 12:56:26 PM

From: Judy JAEGER ||

Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 3:09 PM
To: Lopez, Tirzio, DGF
Subject: [EXT] Subject: Reducing hunt limit for black bear sows

Subject: Reducing hunt limit for black bear sows

My wife and | have lived in New Mexico for almost 40 years. We particularly love the diverse
wildlife. I hope that you and the members of the NMSGC will adopt a reasonable, conservative bear
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
first cub at 5.7 years. For a healthy bear population to survive in New Mexico, | am asking that no
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
Judy Jaeger
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From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Subject: Reducing hunt limit for black bear sows
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 5:49:25 AM

From: Judy JAEGER ||

Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 3:06 PM
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
Date: Friday, October 11, 2019 6:29:13 AM

Please see discussion below.

From: Soules, David, DGF

Sent: Monday, September 30, 2019 8:51 PM

To: Judy JAEGER

Subject: Re: Subject: Reducing hunt limit for black bear sows

Hello Judy:

| have lived in NM for over 55 years, and | too love our wildlife and public lands. As a new
commissioner, | have learned a great deal about bear populations and bear management in
NM in the last several months. While our means of estimating bear population numbers is
imperfect, | am convinced that NM is doing an admirable job of obtaining scientifically sound
estimates of bear populations, and is following a conservative means of establishing harvest
limits. Of note, the department has informed me that their most recent data indicates that
the average age when sows first produce cubs in NM is less than five years of age. | know that
is different than the data from previous studies, but as you note, it is important. | would also
like to point out that | have received numerous emails requesting a limit of 100 sows, but no
one has provided a scientific basis for that number. | believe the current recommendations
for NM bear harvest is using best available science and it is one of the most progressive
approaches in the United States for monitoring and managing our bear populations.

Thank you very much for your input and for your concern and efforts to look out for the
well being of our wildlife. | truly appreciate your involvement.

Best regards,
David Soules

From: Judy JAEGER [

Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 3:11 PM
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

Thank you for your service to New Mexico by serving on the NMSGC. | am sure your considerable
experience in wildlife conservation is invaluable to the commission and you understand the
importance of maintaining the proper balance between current animal populations and hunting
limits.

Best Regards,
Judy Jaeger



From: I

To: DGE-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fw: Subject: Reducing hunt limit for black bear sows
Date: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 4:32:38 PM

From: Judy JAEGER ||

Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2019 3:02 PM
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

Thank you for your service to New Mexico by serving on the NMSGC.

Best Regards,
Judy Jaeger
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: FW: What is the Departments position regarding the NM Game Commissions proposed rule change on the
trapping of mountain lions?

Date: Monday, August 12, 2019 3:47:53 PM

From: jayson grover

Sent: Monday, August 12, 2019 8:55 AM

To: ISPA, DGF

Subject: What is the Departments position regarding the NM Game Commissions proposed rule change
on the trapping of mountain lions?

Good morning NM Game and Fish Department.

Please advise as to your Departments position regarding the NM Game Commissions

proposed rule change regarding the trapping of mountain lions.

[ am not a lion trapper, but am an avid outdoorsmen. There is no scientific reason to ban
trapping of cougars, especially when trapping helps mitigate the loss to livestock and
contributes to sound wildlife management practices and is support y science. |
hope the commission will vote against this rule. Trapping plays an important role in

wildlife management.

Although trapping does not represent a large proportion of cougars taken, the state has
been unable to meet harvest targets in many years. Cougars are increasingly involved
in clangerous interactions with pets and even people, and are a natural predator for
many wildlife species, including wild sheep, elk and mule deer; which makes the

decision to ban trapping highly questionable.

New Mexico's political leadership is clearly targeting public-land hunters and
trappers.

Accorcling to the New Mexico Department of Game (5~ Fish (NMDGF), there are
between 5,000 and 4,000 cougars in the state. Cougar harvest numbers, which are set
by the New Mexico State Game Commission, have not reached state maximum
thresholds since 2016. As a result, cougar numbers continue to increase and are

]aecoming a greater threat to people, pets, livestock and populations of prey species.

In 2019, the United States Department of Agriculture found that cougars were the
third largest threat to cattle in New Mexico. Banning trapping on private and public
lands will likelg increase livestock depredation ]DLJ cougars because New Mexico

ranchers often use state trust lands for grazing,

DO NOT PUT POLTICS ABOVE SCIENCE
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Thank you,

J ayson L GYOV@Y, PE



From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fwd: [EXT] Bear and Lion rule - letter from David L. Heft
Date: Wednesday, October 02, 2019 7:27:32 AM
Attachments: DOC100219-10022019071230.pdf

ATTO00001.htm

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Bates, Jimmy"
Date: October 2, 2019 at 7:24:40 AM MDT
To:
Subject: [EXT] Bear and Lion rule - letter from David L. Heft

Sent: Wednesday, October 2, 2019 7:13 AM
To: Bates, Jimmy
Subject: Send data from MFP07476513 10/02/2019 07:12

Scanned from MFP07476513
Date:10/02/2019 07:12
Pages:2

Resolution:200x200 DPI
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September 6, 2019

From: David L. Heft
PO. Box 13
Mayhill, New Mexico 88339

To: Jimmy Bates
New Mexico State Game Commission
PO. Box 25112
Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504

Re: Lion Rule

Dear Commissioner Bates,

I would like to comment on the proposed lion rule as currently presented by the Department on it's
website. I would first like to comment on an error in the quota for Region Q which is the region I live
in. The Department says there is no change proposed for this region but shows a proposed quota of 34
when the current quota is 35. The presentation before the commission showed the number remaining at
35 but the website proposal shows 34. A minor error but I presented the Department with copies of
their own website showing another error between the website numbers and presentation numbers which
they have now corrected. One thing T would like to point out before I make specific comments is that
under the proposal and if the 10% closure limits are retained is that a maximum of only 15% of the
state lion population is allocated for harvest by licensed hunters and trappers. The remaining 85% is
essentially allocated to so called “non-consumptive” users already.

I am firmly opposed to the proposal to eliminate trapping as a legal harvest method for lion take. The
numbers of lions taken by this method are low because it is not being used for “sport” trapping but is
being used for livestock depredation prevention, native ungulate enhancement and human safety
concerns. Trapping of lions is hard, time intensive work requiring a great deal of knowledge and
expertise. Dog use is the prevalent method of harvest where snow is available because it is much easier
to drive roads and turn dogs out on a track than to try to trap a lion. Trapping is also used almost
exclusively by residents and not by non-residents contracted with the commercial hunting industry.
Eliminating it just discriminates against residents and will shift more harvest to non-resident hunters
which has been an on-going issue with the Department for years now. There is no biological
justification or science behind this proposal as stated by the Department at the public meetings.

The Department also continues to hire contractors to trap and remove lions over significant areas in the
southern portion of the state for bighorn sheep management. The last figures I saw from the
Department gave an average cost of $5,100.00 per lion for this activity. I personally know one
contractor who doesn't want any private license holders to take lions by hunting or trapping because
those are “his lions” that the Department will pay him to remove. The Department currently spends
over a million dollars a year on depredation and nuisance abatement. It seems to defy all common
logic to add to that burden when New Mexico residents are willing to purchase multiple licenses and
and provide the service at no cost to the state. My recommendation would be that rather than
eliminating this tool statewide that the commission retain it in lion zones G, H, K, L, and Q where the
Department is currently using contractors for lion removal. This is a more targeted biologically
justified management proposal and also removes the primary Mexican wolf zone from the area. The
Department has mentioned on-going lawsuits but has also admitted in public meetings that eliminating
lion trapping by private licensees will not make any lawsuit go away. This is not a valid reason to





propose this action.

I am also opposed to the elimination of the issuance of additional tags because again this discriminates
against resident hunters/trappers and is not biologically supported or based on science. The current
requirement that a zone not have met the quota for 2 of the previous 3 years ensures that the resource is
equitably spread among license holders.

I would also like to comment as a hunter/trapper/biologist on 2 other items. I do not support a year
round lion season. I have watched numerous changes over the last 40+ years in lion management in the
state. Although I have seen this species population explode in my life time I believe we need to use the
best available science to manage it in an integrated manner with the needs of other species while
maintaining a viable lion population. Currently 95% of the lion harvest occurs from October through
March. The 10 year San Andres study found that although lion births occurred year round that 41%
occurred from July-September. 1 also feel that although so called “social science” should always be
subordinate to actual biological science it needs to be considered and a year round season sends a
message to the public that any such species is some how less deserving and of lower status. 1 would
propose that we have an October through March season on lions. This would help potentially increase
the protection of females with young kittens that may be away from them foraging. It also is more
science based than proposals of tag reductions and eliminating legitimate harvest tools.

The last item I would comment on is my firm opposition to the Department's use of and authorizing of
over-size large foothold traps in excess of fur harvest trap limits when doing research or issuing
depredation permits for lion control on public lands. I have trained dozens of NMGF field officers over
the years in the use of foot snares for lion take. This tool properly used is far more effective, humane,
and presents less public conflict issues than oversize steel traps. The 10 year San Andres study also
found this to be true as stated in the study particularly in impacts to non-target species. Foot snares can
be rigged to prevent non-target capture and even self release in ways a steel trap cannot. I have heard
the arguments from both Department personnel and their contractors for trap use and with 52 years of
trapping experience I haven't heard anything to change my mind. Please use a little more over sight on
some of the Department's activities as I know for a fact this action has resulted in multiple conflicts
with public land users in the southwestern portion of the state. The result has been a call for increased
restrictions on private fur trappers rather than addressing the issue of another government agency
considering itself immune from the law and regulations.

Thank you,

/%'W;/Z / %{ﬁ;—
David L. Heft
Certified Wildlife Biologist










From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules
Subject: Fwd: [EXT] Bear Quotas and Cougar Trapping Ban
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 3:24:35 PM

Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone

-------- Original message --------
From: Adam Sapp
Date: 9/17/19 10:40 PM (GMT-07:00)
To: "Soules, David, DGF" <David.Soules@state.nm.us>, "Cramer, Gail, DGF"
<@Gail.Cramer@state.nm.us>, "Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF" <Jeremy.Vesbach@state.nm.us>,
"Bates, Jimmy, DGF" <Jimmy.Bates@state.nm.us>, "Prukop, Joanna, DGF"
<Joanna.Prukop@state.nm.us>, "Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF" <R.Salazar-
Henry@state.nm.us>, "Lopez, Tirzio, DGF" <Tirzio.Lopez@state.nm.us>

Subject: [EXT] Bear Quotas and Cougar Trapping Ban

Ladies and Gentlemen of the State Game Commission,

I’d like to start by thanking you for your service in protecting and managing the wildlife and
wild places of New Mexico on behalf of its residents, and continuing to support sustainable
and ethical use of its wildlife resources.

Now to the point.

First, I would like to express my opposition to the proposed ban on cougar trapping, as I feel it
is not motivated from a scientific basis or management scheme, but instead motivated by a
short sighted emotional argument that fails to maturely address the issue of cougar
management as a part of wildlife management as a whole. The only purpose that I can see for
this ban is to chip at the rights of NM hunters and trappers for the sake of political
correctness?

Second I would like to express my opposition to a similar proposal from the New Mexico
Bear Watch group members to lower the Sow mortality quota based on their distrust of the
science based management plan put forth by the game and fish department regarding black
bears. As a bear hunter I count on this hunt as an ethical source of food for me my family,
especially in years when I’'m not fortunate enough to draw, or harvest other big game. |
support reasonable harvest quotas based on sound scientific population estimation techniques -
not based on the emotional burden of people who either don’t understand where food comes
from or think they are justified in enforcing their values on others.

Thank you for your time and your consideration of my concerns.

Sincerely,
Adam Sapp
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From: I

To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules

Subject: Fwd: [EXT] Black bear comments from the Humane Society of the United States
Date: Friday, September 13, 2019 5:10:07 PM

Attachments: HSUS-NMDGF-BB-Requlations-9-13-2019-Final.pdf

Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone

-------- Original message --------

From: Wendy Keefover

Date: 9/13/19 3:37 PM (GMT-07:00)

To: "Lopez, Tirzio, DGF" <Tirzio.Lopez@state.nm.us>

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
Subject: Fwd: [EXT] Lion Trapping
Date: Wednesday, September 18, 2019 3:23:58 PM

Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone

-------- Original message --------
From: shelly thedford
Date: 9/18/19 1:34 PM (GMT-07:00
To: David Soules , "Lopez, Tirzio, DGF"
<Tirzio.Lopez@state.nm.us>, "Vesbach, Jeremy, DGF" <Jeremy.Vesbach@state.nm.us>,
"R.Salizar-Henry" <r.salizar-henry@state.nm.us>, "Prukop, Joanna, DGF"
<Joanna.Prukop@state.nm.us>, "Bates, Jimmy, DGF" <Jimmy.Bates@state.nm.us>, "Cramer,
Gail, DGF" <Gail.Cramer@state.nm.us>

Subject: [EXT] Lion Trapping

As a New Mexico Trapper I am offended by the very laxed use of the word recreational
trapping. [ don’t trap as just a little thing to do. I trap to help my rancher protect his livestock.
You are making it where my rancher can’t call me to take a lion off his property. I have to tell
him how sorry I am, but I will need to release this lion and you will have to call an already
over loaded game and fish officer to take care of this, so let’s just watch this lion continue take
your cattle down until someone can get hear. The facts that you are missing, and mind you it’s
very important. As a trapper [ purchase a lion tag to trap...and hear it is, the facts, read
carefully!! #1 I purchase the tag. #2 I can only take 2 lion per trapping season. Not 30, not 15,
not 45. 2!! #3 I can only take them on private and State Trust Land. I don’t have access to all
public land to use my lion tags like houndsman or hunter. #4 I can only trap from November
to March.

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
Subject: Fwd: [EXT] Proposed changes to Bear and cougar rules
Date: Monday, September 23, 2019 1:16:18 PM

Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone

-------- Original message --------
From: cal jaeger
Date: 9/22/19 2:41 PM (GMT-07:00)
To: DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules <DGF-Bear-Cougar-Rules@state.nm.us>

Cc: "Prukop, Joanna, DGF" <Joanna.Prukop@state.nm.us>, "Salazar-Henry, Roberta, DGF"
<R.Salazar-Henry(@state.nm.us>, "Bates, Jimmy, DGF" <Jimmy.Bates@state.nm.us>,
"Cramer, Gail, DGF" <Gail.Cramer@state.nm.us>, "Lopez, Tirzio, DGF"
<Tirzio.Lopez@state.nm.us>, "Soules, David, DGF" <David.Soules@state.nm.us>, "Vesbach,
Jeremy, DGF" <Jeremy.Vesbach@state.nm.us>

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

| was not aware until | read a letter to the editor (Abqg Journal, 17 Sep 2019) from Craig McClure
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
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